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Chapter 1 

Vatican City 

Vatican City officially the Vatican City State (Italian: Stato 

della Città del Vaticano; Latin: Status Civitatis Vaticanae), is 

an independent city state and enclave located within Rome, 

Italy. The Vatican City State, also known simply as the 

Vatican, became independent from Italy with the Lateran 

Treaty (1929), and it is a distinct territory under "full 

ownership, exclusive dominion, and sovereign authority and 

jurisdiction" of the Holy See, itself a sovereign entity of 

international law, which maintains the city state's temporal, 

diplomatic, and spiritual independence.  

With an area of 49 hectares (121 acres) and a population of 

about 825, it is the smallest state in the world by both area 

and population. As governed by the Holy See, the Vatican City 

State is an ecclesiastical or sacerdotal-monarchical state (a 

type of theocracy) ruled by the pope who is the bishop of Rome 

and head of the Catholic Church.  

The highest state functionaries are all Catholic clergy of 

various national origins. After the Avignon Papacy (1309–

1437), the popes have mainly resided at the Apostolic Palace 

within what is now Vatican City, although at times residing 

instead in the Quirinal Palace in Rome or elsewhere. The Holy 

See dates back to Early Christianity and is the principal 
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episcopal see of the Catholic Church, which has approximately 

1.329 billion baptised Catholic Christians in the world as of 

2018 in the Latin Church and 23 Eastern Catholic Churches.  

The independent state of Vatican City, on the other hand, came 

into existence on 11 February 1929 by the Lateran Treaty 

between the Holy See and Italy, which spoke of it as a new 

creation, not as a vestige of the much larger Papal States (756–

1870), which had previously encompassed much of central 

Italy.  

Within the Vatican City are religious and cultural sites such as 

St. Peter's Basilica, the Sistine Chapel, and the Vatican 

Museums. They feature some of the world's most famous 

paintings and sculptures. The unique economy of Vatican City 

is supported financially by donations from the faithful, by the 

sale of postage stamps and souvenirs, fees for admission to 

museums, and sales of publications.  

Name 

The name Vatican City was first used in the Lateran Treaty, 

signed on 11 February 1929, which established the modern 

city-state named after Vatican Hill, the geographic location of 

the state. "Vatican" is derived from the name of an Etruscan 

settlement, Vatica or Vaticum located in the general area the 

Romans called Ager Vaticanus, "Vatican territory".  
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The official Italian name of the city is Città del Vaticano or, 

more formally, Stato della Città del Vaticano, meaning "Vatican 

City State". Although the Holy See (which is distinct from the 

Vatican City) and the Catholic Church use Ecclesiastical Latin 

in official documents, the Vatican City uses Italian. The Latin 

name is Status Civitatis Vaticanae; this is used in official 

documents by the Holy See, the Church and the Pope.  

History 

Early history 

The name "Vatican" was already in use in the time of the 

Roman Republic for the Ager Vaticanus, a marshy area on the 

west bank of the Tiber across from the city of Rome, located 

between the Janiculum, the Vatican Hill and Monte Mario, 

down to the Aventine Hill and up to the confluence of the 

Cremera creek.  

Because of its vicinity to their arch-fiend, the Etruscan city of 

Veii (another naming for the Ager Vaticanus was Ripa 

Veientana or Ripa Etrusca) and for being subjected to the 

floods of the Tiber, the Romans considered this originally 

uninhabited part of Rome insalubrious and ominous.  

The particularly low quality of Vatican wine, even after the 

reclamation of the area, was commented on by the poet Martial 

(40 – between AD 102 and 104). Tacitus wrote, that in AD 69, 
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the Year of the Four Emperors, when the northern army that 

brought Vitellius to power arrived in Rome, "a large proportion 

camped in the unhealthy districts of the Vatican, which 

resulted in many deaths among the common soldiery; and the 

Tiber being close by, the inability of the Gauls and Germans to 

bear the heat and the consequent greed with which they drank 

from the stream weakened their bodies, which were already an 

easy prey to disease".  

The toponym Ager Vaticanus is attested until the 1st century 

AD: afterwards, another toponym appeared, Vaticanus, 

denoting an area much more restricted: the Vatican hill, 

today's St. Peter's Square, and possibly today's Via della 

Conciliazione.  

Under the Roman Empire, many villas were constructed there, 

after Agrippina the Elder (14 BC–18 October AD 33) drained 

the area and laid out her gardens in the early 1st century AD. 

In AD 40, her son, Emperor Caligula (31 August AD 12–24 

January AD 41; r. 37–41) built in her gardens a circus for 

charioteers (AD 40) that was later completed by Nero, the 

Circus Gaii et Neronis, usually called, simply, the Circus of 

Nero.  

The Vatican Obelisk was originally taken by Caligula from 

Heliopolis in Egypt to decorate the spina of his circus and is 

thus its last visible remnant. This area became the site of 

martyrdom of many Christians after the Great Fire of Rome in 
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AD 64. Ancient tradition holds that it was in this circus that 

Saint Peter was crucified upside-down.  

Opposite the circus was a cemetery separated by the Via 

Cornelia. Funeral monuments and mausoleums, and small 

tombs, as well as altars to pagan gods of all kinds of 

polytheistic religions, were constructed lasting until before the 

construction of the Constantinian Basilica of St. Peter in the 

first half of the 4th century. A shrine dedicated to the Phrygian 

goddess Cybele and her consort Attis remained active long 

after the ancient Basilica of St. Peter was built nearby. 

Remains of this ancient necropolis were brought to light 

sporadically during renovations by various popes throughout 

the centuries, increasing in frequency during the Renaissance 

until it was systematically excavated by orders of Pope Pius XII 

from 1939 to 1941. The Constantinian basilica was built in 

326 over what was believed to be the tomb of Saint Peter, 

buried in that cemetery.  

From then on, the area became more populated in connection 

with activity at the basilica. A palace was constructed nearby 

as early as the 5th century during the pontificate of Pope 

Symmachus (reigned 498–514).  

Papal States 

Popes gradually came to have a secular role as governors of 

regions near Rome. They ruled the Papal States, which covered 
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a large portion of the Italian peninsula, for more than a 

thousand years until the mid-19th century, when all the 

territory belonging to the papacy was seized by the newly 

createdKingdom of Italy.  

For most of this time the popes did not live at the Vatican. The 

Lateran Palace, on the opposite side of Rome, was their 

habitual residence for about a thousand years. From 1309 to 

1377, they lived at Avignon in France. On their return to Rome 

they chose to live at the Vatican. They moved to the Quirinal 

Palace in 1583, after work on it was completed under Pope 

Paul V (1605–1621), but on the capture of Rome in 1870 

retired to the Vatican, and what had been their residence 

became that of the King of Italy.  

Italian unification 

In 1870, the Pope's holdings were left in an uncertain situation 

when Rome itself was annexed by the Piedmont-led forces 

which had united the rest of Italy, after a nominal resistance 

by the papal forces. Between 1861 and 1929 the status of the 

Pope was referred to as the "Roman Question".  

Italy made no attempt to interfere with the Holy See within the 

Vatican walls. However, it confiscated church property in many 

places. In 1871, the Quirinal Palace was confiscated by the 

King of Italy and became the royal palace. Thereafter, the 

popes resided undisturbed within the Vatican walls, and 
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certain papal prerogatives were recognized by the Law of 

Guarantees, including the right to send and receive 

ambassadors. But the Popes did not recognise the Italian 

king's right to rule in Rome, and they refused to leave the 

Vatican compound until the dispute was resolved in 1929; 

Pope Pius IX (1846–1878), the last ruler of the Papal States, 

was referred to as a "prisoner in the Vatican". Forced to give 

up secular power, the popes focused on spiritual issues.  

Lateran treaties 

This situation was resolved on 11 February 1929, when the 

Lateran Treaty between the Holy See and the Kingdom of Italy 

was signed by Prime Minister and Head of GovernmentBenito 

Mussolini on behalf of King Victor Emmanuel III and by 

Cardinal Secretary of StatePietro Gasparri for Pope Pius XI. 

The treaty, which became effective on 7 June 1929, established 

the independent state of Vatican City and reaffirmed the 

special status of Catholic Christianity in Italy.  

World War II 

The Holy See, which ruled Vatican City, pursued a policy of 

neutrality during World War II, under the leadership of Pope 

Pius XII. Although German troops occupied the city of Rome 

after the September 1943 Armistice of Cassibile, and the Allies 

from 1944, they respected Vatican City as neutral territory. 

One of the main diplomatic priorities of the bishop of Rome 
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was to prevent the bombing of the city; so sensitive was the 

pontiff that he protested even the British air dropping of 

pamphlets over Rome, claiming that the few landing within the 

city-state violated the Vatican's neutrality. The British policy, 

as expressed in the minutes of a Cabinet meeting, was: "that 

we should on no account molest the Vatican City, but that our 

action as regards the rest of Rome would depend upon how far 

the Italian government observed the rules of war".  

After the US entered into the war, the US opposed such a 

bombing, fearful of offending Catholic members of its military 

forces, but said that "they could not stop the British from 

bombing Rome if the British so decided". The US military even 

exempted Catholic pilots and crew from air raids on Rome and 

other Church holdings, unless voluntarily agreed upon. 

Notably, with the exception of Rome, and presumably the 

possibility of the Vatican, no Catholic US pilot or air crew 

refused a mission within German-held Italy. The British 

uncompromisingly said "they would bomb Rome whenever the 

needs of the war demanded". In December 1942, the UK's 

envoy suggested to the Holy See that Rome be declared an 

"open city", a suggestion that the Holy See took more seriously 

than was probably meant by the UK, who did not want Rome to 

be an open city, but Mussolini rejected the suggestion when 

the Holy See put it to him. In connection with the Allied 

invasion of Sicily, 500 US aircraft bombed Rome on 19 July 

1943, aiming particularly at the railway hub. Some 1,500 
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people were killed; Pius XII himself, who had been described in 

the previous month as "worried sick" about the possible 

bombing, viewed the aftermath. Another raid took place on 13 

August 1943, after Mussolini had been ousted from power. On 

the following day, the new government declared Rome an open 

city, after consulting the Holy See on the wording of the 

declaration, but the UK had decided that they would never 

recognize Rome as an open city.  

Post-war history 

Pius XII had refrained from creating cardinals during the war. 

By the end of World War II, there were several prominent 

vacancies: Cardinal Secretary of State, Camerlengo, 

Chancellor, and Prefect for the Congregation for the Religious 

among them. Pius XII created 32 cardinals in early 1946, 

having announced his intentions to do so in his preceding 

Christmas message.  

The Pontifical Military Corps, except for the Swiss Guard, was 

disbanded by will of Paul VI, as expressed in a letter of 14 

September 1970. The Gendarmerie Corps was transformed into 

a civilian police and security force.  

In 1984, a new concordat between the Holy See and Italy 

modified certain provisions of the earlier treaty, including the 

position of Catholic Christianity as the Italian state religion, a 

position given to it by a statute of the Kingdom of Sardinia of 
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1848. Construction in 1995 of a new guest house, Domus 

Sanctae Marthae, adjacent to St Peter's Basilica was criticized 

by Italian environmental groups, backed by Italian politicians. 

They claimed the new building would block views of the 

Basilica from nearby Italian apartments. For a short while the 

plans strained the relations between the Vatican and the 

Italian government. The head of the Vatican's Department of 

Technical Services robustly rejected challenges to the Vatican 

State's right to build within its borders.  

John R. Morss writes in the European Journal of International 

Law that due to the terms of the Lateran Treaty, Vatican City's 

status as a sovereign state, and the Pope's status as a head of 

state, are problematic.  

Geography 

The name "Vatican" was already in use in the time of the 

Roman Republic for the Ager Vaticanus, a marshy area on the 

west bank of the Tiber across from the city of Rome, located 

between the Janiculum, the Vatican Hill and Monte Mario, 

down to the Aventine Hill and up to the confluence of the 

Cremera creek. The territory of Vatican City is part of the 

Vatican Hill, and of the adjacent former Vatican Fields. It is in 

this territory that St. Peter's Basilica, the Apostolic Palace, the 

Sistine Chapel, and museums were built, along with various 

other buildings. The area was part of the Roman rione of Borgo 
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until 1929. Being separated from the city, on the west bank of 

the river Tiber, the area was an outcrop of the city that was 

protected by being included within the walls of Leo IV (847–

855), and later expanded by the current fortification walls, 

built under Paul III (1534–1549), Pius IV (1559–1565), and 

Urban VIII (1623–1644).  

When the Lateran Treaty of 1929 that gave the state its form 

was being prepared, the boundaries of the proposed territory 

were influenced by the fact that much of it was all but 

enclosed by this loop. For some tracts of the frontier, there was 

no wall, but the line of certain buildings supplied part of the 

boundary, and for a small part of the frontier a modern wall 

was constructed.  

The territory includes St. Peter's Square, distinguished from 

the territory of Italy only by a white line along the limit of the 

square, where it touches Piazza Pio XII. St. Peter's Square is 

reached through the Via della Conciliazione which runs from 

close to the Tiber to St. Peter's. This grand approach was 

constructed by Benito Mussolini after the conclusion of the 

Lateran Treaty.  

According to the Lateran Treaty, certain properties of the Holy 

See that are located in Italian territory, most notably the Papal 

Palace of Castel Gandolfo and the major basilicas, enjoy 

extraterritorial status similar to that of foreign embassies. 

These properties, scattered all over Rome and Italy, house 
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essential offices and institutions necessary to the character 

and mission of the Holy See.  

Castel Gandolfo and the named basilicas are patrolled 

internally by police agents of Vatican City State and not by 

Italian police. According to the Lateran Treaty (Art. 3) St. 

Peter's Square, up to but not including the steps leading to the 

basilica, is normally patrolled by the Italian police.  

There are no passport controls for visitors entering Vatican 

City from the surrounding Italian territory. There is free public 

access to Saint Peter's Square and Basilica and, on the 

occasion of papal general audiences, to the hall in which they 

are held. For these audiences and for major ceremonies in 

Saint Peter's Basilica and Square, tickets free of charge must 

be obtained beforehand. The Vatican Museums, incorporating 

the Sistine Chapel, usually charge an entrance fee. There is no 

general public access to the gardens, but guided tours for 

small groups can be arranged to the gardens and excavations 

under the basilica. Other places are open to only those 

individuals who have business to transact there.  

Climate 

Vatican City's climate is the same as Rome's: a temperate, 

Mediterranean climateCsa with mild, rainy winters from 

October to mid-May and hot, dry summers from May to 

September. Some minor local features, principally mists and 
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dews, are caused by the anomalous bulk of St Peter's Basilica, 

the elevation, the fountains, and the size of the large paved 

square.  

In July 2007, the Vatican accepted a proposal by two firms 

based respectively in San Francisco and Budapest, whereby it 

would become the first carbon neutral state by offsetting its 

carbon dioxide emissions with the creation of a Vatican 

Climate Forest in Hungary, as a purely symbolic gesture to 

encourage Catholics to do more to safeguard the planet. 

Nothing came of the project.  

On 26 November 2008, the Vatican itself put into effect a plan 

announced in May 2007 to cover the roof of the Paul VI 

Audience Hall with solar panels.  

Gardens 

Within the territory of Vatican City are the Vatican Gardens 

(Italian: Giardini Vaticani), which account for about half of this 

territory. The gardens, established during the Renaissance and 

Baroque era, are decorated with fountains and sculptures.  

The gardens cover approximately 23 hectares (57 acres). The 

highest point is 60 metres (197 ft) above mean sea level. Stone 

walls bound the area in the north, south and west.  

The gardens date back to medieval times when orchards and 

vineyards extended to the north of the Papal Apostolic Palace. 
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In 1279, Pope Nicholas III (Giovanni Gaetano Orsini, 1277–

1280) moved his residence back to the Vatican from the 

Lateran Palace and enclosed this area with walls. He planted 

an orchard (pomerium), a lawn (pratellum), and a garden 

(viridarium).  

Governance 

The politics of Vatican City takes place in an absoluteelective 

monarchy, in which the head of the Catholic Church takes 

power. The pope exercises principal legislative, executive, and 

judicial power over the State of Vatican City (an entity distinct 

from the Holy See), which is a rare case of a non-hereditary 

monarchy.  

Vatican City is one of the few widely recognized independent 

states that has not become a member of the United Nations. 

The Holy See, which is distinct from Vatican City State, has 

permanent observer status with all the rights of a full member 

except for a vote in the UN General Assembly.  

Political system 

The government of Vatican City has a unique structure. The 

pope is the sovereign of the state. Legislative authority is 

vested in the Pontifical Commission for Vatican City State, a 

body of cardinals appointed by the pope for five-year periods. 

Executive power is in the hands of the president of that 
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commission, assisted by the general secretary and deputy 

general secretary. The state's foreign relations are entrusted to 

the Holy See's Secretariat of State and diplomatic service. 

Nevertheless, the pope has absolute power in the executive, 

legislative, and judicial branches over Vatican City. As the ex 

officio “Prince” of Vatican City, the Pope is the only absolute 

monarch in Europe.  

There are departments that deal with health, security, 

telecommunications, etc.  

The Cardinal Camerlengo presides over the Apostolic Camera to 

which is entrusted the administration of the property and 

protection of other papal temporal powers and rights of the 

Holy See during the period of the empty throne or sede vacante 

(papal vacancy). Those of the Vatican State remain under the 

control of the Pontifical Commission for the State of Vatican 

City. Acting with three other cardinals chosen by lot every 

three days, one from each order of cardinals (cardinal bishop, 

cardinal priest, and cardinal deacon), he in a sense performs 

during that period the functions of head of state of Vatican 

City. All the decisions these four cardinals take must be 

approved by the College of Cardinals as a whole.  

The nobility that was closely associated with the Holy See at 

the time of the Papal States continued to be associated with 

the Papal Court after the loss of these territories, generally 

with merely nominal duties (see Papal Master of the Horse, 
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Prefecture of the Pontifical Household, Hereditary officers of 

the Roman Curia, Black Nobility). They also formed the 

ceremonial Noble Guard. In the first decades of the existence of 

the Vatican City State, executive functions were entrusted to 

some of them, including that of delegate for the State of 

Vatican City (now denominated president of the Commission 

for Vatican City). But with the motu proprioPontificalis Domus 

of 28 March 1968, Pope Paul VI abolished the honorary 

positions that had continued to exist until then, such as 

Quartermaster general and Master of the Horse. Vatican City 

State, created in 1929 by the Lateran Pacts, provides the Holy 

See with a temporal jurisdiction and independence within a 

small territory. It is distinct from the Holy See. The state can 

thus be deemed a significant but not essential instrument of 

the Holy See. The Holy See itself has existed continuously as a 

juridical entity since Roman Imperial times and has been 

internationally recognized as a powerful and independent 

sovereign entity since Late Antiquity to the present, without 

interruption even at times when it was deprived of territory 

(e.g. 1870 to 1929). The Holy See has the oldest active 

continuous diplomatic service in the world, dating back to at 

least AD 325 with its legation to the Council of Nicea.  

Head of state and government 

The Pope is ex officiohead of state of Vatican City since the 

1860s, functions dependent on his primordial function as 
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bishop of the diocese of Rome. The term "Holy See" refers not 

to the Vatican state but to the Pope's spiritual and pastoral 

governance, largely exercised through the Roman Curia. His 

official title with regard to Vatican City is Sovereign of the 

State of the Vatican City.  

Pope Francis, born Jorge Mario Bergoglio in Buenos Aires, 

Argentina, was elected on 13 March 2013. His principal 

subordinate government official for Vatican City as well as the 

country's head of government is the President of the Pontifical 

Commission for Vatican City State, who since 1952 exercises 

the functions previously belonging to the Governor of Vatican 

City. Since 2001, the president of the Pontifical Commission 

for Vatican City State also has the title of president of the 

Governorate of the State of Vatican City. The president is 

Italian Cardinal Giuseppe Bertello, who was appointed on 1 

October 2011.  

Administration 

Legislative functions are delegated to the unicameralPontifical 

Commission for Vatican City State, led by the President of the 

Pontifical Commission for Vatican City State. Its seven 

members are cardinals appointed by the Pope for terms of five 

years. Acts of the commission must be approved by the Pope, 

through the Holy See's Secretariat of State, and before taking 

effect must be published in a special appendix of the Acta 

Apostolicae Sedis. Most of the content of this appendix consists 
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of routine executive decrees, such as approval for a new set of 

postage stamps. Executive authority is delegated to the 

Governorate of Vatican City.  

The Governorate consists of the President of the Pontifical 

Commission—using the title "President of the Governorate of 

Vatican City"—a general secretary, and a Vice general 

secretary, each appointed by the Pope for five-year terms. 

Important actions of the Governorate must be confirmed by the 

Pontifical Commission and by the Pope through the Secretariat 

of State.  

The Governorate oversees the central governmental functions 

through several departments and offices. The directors and 

officials of these offices are appointed by the Pope for five-year 

terms. These organs concentrate on material questions 

concerning the state's territory, including local security, 

records, transportation, and finances. The Governorate 

oversees a modern security and police corps, the Corpo della 

Gendarmeria dello Stato della Città del Vaticano.  

Judicial functions are delegated to a supreme court, an 

appellate court, a tribunal (Tribunal of Vatican City State), and 

a trial judge. At the Vatican's request, sentences imposed can 

be served in Italy (see the section on crime, below).  

The international postal country code prefix is SCV, and the 

only postal code is 00120 – altogether SCV-00120.  
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Defense and security 

As the Vatican City is an enclave within Italy, its military 

defence is provided by the Italian Armed Forces. However, 

there is no formal defence treaty with Italy, as the Vatican City 

is a neutral state. Vatican City has no armed forces of its own, 

although the Swiss Guard is a military corps of the Holy See 

responsible for the personal security of the Pope, and residents 

in the state. Soldiers of the Swiss Guard are entitled to hold 

Vatican City State passports and nationality. Swiss 

mercenaries were historically recruited by Popes as part of an 

army for the Papal States, and the Pontifical Swiss Guard was 

founded by Pope Julius II on 22 January 1506 as the pope's 

personal bodyguard and continues to fulfill that function. It is 

listed in the Annuario Pontificio under "Holy See", not under 

"State of Vatican City". At the end of 2005, the Guard had 134 

members. Recruitment is arranged by a special agreement 

between the Holy See and Switzerland. All recruits must be 

Catholic, unmarried males with Swiss citizenship who have 

completed their basic training with the Swiss Armed Forces 

with certificates of good conduct, be between the ages of 19 

and 30, and be at least 174 cm (5 ft 9 in) in height. Members 

are equipped with small arms and the traditional halberd (also 

called the Swiss voulge), and trained in bodyguarding tactics. 

The Palatine Guard and the Noble Guard, the last armed forces 

of the Vatican City State, were disbanded by Pope Paul VI in 

1970. As Vatican City has listed every building in its territory 
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on the International Register of Cultural Property under 

Special Protection, the Hague Convention for the Protection of 

Cultural Property in the Event of Armed Conflict theoretically 

renders it immune to armed attack.  

Civil defence is the responsibility of the Corps of Firefighters of 

the Vatican City State, the national fire brigade. Dating its 

origins to the early nineteenth century, the Corps in its 

present form was established in 1941.  

It is responsible for fire fighting, as well as a range of civil 

defence scenarios including flood, natural disaster, and mass 

casualty management. The Corps is governmentally supervised 

through the Directorate for Security Services and Civil 

Defence, which is also responsible for the Gendarmerie (see 

below).  

The Gendarmerie Corps (Corpo della Gendarmeria) is the 

gendarmerie, or police and security force, of Vatican City and 

the extraterritorial properties of the Holy See.  

The corps is responsible for security, public order, border 

control, traffic control, criminal investigation, and other 

general police duties in Vatican City including providing 

security for the Pope outside of Vatican City. The corps has 

130 personnel and is a part of the Directorate for Security 

Services and Civil Defence (which also includes the Vatican 

Fire Brigade), an organ of the Governorate of Vatican City.  
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Foreign relations 

Vatican City State is a recognized national territory under 

international law, but it is the Holy See that conducts 

diplomatic relations on its behalf, in addition to the Holy See's 

own diplomacy, entering into international agreements in its 

regard. Vatican City thus has no diplomatic service of its own.  

Because of space limitations, Vatican City is one of the few 

countries in the world that is unable to host embassies. 

Foreign embassies to the Holy See are located in the city of 

Rome; only during the Second World War were the staff of some 

embassies accredited to the Holy See given what hospitality 

was possible within the narrow confines of Vatican City—

embassies such as that of the United Kingdom while Rome was 

held by the Axis Powers and Germany's when the Allies 

controlled Rome.  

The size of Vatican City is thus unrelated to the large global 

reach exercised by the Holy See as an entity quite distinct from 

the state.  

However, Vatican City State itself participates in some 

international organizations whose functions relate to the state 

as a geographical entity, distinct from the non-territorial legal 

persona of the Holy See. These organizations are much less 

numerous than those in which the Holy See participates either 

as a member or with observer status. They include the 
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following eight, in each of which Vatican City State holds 

membership:  

• European Conference of Postal and 

Telecommunications Administrations (CEPT) 

• European Telecommunications Satellite Organization 

(Eutelsat IGO) 

• International Grains Council (IGC) 

• International Institute of Administrative Sciences 

(IIAS) 

• International Telecommunication Union (ITU) 

• International Telecommunications Satellite 

Organization (ITSO) 

• Interpol 

• Universal Postal Union (UPU) 

It also participates in:  

• World Medical Association 

• World Intellectual Property Organization (WIPO) 

Non-party, non-signatory policy 

The Vatican City State is not a member of the International 

Criminal Court (ICC). In Europe only Belarus is also a non-

party, non-signatory state.  

Further, the Vatican City State is not a member of the 

European Court of Human Rights. Again, only Belarus is also 

not a member in Europe.  
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The OECD's "Common Reporting Standard" (CRS) aiming at 

preventing tax evasion and money laundering has also not 

been signed. The Vatican City State has been criticized for its 

money laundering practises in the past decades. The only other 

country in Europe that has not agreed to sign the CRS is 

Belarus.  

The Vatican City State is also one of few countries in the world 

that does not provide any publicly available financial data to 

the IMF.  

Economy 

The Vatican City State budget includes the Vatican Museums 

and post office and is supported financially by the sale of 

stamps, coins, medals and tourist mementos; by fees for 

admission to museums; and by publications sales. The incomes 

and living standards of lay workers are comparable to those of 

counterparts who work in the city of Rome. Other industries 

include printing, the production of mosaics, and the 

manufacture of staff uniforms. There is a Vatican Pharmacy.  

The Institute for Works of Religion (IOR, Istituto per le Opere di 

Religione), also known as the Vatican Bank, is a financial 

agency situated in the Vatican that conducts worldwide 

financial activities. It has multilingual ATMs with instructions 

in Latin, possibly the only ATM in the world with this feature.  
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Vatican City issues its own coins and stamps. It has used the 

euro as its currency since 1 January 1999, owing to a special 

agreement with the European Union (council decision 

1999/98). Euro coins and notes were introduced on 1 January 

2002—the Vatican does not issue euro banknotes. Issuance of 

euro-denominated coins is strictly limited by treaty, though 

somewhat more than usual is allowed in a year in which there 

is a change in the papacy.  

Because of their rarity, Vatican euro coins are highly sought by 

collectors. Until the adoption of the Euro, Vatican coinage and 

stamps were denominated in their own Vatican lira currency, 

which was on par with the Italian lira.  

Vatican City State, which employs nearly 2,000 people, had a 

surplus of 6.7 million euros in 2007 but ran a deficit in 2008 

of over 15 million euros.  

In 2012, the US Department of State's International Narcotics 

Control Strategy Report listed Vatican City for the first time 

among the nations of concern for money-laundering, placing it 

in the middle category, which includes countries such as 

Ireland, but not among the most vulnerable countries, which 

include the United States itself, Germany, Italy, and Russia.  

On 24 February 2014 the Vatican announced it was 

establishing a secretariat for the economy, to be responsible 

for all economic, financial and administrative activities of the 
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Holy See and the Vatican City State, headed by Cardinal 

George Pell. This followed the charging of two senior clerics 

including a monsignor with money laundering offences.  

Pope Francis also appointed an auditor-general authorized to 

carry out random audits of any agency at any time, and 

engaged a US financial services company to review the 

Vatican's 19,000 accounts to ensure compliance with 

international money laundering practices.  

The pontiff also ordered that the Administration of the 

Patrimony of the Apostolic See would be the Vatican's central 

bank, with responsibilities similar to other central banks 

around the world.  

Demographics 

As of 2019, Vatican City had a total population of 825, 

including:  

• 453 residents (regardless of citizenship) 

• 372 Vatican citizens residing elsewhere (diplomats of 

the Holy See to other countries and cardinals 

residing in Rome) 

The population is composed of clergy, other religious members, 

and lay people serving the state (such as the Swiss Guard) and 

their family members. All citizens, residents and places of 
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worship in the city are Catholic. The city also receives 

thousands of tourists and workers every day.  

Languages 

Vatican City has no formally enacted official language, but, 

unlike the Holy See which most often uses Latin for the 

authoritative version of its official documents, Vatican City 

uses only Italian in its legislation and official communications. 

Italian is also the everyday language used by most of those 

who work in the state.  

In the Swiss Guard, Swiss German is the language used for 

giving commands, but the individual guards take their oath of 

loyalty in their own languages: German, French, Italian or 

Romansh. The official websites of the Holy See and of Vatican 

City are primarily in Italian, with versions of their pages in a 

large number of languages to varying extents.  

Citizenship 

Unlike citizenship of other states, which is based either on jus 

sanguinis (birth from a citizen, even outside the state's 

territory) or on jus soli (birth within the territory of the state), 

citizenship of Vatican City is granted on jus officii, namely on 

the grounds of appointment to work in a certain capacity in the 

service of the Holy See. It usually ceases upon cessation of the 

appointment. Citizenship is also extended to the spouse and 
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children of a citizen, provided they are living together in the 

city. Some individuals are also authorized to reside in the city 

but do not qualify or choose not to request citizenship. Anyone 

who loses Vatican citizenship and does not possess other 

citizenship automatically becomes an Italian citizen as 

provided in the Lateran Treaty.  

The Holy See, not being a country, issues only diplomatic and 

service passports, whereas Vatican City issues normal 

passports for its citizens.  

Statistical oddities 

In statistics comparing countries in various per capita or per 

area metrics, the Vatican City is often an outlier—these can 

stem from the state's small size and ecclesiastical function. 

For example, as most of the roles which would confer 

citizenship are reserved for men, the gender ratio of the 

citizenship is several men per woman.  

Further oddities are petty crimes against tourists resulting in a 

very high per-capita crime rate, and the city-state leading the 

world in per-capita wine consumption.  

A jocular illustration of these anomalies is sometimes made by 

calculating a "Popes per km" statistic, which is greater than 

two because the country is less than half a square kilometre in 

area.  
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Culture 

Vatican City is home to some of the most famous art in the 

world. St. Peter's Basilica, whose successive architects include 

Bramante, Michelangelo, Giacomo della Porta,  

Maderno and Bernini, is a renowned work of Renaissance 

architecture. The Sistine Chapel is famous for its frescos, 

which include works by Perugino, Domenico Ghirlandaio and 

Botticelli as well as the ceiling and Last Judgment by 

Michelangelo. Artists who decorated the interiors of the 

Vatican include Raphael and Fra Angelico.  

The Vatican Apostolic Library and the collections of the 

Vatican Museums are of the highest historical, scientific and 

cultural importance.  

In 1984, the Vatican was added by UNESCO to the List of 

World Heritage Sites; it is the only one to consist of an entire 

state.  

Furthermore, it is the only site to date registered with the 

UNESCO as a centre containing monuments in the 

"International Register of Cultural Property under Special 

Protection" according to the 1954 Hague Convention for the 

Protection of Cultural Property in the Event of Armed Conflict.  
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Sport 

There is a football championship, called the Vatican City 

Championship, with eight teams, including, for example, the 

Swiss Guard's FC Guardia and police and museum guard 

teams.  

Infrastructure 

Transport 

Vatican City has a reasonably well-developed transport 

network considering its size (consisting mostly of a piazza and 

walkways). As a state that is 1.05 kilometres (1,150 yards) long 

and 0.85 km (930 yd) wide, it has a small transportation 

system with no airports or highways. The only aviation facility 

in Vatican City is the Vatican City Heliport. Vatican City is one 

of the few independent countries without an airport, and is 

served by the airports that serve the city of Rome, Leonardo da 

Vinci-Fiumicino Airport and to a lesser extent Ciampino 

Airport.  

There is a standard gaugerailway, mainly used to transport 

freight, connected to Italy's network at Rome's Saint Peter's 

station by an 852-metre-long (932 yd) spur, 300 metres 

(330 yd) of which is within Vatican territory. Pope John XXIII 

was the first Pope to make use of the railway; Pope John Paul 
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II rarely used it. The closest metro station is Ottaviano – San 

Pietro – Musei Vaticani.  

Communications 

The City is served by an independent, modern telephone 

system named the Vatican Telephone Service, and a postal 

system (Poste Vaticane) that started operating on 13 February 

1929. On 1 August, the state started to release its own postal 

stamps, under the authority of the Philatelic and Numismatic 

Office of the Vatican City State.  

The city's postal service is sometimes said to be "the best in 

the world", and faster than the postal service in Rome.  

The Vatican also controls its own Internet top-level domain, 

which is registered as (.va). Broadband service is widely 

provided within Vatican City. Vatican City has also been given 

a radio ITU prefix, HV, and this is sometimes used by amateur 

radio operators.  

Vatican Radio, which was organized by Guglielmo Marconi, 

broadcasts on short-wave, medium-wave and FM frequencies 

and on the Internet. Its main transmission antennae are 

located in Italian territory, and exceed Italian environmental 

protection levels of emission. For this reason, the Vatican 

Radio has been sued. Television services are provided through 

another entity, the Vatican Television Center.  
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L'Osservatore Romano is the multilingual semi-official 

newspaper of the Holy See. It is published by a private 

corporation under the direction of Catholic laymen, but reports 

on official information.  

However, the official texts of documents are in the Acta 

Apostolicae Sedis, the official gazette of the Holy See, which 

has an appendix for documents of the Vatican City State.  

Vatican Radio, the Vatican Television Center, and 

L'Osservatore Romano are organs not of the Vatican State but 

of the Holy See, and are listed as such in the Annuario 

Pontificio, which places them in the section "Institutions linked 

with the Holy See", ahead of the sections on the Holy See's 

diplomatic service abroad and the diplomatic corps accredited 

to the Holy See, after which is placed the section on the State 

of Vatican City.  

Recycling 

In 2008, the Vatican began an "ecological island" for renewable 

waste and has continued the initiative throughout the papacy 

of Francis. These innovations included, for example, the 

installation of a solar power system on the roof of the Paul VI 

Audience Hall. In July 2019, it was announced that Vatican 

City would ban the use and sale of single-use plastics as soon 

as its supply was depleted, well before the 2021 deadline 

established by the European Union. It is estimated that 50–
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55% of Vatican City's municipal solid waste is properly sorted 

and recycled, with the goal of reaching the EU standard of 70–

75%  

Crime 

Crime in Vatican City consists largely of purse snatching, 

pickpocketing and shoplifting by outsiders. The tourist foot-

traffic in St. Peter's Square is one of the main locations for 

pickpockets in Vatican City. If crimes are committed in Saint 

Peter's Square, the perpetrators may be arrested and tried by 

the Italian authorities, since that area is normally patrolled by 

Italian police. Under the terms of article 22 of the Lateran 

Treaty, Italy will, at the request of the Holy See, punish 

individuals for crimes committed within Vatican City and will 

itself proceed against the person who committed the offence, if 

that person takes refuge in Italian territory. Persons accused 

of crimes recognized as such both in Italy and in Vatican City 

that are committed in Italian territory will be handed over to 

the Italian authorities if they take refuge in Vatican City or in 

buildings that enjoy immunity under the treaty.  

Vatican City has no prison system, apart from a few detention 

cells for pre-trial detention. People convicted of committing 

crimes in the Vatican serve terms in Italian prisons (Polizia 

Penitenziaria), with costs covered by the Vatican.  



Chapter 2 

Adolf Hitler 

Adolf Hitler(20 April 1889 – 30 April 1945) was an Austrian-

born German politician who was the dictator of Germany from 

1933 to 1945. He rose to power as the leader of the Nazi Party, 

becoming Chancellor in 1933 and then assuming the title of 

Führer und Reichskanzler in 1934. During his dictatorship from 

1933 to 1945, he initiated World War II in Europe by invading 

Poland on 1 September 1939. He was closely involved in 

military operations throughout the war and was central to the 

perpetration of the Holocaust, the genocide of about six million 

Jews and millions of other victims. 

Hitler was born in Austria, then part of Austria-Hungary, and 

was raised near Linz. He moved to Germany in 1913, and was 

decorated during his service in the German Army in World War 

I. In 1919, he joined the German Workers' Party (DAP), the 

precursor of the Nazi Party, and was appointed leader of the 

Nazi Party in 1921.  

In 1923, he attempted to seize governmental power in a failed 

coup in Munich and was imprisoned with a sentence of five 

years. In jail, he dictated the first volume of his autobiography 

and political manifesto Mein Kampf ("My Struggle"). After his 

early release in 1924, Hitler gained popular support by 

attacking the Treaty of Versailles and promoting pan-
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Germanism, anti-Semitism and anti-communism with 

charismatic oratory and Nazi propaganda. He frequently 

denounced international capitalism and communism as part of 

a Jewish conspiracy.  

By November 1932, the Nazi Party held the most seats in the 

German Reichstag, but did not have a majority. As a result, no 

party was able to form a majority parliamentary coalition in 

support of a candidate for chancellor. Former chancellor Franz 

von Papen and other conservative leaders persuaded President 

Paul von Hindenburg to appoint Hitler as chancellor on 30 

January 1933. Shortly after, the Reichstag passed the 

Enabling Act of 1933 which began the process of transforming 

the Weimar Republic into Nazi Germany, a one-party 

dictatorship based on the totalitarian and autocratic ideology 

of Nazism. Hitler aimed to eliminate Jews from Germany and 

establish a New Order to counter what he saw as the injustice 

of the post-World War I international order dominated by 

Britain and France. His first six years in power resulted in 

rapid economic recovery from the Great Depression, the 

abrogation of restrictions imposed on Germany after World War 

I, and the annexation of territories inhabited by millions of 

ethnic Germans, which gave him significant popular support.  

Hitler sought Lebensraum (lit.   ' l iving space') for the German 

people in Eastern Europe, and his aggressive foreign policy is 

considered the primary cause of World War II in Europe. He 
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directed large-scale rearmament and, on 1 September 1939, 

invaded Poland, resulting in Britain and France declaring war 

on Germany. In June 1941, Hitler ordered an invasion of the 

Soviet Union. By the end of 1941, German forces and the 

European Axis powers occupied most of Europe and North 

Africa.  

These gains were gradually reversed after 1941, and in 1945 

the Allied armies defeated the German army. On 29 April 1945, 

he married his longtime lover Eva Braun in the Führerbunker 

in Berlin. Less than two days later, the couple committed 

suicide to avoid capture by the Soviet Red Army. Their corpses 

were burned.  

Historian and biographer Ian Kershaw describes Hitler as "the 

embodiment of modern political evil". Under Hitler's leadership 

and racially motivated ideology, the Nazi regime was 

responsible for the genocide of about six million Jews and 

millions of other victims whom he and his followers deemed 

Untermenschen (subhumans) or socially undesirable. Hitler and 

the Nazi regime were also responsible for the killing of an 

estimated 19.3 million civilians and prisoners of war. In 

addition, 28.7 million soldiers and civilians died as a result of 

military action in the European theatre. The number of 

civilians killed during World War II was unprecedented in 

warfare, and the casualties constitute the deadliest conflict in 

history.  
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Ancestry 

Hitler's father, Alois Hitler Sr. (1837–1903), was the 

illegitimate child of Maria Anna Schicklgruber. The baptismal 

register did not show the name of his father, and Alois initially 

bore his mother's surname, 'Schicklgruber'.  

In 1842, Johann Georg Hiedler married Alois's mother. Alois 

was brought up in the family of Hiedler's brother, Johann 

Nepomuk Hiedler. In 1876, Alois was made legitimate and his 

baptismal record annotated by a priest to register Johann 

Georg Hiedler as Alois's father (recorded as "Georg Hitler"). 

Alois then assumed the surname "Hitler", also spelled 'Hiedler', 

'Hüttler', or 'Huettler'.  

The name is probably based on the German word hütte (lit., 

"hut"), and likely has the meaning "one who lives in a hut".  

Nazi official Hans Frank suggested that Alois' mother had been 

employed as a housekeeper by a Jewish family in Graz, and 

that the family's 19-year-old son Leopold Frankenberger had 

fathered Alois. No Frankenberger was registered in Graz during 

that period, no record has been produced of Leopold 

Frankenberger's existence, and Jewish residency in Styria had 

been illegal for nearly 400 years and would not become legal 

again until decades after Alois' birth, so historians dismiss the 

claim that Alois' father was Jewish.  
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Early years 

Childhood and education 

Adolf Hitler was born on 20 April 1889 in Braunau am Inn, a 

town in Austria-Hungary (in present-day Austria), close to the 

border with the German Empire. He was the fourth of six 

children born to Alois Hitler and his third wife, Klara Pölzl. 

Three of Hitler's siblings – Gustav, Ida, and Otto – died in 

infancy. Also living in the household were Alois's children from 

his second marriage: Alois Jr. (born 1882) and Angela (born 

1883). When Hitler was three, the family moved to Passau, 

Germany. There he acquired the distinctive lower Bavarian 

dialect, rather than Austrian German, which marked his 

speech throughout his life. The family returned to Austria and 

settled in Leonding in 1894, and in June 1895 Alois retired to 

Hafeld, near Lambach, where he farmed and kept bees. Hitler 

attended Volksschule (a state-funded primary school) in nearby 

Fischlham.  

The move to Hafeld coincided with the onset of intense father-

son conflicts caused by Hitler's refusal to conform to the strict 

discipline of his school. His father beat him, although his 

mother tried to protect him. Alois Hitler's farming efforts at 

Hafeld ended in failure, and in 1897 the family moved to 

Lambach. The eight-year-old Hitler took singing lessons, sang 

in the church choir, and even considered becoming a priest. In 
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1898 the family returned permanently to Leonding. Hitler was 

deeply affected by the death of his younger brother Edmund, 

who died in 1900 from measles. Hitler changed from a 

confident, outgoing, conscientious student to a morose, 

detached boy who constantly fought with his father and 

teachers.  

Alois had made a successful career in the customs bureau and 

wanted his son to follow in his footsteps. Hitler later 

dramatised an episode from this period when his father took 

him to visit a customs office, depicting it as an event that gave 

rise to an unforgiving antagonism between father and son, who 

were both strong-willed. Ignoring his son's desire to attend a 

classical high school and become an artist, Alois sent Hitler to 

the Realschule in Linz in September 1900. Hitler rebelled 

against this decision, and in Mein Kampf states that he 

intentionally did poorly in school, hoping that once his father 

saw "what little progress I was making at the technical school 

he would let me devote myself to my dream".  

Like many Austrian Germans, Hitler began to develop German 

nationalist ideas from a young age. He expressed loyalty only 

to Germany, despising the declining Habsburg Monarchy and 

its rule over an ethnically variegated empire. Hitler and his 

friends used the greeting "Heil", and sang the 

"Deutschlandlied" instead of the Austrian Imperial anthem.  
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After Alois's sudden death on 3 January 1903, Hitler's 

performance at school deteriorated and his mother allowed him 

to leave. He enrolled at the Realschule in Steyr in September 

1904, where his behaviour and performance improved. In 1905, 

after passing a repeat of the final exam, Hitler left the school 

without any ambitions for further education or clear plans for 

a career.  

Early adulthood in Vienna and Munich 

In 1907, Hitler left Linz to live and study fine art in Vienna, 

financed by orphan's benefits and support from his mother. He 

applied for admission to the Academy of Fine Arts Vienna but 

was rejected twice. The director suggested Hitler should apply 

to the School of Architecture, but he lacked the necessary 

academic credentials because he had not finished secondary 

school.  

On 21 December 1907, his mother died of breast cancer at the 

age of 47, when he himself was 18. In 1909 Hitler ran out of 

money and was forced to live a bohemian life in homeless 

shelters and a men's dormitory. He earned money as a casual 

labourer and by painting and selling watercolours of Vienna's 

sights. During his time in Vienna, he pursued a growing 

passion for architecture and music, attending ten 

performances of Lohengrin, his favourite Wagner opera.  
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It was in Vienna that Hitler first became exposed to racist 

rhetoric. Populists such as mayorKarl Lueger exploited the 

climate of virulent anti-Semitism and occasionally espoused 

German nationalist notions for political effect. German 

nationalism had a particularly widespread following in the 

Mariahilf district, where Hitler lived.  

Georg Ritter von Schönerer became a major influence on Hitler. 

He also developed an admiration for Martin Luther. Hitler read 

local newspapers such as Deutsches Volksblatt [de] that fanned 

prejudice and played on Christian fears of being swamped by 

an influx of Eastern European Jews. He read newspapers and 

pamphlets that published the thoughts of philosophers and 

theoreticians such as Houston Stewart Chamberlain, Charles 

Darwin, Friedrich Nietzsche, Gustave Le Bon and Arthur 

Schopenhauer.  

The origin and development of Hitler's anti-Semitism remains a 

matter of debate. His friend, August Kubizek, claimed that 

Hitler was a "confirmed anti-Semite" before he left Linz. 

However, historian Brigitte Hamann describes Kubizek's claim 

as "problematical". While Hitler states in Mein Kampf that he 

first became an anti-Semite in Vienna, Reinhold Hanisch, who 

helped him sell his paintings, disagrees. Hitler had dealings 

with Jews while living in Vienna. Historian Richard J. Evans 

states that "historians now generally agree that his notorious, 

murderous anti-Semitism emerged well after Germany's defeat 
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[in World War I], as a product of the paranoid "stab-in-the-

back" explanation for the catastrophe".  

Hitler received the final part of his father's estate in May 1913 

and moved to Munich, Germany. When he was conscripted into 

the Austro-Hungarian Army, he journeyed to Salzburg on 5 

February 1914 for medical assessment. After he was deemed 

unfit for service, he returned to Munich. Hitler later claimed 

that he did not wish to serve the Habsburg Empire because of 

the mixture of races in its army and his belief that the collapse 

of Austria-Hungary was imminent.  

World War I 

In August 1914, at the outbreak of World War I, Hitler was 

living in Munich and voluntarily enlisted in the Bavarian Army. 

According to a 1924 report by the Bavarian authorities, 

allowing Hitler to serve was almost certainly an administrative 

error, since as an Austrian citizen, he should have been 

returned to Austria. Posted to the Bavarian Reserve Infantry 

Regiment 16 (1st Company of the List Regiment), he served as 

a dispatch runner on the Western Front in France and 

Belgium, spending nearly half his time at the regimental 

headquarters in Fournes-en-Weppes, well behind the front 

lines. He was present at the First Battle of Ypres, the Battle of 

the Somme, the Battle of Arras, and the Battle of 

Passchendaele, and was wounded at the Somme. He was 

decorated for bravery, receiving the Iron Cross, Second Class, 
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in 1914. On a recommendation by Lieutenant Hugo Gutmann, 

Hitler's Jewish superior, he received the Iron Cross, First Class 

on 4 August 1918, a decoration rarely awarded to one of 

Hitler's Gefreiter rank. He received the Black Wound Badge on 

18 May 1918.  

During his service at headquarters, Hitler pursued his artwork, 

drawing cartoons and instructions for an army newspaper. 

During the Battle of the Somme in October 1916, he was 

wounded in the left thigh when a shell exploded in the 

dispatch runners' dugout. Hitler spent almost two months in 

hospital at Beelitz, returning to his regiment on 5 March 1917. 

On 15 October 1918, he was temporarily blinded in a mustard 

gas attack and was hospitalised in Pasewalk. While there, 

Hitler learned of Germany's defeat, and – by his own account – 

upon receiving this news, he suffered a second bout of 

blindness.  

Hitler described the war as "the greatest of all experiences", 

and was praised by his commanding officers for his bravery. 

His wartime experience reinforced his German patriotism and 

he was shocked by Germany's capitulation in November 1918. 

His bitterness over the collapse of the war effort began to 

shape his ideology. Like other German nationalists, he believed 

the Dolchstoßlegende (stab-in-the-back myth), which claimed 

that the German army, "undefeated in the field", had been 

"stabbed in the back" on the home front by civilian leaders, 
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Jews, Marxists, and those who signed the armistice that ended 

the fighting – later dubbed the "November criminals".  

The Treaty of Versailles stipulated that Germany had to 

relinquish several of its territories and demilitarise the 

Rhineland. The treaty imposed economic sanctions and levied 

heavy reparations on the country. Many Germans saw the 

treaty as an unjust humiliation. They especially objected to 

Article 231, which they interpreted as declaring Germany 

responsible for the war. The Versailles Treaty and the 

economic, social, and political conditions in Germany after the 

war were later exploited by Hitler for political gain.  

Entry into politics 

After World War I, Hitler returned to Munich. Without formal 

education or career prospects, he remained in the army. In 

July 1919 he was appointed Verbindungsmann (intelligence 

agent) of an Aufklärungskommando (reconnaissance unit) of the 

Reichswehr, assigned to influence other soldiers and to 

infiltrate the German Workers' Party (DAP). At a DAP meeting 

on 12 September 1919, Party Chairman Anton Drexler was 

impressed with Hitler's oratorical skills. He gave him a copy of 

his pamphlet My Political Awakening, which contained anti-

Semitic, nationalist, anti-capitalist, and anti-Marxist ideas. On 

the orders of his army superiors, Hitler applied to join the 

party, and within a week was accepted as party member 555 
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(the party began counting membership at 500 to give the 

impression they were a much larger party).  

Around this time, Hitler made his earliest known recorded 

statement about the Jews in a letter (now known as the 

Gemlich letter) dated 16 September 1919 to Adolf Gemlich 

about the Jewish question. In the letter, Hitler argues that the 

aim of the government "must unshakably be the removal of the 

Jews altogether".  

At the DAP, Hitler met Dietrich Eckart, one of the party's 

founders and a member of the occult Thule Society. Eckart 

became Hitler's mentor, exchanging ideas with him and 

introducing him to a wide range of Munich society. To increase 

its appeal, the DAP changed its name to the 

Nationalsozialistische Deutsche Arbeiterpartei (National 

Socialist German Workers' Party (NSDAP), known colloquially 

as the "Nazi Party"). Hitler designed the party's banner of a 

swastika in a white circle on a red background.  

Hitler was discharged from the army on 31 March 1920 and 

began working full-time for the party. The party headquarters 

was in Munich, a hotbed of anti-government German 

nationalists determined to crush Marxism and undermine the 

Weimar Republic. In February 1921 – already highly effective 

at crowd manipulation – he spoke to a crowd of over 6,000. To 

publicise the meeting, two truckloads of party supporters drove 

around Munich waving swastika flags and distributing leaflets. 
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Hitler soon gained notoriety for his rowdy polemic speeches 

against the Treaty of Versailles, rival politicians, and especially 

against Marxists and Jews.  

In June 1921, while Hitler and Eckart were on a fundraising 

trip to Berlin, a mutiny broke out within the Nazi Party in 

Munich. Members of its executive committee wanted to merge 

with the Nuremberg-based German Socialist Party (DSP). Hitler 

returned to Munich on 11 July and angrily tendered his 

resignation.  

The committee members realised that the resignation of their 

leading public figure and speaker would mean the end of the 

party. Hitler announced he would rejoin on the condition that 

he would replace Drexler as party chairman, and that the party 

headquarters would remain in Munich.  

The committee agreed, and he rejoined the party on 26 July as 

member 3,680. Hitler continued to face some opposition within 

the Nazi Party. Opponents of Hitler in the leadership had 

Hermann Esser expelled from the party, and they printed 3,000 

copies of a pamphlet attacking Hitler as a traitor to the party. 

In the following days, Hitler spoke to several packed houses 

and defended himself and Esser, to thunderous applause. His 

strategy proved successful, and at a special party congress on 

29 July, he was granted absolute powers as party chairman, 

replacing Drexler, by a vote of 533 to 1.  
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Hitler's vitriolic beer hall speeches began attracting regular 

audiences. A demagogue, he became adept at using populist 

themes, including the use of scapegoats, who were blamed for 

his listeners' economic hardships. Hitler used personal 

magnetism and an understanding of crowd psychology to his 

advantage while engaged in public speaking. Historians have 

noted the hypnotic effect of his rhetoric on large audiences, 

and of his eyes in small groups. Alfons Heck, a former member 

of the Hitler Youth, recalled:  

We erupted into a frenzy of nationalistic pride that bordered on 

hysteria. For minutes on end, we shouted at the top of our 

lungs, with tears streaming down our faces: Sieg Heil, Sieg 

Heil, Sieg Heil! From that moment on, I belonged to Adolf Hitler 

body and soul. 

Early followers included Rudolf Hess, former air force ace 

Hermann Göring, and army captain Ernst Röhm. Röhm became 

head of the Nazis' paramilitary organisation, the 

Sturmabteilung (SA, "Stormtroopers"), which protected 

meetings and attacked political opponents. A critical influence 

on Hitler's thinking during this period was the Aufbau 

Vereinigung, a conspiratorial group of White Russian exiles and 

early Nazis. The group, financed with funds channelled from 

wealthy industrialists, introduced Hitler to the idea of a Jewish 

conspiracy, linking international finance with Bolshevism.  
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The programme of the Nazi Party was laid out in their 25-point 

programme on 24 February 1920. This did not represent a 

coherent ideology, but was a conglomeration of received ideas 

which had currency in the völkischPan-Germanic movement, 

such as ultranationalism, opposition to the Treaty of 

Versailles, distrust of capitalism, as well as some socialist 

ideas. For Hitler, though, the most important aspect of it was 

its strong anti-Semitic stance. He also perceived the 

programme as primarily a basis for propaganda and for 

attracting people to the party.  

Beer Hall Putsch and Landsberg Prison 

In 1923, Hitler enlisted the help of World War I General Erich 

Ludendorff for an attempted coup known as the "Beer Hall 

Putsch". The Nazi Party used Italian Fascism as a model for 

their appearance and policies. Hitler wanted to emulate Benito 

Mussolini's "March on Rome" of 1922 by staging his own coup 

in Bavaria, to be followed by a challenge to the government in 

Berlin. Hitler and Ludendorff sought the support of 

Staatskommissar (State Commissioner) Gustav Ritter von Kahr, 

Bavaria's de facto ruler. However, Kahr, along with Police Chief 

Hans Ritter von Seisser and Reichswehr General Otto von 

Lossow, wanted to install a nationalist dictatorship without 

Hitler.  

On 8 November 1923, Hitler and the SA stormed a public 

meeting of 3,000 people organised by Kahr in the 
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Bürgerbräukeller, a beer hall in Munich. Interrupting Kahr's 

speech, he announced that the national revolution had begun 

and declared the formation of a new government with 

Ludendorff. Retiring to a back room, Hitler, with handgun 

drawn, demanded and got the support of Kahr, Seisser, and 

Lossow. Hitler's forces initially succeeded in occupying the 

local Reichswehr and police headquarters, but Kahr and his 

cohorts quickly withdrew their support. Neither the army, nor 

the state police, joined forces with Hitler. The next day, Hitler 

and his followers marched from the beer hall to the Bavarian 

War Ministry to overthrow the Bavarian government, but police 

dispersed them. Sixteen Nazi Party members and four police 

officers were killed in the failed coup.  

Hitler fled to the home of Ernst Hanfstaengl and by some 

accounts contemplated suicide. He was depressed but calm 

when arrested on 11 November 1923 for high treason. His trial 

before the special People's Court in Munich began in February 

1924, and Alfred Rosenberg became temporary leader of the 

Nazi Party. On 1 April, Hitler was sentenced to five years' 

imprisonment at Landsberg Prison. There, he received friendly 

treatment from the guards, and was allowed mail from 

supporters and regular visits by party comrades. Pardoned by 

the Bavarian Supreme Court, he was released from jail on 20 

December 1924, against the state prosecutor's objections. 

Including time on remand, Hitler served just over one year in 

prison.  
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While at Landsberg, Hitler dictated most of the first volume of 

Mein Kampf (My Struggle; originally entitled Four and a Half 

Years of Struggle against Lies, Stupidity, and Cowardice) at 

first to his chauffeur, Emil Maurice, and then to his deputy, 

Rudolf Hess. The book, dedicated to Thule Society member 

Dietrich Eckart, was an autobiography and exposition of his 

ideology.  

The book laid out Hitler's plans for transforming German 

society into one based on race. Throughout the book, Jews are 

equated with "germs" and presented as the "international 

poisoners" of society.  

According to Hitler's ideology, the only solution was their 

extermination. While Hitler did not describe exactly how this 

was to be accomplished, his "inherent genocidal thrust is 

undeniable", according to Ian Kershaw.  

Published in two volumes in 1925 and 1926, Mein Kampf sold 

228,000 copies between 1925 and 1932. One million copies 

were sold in 1933, Hitler's first year in office.  

Shortly before Hitler was eligible for parole, the Bavarian 

government attempted to have him deported to Austria. The 

Austrian federal chancellor rejected the request on the 

specious grounds that his service in the German Army made 

his Austrian citizenship void. In response, Hitler formally 

renounced his Austrian citizenship on 7 April 1925.  
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Rebuilding the Nazi Party 

At the time of Hitler's release from prison, politics in Germany 

had become less combative and the economy had improved, 

limiting Hitler's opportunities for political agitation. As a 

result of the failed Beer Hall Putsch, the Nazi Party and its 

affiliated organisations were banned in Bavaria. In a meeting 

with the Prime Minister of Bavaria Heinrich Held on 4 January 

1925, Hitler agreed to respect the state's authority and 

promised that he would seek political power only through the 

democratic process. The meeting paved the way for the ban on 

the Nazi Party to be lifted on 16 February. However, after an 

inflammatory speech he gave on 27 February, Hitler was barred 

from public speaking by the Bavarian authorities, a ban that 

remained in place until 1927. To advance his political 

ambitions in spite of the ban, Hitler appointed Gregor Strasser, 

Otto Strasser and Joseph Goebbels to organise and enlarge the 

Nazi Party in northern Germany. Gregor Strasser steered a 

more independent political course, emphasising the socialist 

elements of the party's programme.  

The stock market in the United States crashed on 24 October 

1929. The impact in Germany was dire: millions were thrown 

out of work and several major banks collapsed. Hitler and the 

Nazi Party prepared to take advantage of the emergency to gain 

support for their party. They promised to repudiate the 

Versailles Treaty, strengthen the economy, and provide jobs.  
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Rise to power 

Brüning administration 

The Great Depression provided a political opportunity for 

Hitler. Germans were ambivalent about the parliamentary 

republic, which faced challenges from right- and left-wing 

extremists. The moderate political parties were increasingly 

unable to stem the tide of extremism, and the German 

referendum of 1929 helped to elevate Nazi ideology. The 

elections of September 1930 resulted in the break-up of a 

grand coalition and its replacement with a minority cabinet. Its 

leader, chancellorHeinrich Brüning of the Centre Party, 

governed through emergency decrees from President Paul von 

Hindenburg. Governance by decree became the new norm and 

paved the way for authoritarian forms of government. The Nazi 

Party rose from obscurity to win 18.3 per cent of the vote and 

107 parliamentary seats in the 1930 election, becoming the 

second-largest party in parliament.  

Hitler made a prominent appearance at the trial of two 

Reichswehr officers, Lieutenants Richard Scheringer and 

Hanns Ludin, in late 1930. Both were charged with 

membership in the Nazi Party, at that time illegal for 

Reichswehr personnel. The prosecution argued that the Nazi 

Party was an extremist party, prompting defence lawyer Hans 

Frank to call on Hitler to testify. On 25 September 1930, Hitler 
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testified that his party would pursue political power solely 

through democratic elections, which won him many supporters 

in the officer corps.  

Brüning's austerity measures brought little economic 

improvement and were extremely unpopular. Hitler exploited 

this by targeting his political messages specifically at people 

who had been affected by the inflation of the 1920s and the 

Depression, such as farmers, war veterans, and the middle 

class.  

Although Hitler had terminated his Austrian citizenship in 

1925, he did not acquire German citizenship for almost seven 

years. This meant that he was stateless, legally unable to run 

for public office, and still faced the risk of deportation. On 25 

February 1932, the interior minister of Brunswick, Dietrich 

Klagges, who was a member of the Nazi Party, appointed Hitler 

as administrator for the state's delegation to the Reichsrat in 

Berlin, making Hitler a citizen of Brunswick, and thus of 

Germany.  

Hitler ran against Hindenburg in the 1932 presidential 

elections. A speech to the Industry Club in Düsseldorf on 27 

January 1932 won him support from many of Germany's most 

powerful industrialists. Hindenburg had support from various 

nationalist, monarchist, Catholic, and republican parties, and 

some Social Democrats. Hitler used the campaign slogan 

"Hitler über Deutschland" ("Hitler over Germany"), a reference 



Rise of Totalitarianism 
 

53 

to his political ambitions and his campaigning by aircraft. He 

was one of the first politicians to use aircraft travel for 

political purposes, and used it effectively. Hitler came in 

second in both rounds of the election, garnering more than 35 

per cent of the vote in the final election. Although he lost to 

Hindenburg, this election established Hitler as a strong force 

in German politics.  

Appointment as chancellor 

The absence of an effective government prompted two 

influential politicians, Franz von Papen and Alfred Hugenberg, 

along with several other industrialists and businessmen, to 

write a letter to Hindenburg. The signers urged Hindenburg to 

appoint Hitler as leader of a government "independent from 

parliamentary parties", which could turn into a movement that 

would "enrapture millions of people".  

Hindenburg reluctantly agreed to appoint Hitler as chancellor 

after two further parliamentary elections – in July and 

November 1932 – had not resulted in the formation of a 

majority government. Hitler headed a short-lived coalition 

government formed by the Nazi Party (which had the most 

seats in the Reichstag) and Hugenberg's party, the German 

National People's Party (DNVP). On 30 January 1933, the new 

cabinet was sworn in during a brief ceremony in Hindenburg's 

office. The Nazi Party gained three posts: Hitler was named 

chancellor, Wilhelm Frick Minister of the Interior, and 
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Hermann Göring Minister of the Interior for Prussia. Hitler had 

insisted on the ministerial positions as a way to gain control 

over the police in much of Germany.  

Reichstag fire and March elections 

As chancellor, Hitler worked against attempts by the Nazi 

Party's opponents to build a majority government. Because of 

the political stalemate, he asked Hindenburg to again dissolve 

the Reichstag, and elections were scheduled for early March. 

On 27 February 1933, the Reichstag building was set on fire. 

Göring blamed a communist plot, because Dutch communist 

Marinus van der Lubbe was found in incriminating 

circumstances inside the burning building. Until the 1960s, 

some historians including William L. Shirer and Alan Bullock 

thought the Nazi Party itself was responsible, the current 

consensus of nearly all historians is that van der Lubbe 

actually set the fire alone. At Hitler's urging, Hindenburg 

responded by signing the Reichstag Fire Decree of 28 February, 

drafted by the Nazis, which suspended basic rights and allowed 

detention without trial. The decree was permitted under Article 

48 of the Weimar Constitution, which gave the president the 

power to take emergency measures to protect public safety and 

order. Activities of the German Communist Party (KPD) were 

suppressed, and some 4,000 KPD members were arrested.  

In addition to political campaigning, the Nazi Party engaged in 

paramilitary violence and the spread of anti-communist 
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propaganda in the days preceding the election. On election 

day, 6 March 1933, the Nazi Party's share of the vote increased 

to 43.9 per cent, and the party acquired the largest number of 

seats in parliament. Hitler's party failed to secure an absolute 

majority, necessitating another coalition with the DNVP.  

Day of Potsdam and the Enabling Act 

On 21 March 1933, the new Reichstag was constituted with an 

opening ceremony at the Garrison Church in Potsdam. This 

"Day of Potsdam" was held to demonstrate unity between the 

Nazi movement and the oldPrussian elite and military. Hitler 

appeared in a morning coat and humbly greeted Hindenburg.  

To achieve full political control despite not having an absolute 

majority in parliament, Hitler's government brought the 

Ermächtigungsgesetz (Enabling Act) to a vote in the newly 

elected Reichstag. The Act – officially titled the Gesetz zur 

Behebung der Not von Volk und Reich ("Law to Remedy the 

Distress of People and Reich") – gave Hitler's cabinet the power 

to enact laws without the consent of the Reichstag for four 

years. These laws could (with certain exceptions) deviate from 

the constitution. Since it would affect the constitution, the 

Enabling Act required a two-thirds majority to pass. Leaving 

nothing to chance, the Nazis used the provisions of the 

Reichstag Fire Decree to arrest all 81 Communist deputies (in 

spite of their virulent campaign against the party, the Nazis 
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had allowed the KPD to contest the election) and prevent 

several Social Democrats from attending.  

On 23 March 1933, the Reichstag assembled at the Kroll Opera 

House under turbulent circumstances. Ranks of SA men served 

as guards inside the building, while large groups outside 

opposing the proposed legislation shouted slogans and threats 

towards the arriving members of parliament. The position of 

the Centre Party, the third-largest party in the Reichstag, was 

decisive. After Hitler verbally promised party leader Ludwig 

Kaas that Hindenburg would retain his power of veto, Kaas 

announced the Centre Party would support the Enabling Act. 

The Act passed by a vote of 441–84, with all parties except the 

Social Democrats voting in favour. The Enabling Act, along 

with the Reichstag Fire Decree, transformed Hitler's 

government into a de facto legal dictatorship.  

Dictatorship 

At the risk of appearing to talk nonsense I tell you that the 

National Socialist movement will go on for 1,000 years! ... 

Don't forget how people laughed at me 15 years ago when I 

declared that one day I would govern Germany. They laugh 

now, just as foolishly, when I declare that I shall remain in 

power! 

—  Adolf Hitler to a British correspondent in Berlin, June 1934 
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Having achieved full control over the legislative and executive 

branches of government, Hitler and his allies began to 

suppress the remaining opposition. The Social Democratic 

Party was banned and its assets seized. While many trade 

union delegates were in Berlin for May Day activities, SA 

stormtroopers occupied union offices around the country. On 2 

May 1933, all trade unions were forced to dissolve and their 

leaders were arrested. Some were sent to concentration camps. 

The German Labour Front was formed as an umbrella 

organisation to represent all workers, administrators, and 

company owners, thus reflecting the concept of Nazism in the 

spirit of Hitler's Volksgemeinschaft ("people's community").  

By the end of June, the other parties had been intimidated into 

disbanding. This included the Nazis' nominal coalition partner, 

the DNVP; with the SA's help, Hitler forced its leader, 

Hugenberg, to resign on 29 June. On 14 July 1933, the Nazi 

Party was declared the only legal political party in Germany. 

The demands of the SA for more political and military power 

caused anxiety among military, industrial, and political 

leaders. In response, Hitler purged the entire SA leadership in 

the Night of the Long Knives, which took place from 30 June to 

2 July 1934. Hitler targeted Ernst Röhm and other SA leaders 

who, along with a number of Hitler's political adversaries (such 

as Gregor Strasser and former chancellor Kurt von Schleicher), 

were rounded up, arrested, and shot. While the international 
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community and some Germans were shocked by the murders, 

many in Germany believed Hitler was restoring order.  

On 2 August 1934, Hindenburg died. The previous day, the 

cabinet had enacted the "Law Concerning the Highest State 

Office of the Reich". This law stated that upon Hindenburg's 

death, the office of president would be abolished and its 

powers merged with those of the chancellor. Hitler thus 

became head of state as well as head of government, and was 

formally named as Führer und Reichskanzler (leader and 

chancellor), although Reichskanzler was eventually quietly 

dropped. With this action, Hitler eliminated the last legal 

remedy by which he could be removed from office.  

As head of state, Hitler became commander-in-chief of the 

armed forces. Immediately after Hindenburg's death, at the 

instigation of the leadership of the Reichswehr, the traditional 

loyalty oath of soldiers was altered to affirm loyalty to Hitler 

personally, by name, rather than to the office of commander-

in-chief (which was later renamed to supreme commander) or 

the state. On 19 August, the merger of the presidency with the 

chancellorship was approved by 88 per cent of the electorate 

voting in a plebiscite.  

In early 1938, Hitler used blackmail to consolidate his hold 

over the military by instigating the Blomberg–Fritsch affair. 

Hitler forced his War Minister, Field Marshal Werner von 

Blomberg, to resign by using a police dossier that showed that 
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Blomberg's new wife had a record for prostitution. Army 

commander Colonel-General Werner von Fritsch was removed 

after the Schutzstaffel (SS) produced allegations that he had 

engaged in a homosexual relationship. Both men had fallen 

into disfavour because they objected to Hitler's demand to 

make the Wehrmacht ready for war as early as 1938. Hitler 

assumed Blomberg's title of Commander-in-Chief, thus taking 

personal command of the armed forces. He replaced the 

Ministry of War with the Oberkommando der Wehrmacht (OKW), 

headed by General Wilhelm Keitel. On the same day, sixteen 

generals were stripped of their commands and 44 more were 

transferred; all were suspected of not being sufficiently pro-

Nazi. By early February 1938, twelve more generals had been 

removed.  

Hitler took care to give his dictatorship the appearance of 

legality. Many of his decrees were explicitly based on the 

Reichstag Fire Decree and hence on Article 48 of the Weimar 

Constitution. The Reichstag renewed the Enabling Act twice, 

each time for a four-year period. While elections to the 

Reichstag were still held (in 1933, 1936, and 1938), voters 

were presented with a single list of Nazis and pro-Nazi "guests" 

which carried with well over 90 per cent of the vote. These 

elections were held in far-from-secret conditions; the Nazis 

threatened severe reprisals against anyone who did not vote or 

dared to vote no.  
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Nazi Germany 

Economy and culture 

In August 1934, Hitler appointed Reichsbank President 

Hjalmar Schacht as Minister of Economics, and in the following 

year, as Plenipotentiary for War Economy in charge of 

preparing the economy for war. Reconstruction and 

rearmament were financed through Mefo bills, printing money, 

and seizing the assets of people arrested as enemies of the 

State, including Jews.  

Unemployment fell from six million in 1932 to one million in 

1936. Hitler oversaw one of the largest infrastructure 

improvement campaigns in German history, leading to the 

construction of dams, autobahns, railroads, and other civil 

works. Wages were slightly lower in the mid to late 1930s 

compared with wages during the Weimar Republic, while the 

cost of living increased by 25 per cent. The average work week 

increased during the shift to a war economy; by 1939, the 

average German was working between 47 and 50 hours a week.  

Hitler's government sponsored architecture on an immense 

scale. Albert Speer, instrumental in implementing Hitler's 

classicist reinterpretation of German culture, was placed in 

charge of the proposed architectural renovations of Berlin. 

Despite a threatened multi-nation boycott, Germany hosted the 
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1936 Olympic Games. Hitler officiated at the opening 

ceremonies and attended events at both the Winter Games in 

Garmisch-Partenkirchen and the Summer Games in Berlin.  

Rearmament and new alliances 

In a meeting with German military leaders on 3 February 1933, 

Hitler spoke of "conquest for Lebensraum in the East and its 

ruthless Germanisation" as his ultimate foreign policy 

objectives. In March, Prince Bernhard Wilhelm von Bülow, 

secretary at the Auswärtiges Amt (Foreign Office), issued a 

statement of major foreign policy aims: Anschluss with Austria, 

the restoration of Germany's national borders of 1914, 

rejection of military restrictions under the Treaty of Versailles, 

the return of the former German colonies in Africa, and a 

German zone of influence in Eastern Europe. Hitler found 

Bülow's goals to be too modest. In speeches during this period, 

he stressed the peaceful goals of his policies and a willingness 

to work within international agreements. At the first meeting of 

his cabinet in 1933, Hitler prioritised military spending over 

unemployment relief. 

Germany withdrew from the League of Nations and the World 

Disarmament Conference in October 1933. In January 1935, 

over 90 per cent of the people of the Saarland, then under 

League of Nations administration, voted to unite with 

Germany. That March, Hitler announced an expansion of the 

Wehrmacht to 600,000 members – six times the number 
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permitted by the Versailles Treaty – including development of 

an air force (Luftwaffe) and an increase in the size of the navy 

(Kriegsmarine). Britain, France, Italy, and the League of 

Nations condemned these violations of the Treaty, but did 

nothing to stop it. The Anglo-German Naval Agreement (AGNA) 

of 18 June allowed German tonnage to increase to 35 per cent 

of that of the British navy. Hitler called the signing of the 

AGNA "the happiest day of his life", believing that the 

agreement marked the beginning of the Anglo-German alliance 

he had predicted in Mein Kampf. France and Italy were not 

consulted before the signing, directly undermining the League 

of Nations and setting the Treaty of Versailles on the path 

towards irrelevance.  

Germany reoccupied the demilitarised zone in the Rhineland in 

March 1936, in violation of the Versailles Treaty. Hitler also 

sent troops to Spain to support General Franco during the 

Spanish Civil War after receiving an appeal for help in July 

1936. At the same time, Hitler continued his efforts to create 

an Anglo-German alliance. In August 1936, in response to a 

growing economic crisis caused by his rearmament efforts, 

Hitler ordered Göring to implement a Four Year Plan to prepare 

Germany for war within the next four years. The plan 

envisaged an all-out struggle between "Judeo-Bolshevism" and 

German Nazism, which in Hitler's view required a committed 

effort of rearmament regardless of the economic costs.  
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In October 1936, Count Galeazzo Ciano, foreign minister of 

Mussolini's government, visited Germany, where he signed a 

Nine-Point Protocol as an expression of rapprochement and had 

a personal meeting with Hitler. On 1 November, Mussolini 

declared an "axis" between Germany and Italy. On 25 

November, Germany signed the Anti-Comintern Pact with 

Japan. Britain, China, Italy, and Poland were also invited to 

join the Anti-Comintern Pact, but only Italy signed in 1937. 

Hitler abandoned his plan of an Anglo-German alliance, 

blaming "inadequate" British leadership. At a meeting in the 

Reich Chancellery with his foreign ministers and military 

chiefs that November, Hitler restated his intention of acquiring 

Lebensraum for the German people. He ordered preparations 

for war in the East, to begin as early as 1938 and no later than 

1943. In the event of his death, the conference minutes, 

recorded as the Hossbach Memorandum, were to be regarded 

as his "political testament". He felt that a severe decline in 

living standards in Germany as a result of the economic crisis 

could only be stopped by military aggression aimed at seizing 

Austria and Czechoslovakia. Hitler urged quick action before 

Britain and France gained a permanent lead in the arms race. 

In early 1938, in the wake of the Blomberg–Fritsch Affair, 

Hitler asserted control of the military-foreign policy apparatus, 

dismissing Neurath as foreign minister and appointing himself 

as War Minister. From early 1938 onwards, Hitler was carrying 

out a foreign policy ultimately aimed at war.  
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World War II 

Early diplomatic successes 

Alliance with Japan 

In February 1938, on the advice of his newly appointed foreign 

minister, the strongly pro-Japanese Joachim von Ribbentrop, 

Hitler ended the Sino-German alliance with the Republic of 

China to instead enter into an alliance with the more modern 

and powerful Empire of Japan. Hitler announced German 

recognition of Manchukuo, the Japanese-occupied state in 

Manchuria, and renounced German claims to their former 

colonies in the Pacific held by Japan. Hitler ordered an end to 

arms shipments to China and recalled all German officers 

working with the Chinese Army. In retaliation, Chinese General 

Chiang Kai-shek cancelled all Sino-German economic 

agreements, depriving the Germans of many Chinese raw 

materials.  

Austria and Czechoslovakia 

On 12 March 1938, Hitler announced the unification of Austria 

with Nazi Germany in the Anschluss. Hitler then turned his 

attention to the ethnic German population of the 

Sudetenlandregion of Czechoslovakia. On 28–29 March 1938, 

Hitler held a series of secret meetings in Berlin with Konrad 

Henlein of the Sudeten German Party, the largest of the ethnic 



Rise of Totalitarianism 
 

65 

German parties of the Sudetenland. The men agreed that 

Henlein would demand increased autonomy for Sudeten 

Germans from the Czechoslovakian government, thus providing 

a pretext for German military action against Czechoslovakia. In 

April 1938 Henlein told the foreign minister of Hungary that 

"whatever the Czech government might offer, he would always 

raise still higher demands ... he wanted to sabotage an 

understanding by any means because this was the only method 

to blow up Czechoslovakia quickly". In private, Hitler 

considered the Sudeten issue unimportant; his real intention 

was a war of conquest against Czechoslovakia.  

In April Hitler ordered the OKW to prepare for Fall Grün (Case 

Green), the code name for an invasion of Czechoslovakia. As a 

result of intense French and British diplomatic pressure, on 5 

September Czechoslovakian President Edvard Beneš unveiled 

the "Fourth Plan" for constitutional reorganisation of his 

country, which agreed to most of Henlein's demands for 

Sudeten autonomy. Henlein's party responded to Beneš' offer 

by instigating a series of violent clashes with the 

Czechoslovakian police that led to the declaration of martial 

law in certain Sudeten districts.  

Germany was dependent on imported oil; a confrontation with 

Britain over the Czechoslovakian dispute could curtail 

Germany's oil supplies. This forced Hitler to call off Fall Grün, 

originally planned for 1 October 1938. On 29 September Hitler, 
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Neville Chamberlain, Édouard Daladier, and Mussolini 

attended a one-day conference in Munich that led to the 

Munich Agreement, which handed over the Sudetenland 

districts to Germany.  

Chamberlain was satisfied with the Munich conference, calling 

the outcome "peace for our time", while Hitler was angered 

about the missed opportunity for war in 1938; he expressed his 

disappointment in a speech on 9 October in Saarbrücken.  

In Hitler's view, the British-brokered peace, although 

favourable to the ostensible German demands, was a 

diplomatic defeat which spurred his intent of limiting British 

power to pave the way for the eastern expansion of Germany. 

As a result of the summit, Hitler was selected Time magazine's 

Man of the Year for 1938.  

In late 1938 and early 1939, the continuing economic crisis 

caused by rearmament forced Hitler to make major defence 

cuts. In his "Export or die" speech of 30 January 1939, he 

called for an economic offensive to increase German foreign 

exchange holdings to pay for raw materials such as high-grade 

iron needed for military weapons.  

On 14 March 1939, under threat from Hungary, Slovakia 

declared independence and received protection from Germany. 

The next day, in violation of the Munich accord and possibly as 

a result of the deepening economic crisis requiring additional 
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assets, Hitler ordered the Wehrmacht to invade the Czech rump 

state, and from Prague Castle he proclaimed the territory a 

German protectorate.  

Start of World War II 

In private discussions in 1939, Hitler declared Britain the 

main enemy to be defeated and that Poland's obliteration was a 

necessary prelude for that goal. The eastern flank would be 

secured and land would be added to Germany's Lebensraum. 

Offended by the British "guarantee" on 31 March 1939 of 

Polish independence, he said, "I shall brew them a devil's 

drink". In a speech in Wilhelmshaven for the launch of the 

battleship Tirpitz on 1 April, he threatened to denounce the 

Anglo-German Naval Agreement if the British continued to 

guarantee Polish independence, which he perceived as an 

"encirclement" policy. Poland was to either become a German 

satellite state or it would be neutralised in order to secure the 

Reich's eastern flank and prevent a possible British blockade. 

Hitler initially favoured the idea of a satellite state, but upon 

its rejection by the Polish government, he decided to invade 

and made this the main foreign policy goal of 1939. On 3 April, 

Hitler ordered the military to prepare for Fall Weiss ("Case 

White"), the plan for invading Poland on 25 August. In a 

Reichstag speech on 28 April, he renounced both the Anglo-

German Naval Agreement and the German–Polish Non-

Aggression Pact. Historians such as William Carr, Gerhard 
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Weinberg, and Ian Kershaw have argued that one reason for 

Hitler's rush to war was his fear of an early death. He had 

repeatedly claimed that he must lead Germany into war before 

he got too old, as his successors might lack his strength of 

will.  

Hitler was concerned that a military attack against Poland 

could result in a premature war with Britain. Hitler's foreign 

minister and former Ambassador to London, Joachim von 

Ribbentrop, assured him that neither Britain nor France would 

honour their commitments to Poland. Accordingly, on 22 

August 1939 Hitler ordered a military mobilisation against 

Poland.  

This plan required tacit Soviet support, and the non-aggression 

pact (the Molotov–Ribbentrop Pact) between Germany and the 

Soviet Union, led by Joseph Stalin, included a secret 

agreement to partition Poland between the two countries. 

Contrary to Ribbentrop's prediction that Britain would sever 

Anglo-Polish ties, Britain and Poland signed the Anglo-Polish 

alliance on 25 August 1939. This, along with news from Italy 

that Mussolini would not honour the Pact of Steel, prompted 

Hitler to postpone the attack on Poland from 25 August to 1 

September. Hitler unsuccessfully tried to manoeuvre the 

British into neutrality by offering them a non-aggression 

guarantee on 25 August; he then instructed Ribbentrop to 

present a last-minute peace plan with an impossibly short time 
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limit in an effort to blame the imminent war on British and 

Polish inaction. On 1 September 1939, Germany invaded 

western Poland under the pretext of having been denied claims 

to the Free City of Danzig and the right to extraterritorial 

roads across the Polish Corridor, which Germany had ceded 

under the Versailles Treaty. In response, Britain and France 

declared war on Germany on 3 September, surprising Hitler 

and prompting him to angrily ask Ribbentrop, "Now what?" 

France and Britain did not act on their declarations 

immediately, and on 17 September, Soviet forces invaded 

eastern Poland.  

The fall of Poland was followed by what contemporary 

journalists dubbed the "Phoney War" or Sitzkrieg ("sitting 

war"). Hitler instructed the two newly appointed Gauleiters of 

north-western Poland, Albert Forster of Reichsgau Danzig-West 

Prussia and Arthur Greiser of Reichsgau Wartheland, to 

Germanise their areas, with "no questions asked" about how 

this was accomplished.  

In Forster's area, ethnic Poles merely had to sign forms stating 

that they had German blood. In contrast, Greiser agreed with 

Himmler and carried out an ethnic cleansing campaign towards 

Poles. Greiser soon complained that Forster was allowing 

thousands of Poles to be accepted as "racial" Germans and 

thus endangered German "racial purity". Hitler refrained from 

getting involved. This inaction has been advanced as an 
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example of the theory of "working towards the Führer", in 

which Hitler issued vague instructions and expected his 

subordinates to work out policies on their own.  

Another dispute pitched one side represented by Heinrich 

Himmler and Greiser, who championed ethnic cleansing in 

Poland, against another represented by Göring and Hans Frank 

(governor-general of occupied Poland), who called for turning 

Poland into the "granary" of the Reich. On 12 February 1940, 

the dispute was initially settled in favour of the Göring–Frank 

view, which ended the economically disruptive mass 

expulsions. On 15 May 1940, Himmler issued a memo entitled 

"Some Thoughts on the Treatment of Alien Population in the 

East", calling for the expulsion of the entire Jewish population 

of Europe into Africa and the reduction of the Polish 

population to a "leaderless class of labourers". Hitler called 

Himmler's memo "good and correct", and, ignoring Göring and 

Frank, implemented the Himmler–Greiser policy in Poland.  

On 9 April, German forces invaded Denmark and Norway. On 

the same day Hitler proclaimed the birth of the Greater 

Germanic Reich, his vision of a united empire of Germanic 

nations of Europe in which the Dutch, Flemish, and 

Scandinavians were joined into a "racially pure" polity under 

German leadership. In May 1940, Germany attacked France, 

and conquered Luxembourg, the Netherlands, and Belgium. 

These victories prompted Mussolini to have Italy join forces 



Rise of Totalitarianism 
 

71 

with Hitler on 10 June. France and Germany signed an 

armistice on 22 June. Kershaw notes that Hitler's popularity 

within Germany – and German support for the war – reached 

its peak when he returned to Berlin on 6 July from his tour of 

Paris. Following the unexpected swift victory, Hitler promoted 

twelve generals to the rank of field marshal during the 1940 

Field Marshal Ceremony.  

Britain, whose troops were forced to evacuate France by sea 

from Dunkirk, continued to fight alongside other British 

dominions in the Battle of the Atlantic. Hitler made peace 

overtures to the new British leader, Winston Churchill, and 

upon their rejection he ordered a series of aerial attacks on 

Royal Air Force airbases and radar stations in southeast 

England. On 7 September the systematic nightly bombing of 

London began. The German Luftwaffe failed to defeat the Royal 

Air Force in what became known as the Battle of Britain. By 

the end of September, Hitler realised that air superiority for 

the invasion of Britain (in Operation Sea Lion) could not be 

achieved, and ordered the operation postponed. The nightly air 

raids on British cities intensified and continued for months, 

including London, Plymouth, and Coventry.  

On 27 September 1940, the Tripartite Pact was signed in Berlin 

by Saburō Kurusu of Imperial Japan, Hitler, and Italian foreign 

minister Ciano, and later expanded to include Hungary, 

Romania, and Bulgaria, thus yielding the Axis powers. Hitler's 
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attempt to integrate the Soviet Union into the anti-British bloc 

failed after inconclusive talks between Hitler and Molotov in 

Berlin in November, and he ordered preparations for the 

invasion of the Soviet Union.  

In early 1941, German forces were deployed to North Africa, 

the Balkans, and the Middle East. In February, German forces 

arrived in Libya to bolster the Italian presence. In April, Hitler 

launched the invasion of Yugoslavia, quickly followed by the 

invasion of Greece. In May, German forces were sent to support 

Iraqi forces fighting against the British and to invade Crete.  

Path to defeat 

On 22 June 1941, contravening the Molotov–Ribbentrop Pact of 

1939, over three million Axis troops attacked the Soviet Union. 

This offensive (codenamed Operation Barbarossa) was intended 

to destroy the Soviet Union and seize its natural resources for 

subsequent aggression against the Western powers. The 

invasion conquered a huge area, including the Baltic republics, 

Belarus, and West Ukraine. By early August, Axis troops had 

advanced 500 km (310 mi) and won the Battle of Smolensk. 

Hitler ordered Army Group Centre to temporarily halt its 

advance to Moscow and divert its Panzer groups to aid in the 

encirclement of Leningrad and Kiev. His generals disagreed 

with this change, having advanced within 400 km (250 mi) of 

Moscow, and his decision caused a crisis among the military 

leadership. The pause provided the Red Army with an 
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opportunity to mobilise fresh reserves; historian Russel Stolfi 

considers it to be one of the major factors that caused the 

failure of the Moscow offensive, which was resumed in October 

1941 and ended disastrously in December. During this crisis, 

Hitler appointed himself as head of the Oberkommando des 

Heeres. 

On 7 December 1941, Japan attacked the American fleet based 

at Pearl Harbor, Hawaii. Four days later, Hitler declared war 

against the United States.  

On 18 December 1941, Himmler asked Hitler, "What to do with 

the Jews of Russia?", to which Hitler replied, "als Partisanen 

auszurotten" ("exterminate them as partisans"). Israeli 

historian Yehuda Bauer has commented that the remark is 

probably as close as historians will ever get to a definitive 

order from Hitler for the genocide carried out during the 

Holocaust.  

In late 1942, German forces were defeated in the second battle 

of El Alamein, thwarting Hitler's plans to seize the Suez Canal 

and the Middle East. Overconfident in his own military 

expertise following the earlier victories in 1940, Hitler became 

distrustful of his Army High Command and began to interfere 

in military and tactical planning, with damaging consequences. 

In December 1942 and January 1943, Hitler's repeated refusal 

to allow their withdrawal at the Battle of Stalingrad led to the 

almost total destruction of the 6th Army. Over 200,000 Axis 
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soldiers were killed and 235,000 were taken prisoner. 

Thereafter came a decisive strategic defeat at the Battle of 

Kursk. Hitler's military judgement became increasingly erratic, 

and Germany's military and economic position deteriorated, as 

did Hitler's health.  

Following the Allied invasion of Sicily in 1943, Mussolini was 

removed from power by King Victor Emmanuel III after a vote of 

no confidence of the Grand Council of Fascism. Marshal Pietro 

Badoglio, placed in charge of the government, soon 

surrendered to the Allies. Throughout 1943 and 1944, the 

Soviet Union steadily forced Hitler's armies into retreat along 

the Eastern Front. On 6 June 1944, the Western Allied armies 

landed in northern France in one of the largest amphibious 

operations in history, Operation Overlord. Many German 

officers concluded that defeat was inevitable and that 

continuing under Hitler's leadership would result in the 

complete destruction of the country.  

Between 1939 and 1945, there were many plans to assassinate 

Hitler, some of which proceeded to significant degrees. The 

most well known, the 20 July plot of 1944, came from within 

Germany and was at least partly driven by the increasing 

prospect of a German defeat in the war. Part of Operation 

Valkyrie, the plot involved Claus von Stauffenberg planting a 

bomb in one of Hitler's headquarters, the Wolf's Lair at 

Rastenburg. Hitler narrowly survived because staff officer 
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Heinz Brandt moved the briefcase containing the bomb behind 

a leg of the heavy conference table, which deflected much of 

the blast. Later, Hitler ordered savage reprisals resulting in the 

execution of more than 4,900 people.  

Defeat and death 

By late 1944, both the Red Army and the Western Allies were 

advancing into Germany. Recognising the strength and 

determination of the Red Army, Hitler decided to use his 

remaining mobile reserves against the American and British 

troops, which he perceived as far weaker. On 16 December, he 

launched the Ardennes Offensive to incite disunity among the 

Western Allies and perhaps convince them to join his fight 

against the Soviets. After some temporary successes, the 

offensive failed. With much of Germany in ruins in January 

1945, Hitler spoke on the radio: "However grave as the crisis 

may be at this moment, it will, despite everything, be mastered 

by our unalterable will." Acting on his view that Germany's 

military failures meant it had forfeited its right to survive as a 

nation, Hitler ordered the destruction of all German industrial 

infrastructure before it could fall into Allied hands. Minister 

for Armaments Albert Speer was entrusted with executing this 

scorched earth policy, but he secretly disobeyed the order. 

Hitler's hope to negotiate peace with the United States and 

Britain was encouraged by the death of US President Franklin 
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D. Roosevelt on 12 April 1945, but contrary to his 

expectations, this caused no rift among the Allies.  

On 20 April, his 56th birthday, Hitler made his last trip from 

the Führerbunker (Führer's shelter) to the surface. In the 

ruined garden of the Reich Chancellery, he awarded Iron 

Crosses to boy soldiers of the Hitler Youth, who were now 

fighting the Red Army at the front near Berlin. By 21 April, 

Georgy Zhukov's 1st Belorussian Front had broken through the 

defences of General Gotthard Heinrici's Army Group Vistula 

during the Battle of the Seelow Heights and advanced to the 

outskirts of Berlin. In denial about the dire situation, Hitler 

placed his hopes on the undermanned and under-equipped 

Armeeabteilung Steiner (Army Detachment Steiner), commanded 

by Felix Steiner. Hitler ordered Steiner to attack the northern 

flank of the salient, while the German Ninth Army was ordered 

to attack northward in a pincer attack.  

During a military conference on 22 April, Hitler asked about 

Steiner's offensive. He was told that the attack had not been 

launched and that the Soviets had entered Berlin. Hitler asked 

everyone except Wilhelm Keitel, Alfred Jodl, Hans Krebs, and 

Wilhelm Burgdorf to leave the room, then launched into a 

tirade against the treachery and incompetence of his 

commanders, culminating in his declaration – for the first time 

– that "everything was lost". He announced that he would stay 

in Berlin until the end and then shoot himself.  
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By 23 April the Red Army had surrounded Berlin, and Goebbels 

made a proclamation urging its citizens to defend the city.  

That same day, Göring sent a telegram from Berchtesgaden, 

arguing that since Hitler was isolated in Berlin, Göring should 

assume leadership of Germany. Göring set a deadline, after 

which he would consider Hitler incapacitated. Hitler responded 

by having Göring arrested, and in his last will and testament of 

29 April, he removed Göring from all government positions. On 

28 April Hitler discovered that Himmler, who had left Berlin on 

20 April, was trying to negotiate a surrender to the Western 

Allies. He ordered Himmler's arrest and had Hermann Fegelein 

(Himmler's SS representative at Hitler's HQ in Berlin) shot.  

After midnight on the night of 28–29 April, Hitler married Eva 

Braun in a small civil ceremony in the Führerbunker. Later that 

afternoon, Hitler was informed that Mussolini had been 

executed by the Italian resistance movement on the previous 

day; this presumably increased his determination to avoid 

capture.  

On 30 April 1945, Soviet troops were within a block or two of 

the Reich Chancellery when Hitler shot himself in the head and 

Braun bit into a cyanide capsule. Their corpses were carried 

outside to the garden behind the Reich Chancellery, where they 

were placed in a bomb crater, doused with petrol, and set on 

fire as the Red Army shelling continued. Grand Admiral Karl 
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Dönitz and Joseph Goebbels assumed Hitler's roles as head of 

state and chancellor respectively.  

Berlin surrendered on 2 May. The remains of Joseph and 

Magda Goebbels, the six Goebbels children, General Hans 

Krebs, and Hitler's dogs were repeatedly buried and exhumed. 

Hitler and Braun's remains were alleged to have been moved as 

well, but this is most likely Soviet disinformation. There is no 

evidence that any actual bodily remains of Hitler or Braun – 

with the exception of the dental bridges – were found by the 

Soviets, which could be identified as their remains. In 1946, 

the remains of Goebbels and the others were exhumed again 

and moved to the SMERSH unit's then new facility in 

Magdeburg, where they were buried in five wooden boxes on 21 

February. By 1970, the facility was under the control of the 

KGB and scheduled to be relinquished to East Germany. A KGB 

team was given detailed burial charts and on 4 April 1970 

secretly exhumed the remains of ten or eleven bodies "in an 

advanced state of decay". The remains were thoroughly burned 

and crushed, and the ashes thrown into the Biederitz river, a 

tributary of the nearby Elbe.  

The Holocaust 

The Holocaust and Germany's war in the East were based on 

Hitler's long-standing view that the Jews were the enemy of the 

German people and that Lebensraum was needed for Germany's 
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expansion. He focused on Eastern Europe for this expansion, 

aiming to defeat Poland and the Soviet Union and then 

removing or killing the Jews and Slavs. The Generalplan Ost 

(General Plan East) called for deporting the population of 

occupied Eastern Europe and the Soviet Union to West Siberia, 

for use as slave labour or to be murdered; the conquered 

territories were to be colonised by German or "Germanised" 

settlers. The goal was to implement this plan after the 

conquest of the Soviet Union, but when this failed, Hitler 

moved the plans forward. By January 1942, he had decided 

that the Jews, Slavs, and other deportees considered 

undesirable should be killed. 

The genocide was organised and executed by Heinrich Himmler 

and Reinhard Heydrich. The records of the Wannsee 

Conference, held on 20 January 1942 and led by Heydrich, 

with fifteen senior Nazi officials participating, provide the 

clearest evidence of systematic planning for the Holocaust. On 

22 February, Hitler was recorded saying, "we shall regain our 

health only by eliminating the Jews". Similarly, at a meeting in 

July 1941 with leading functionaries of the Eastern territories, 

Hitler said that the easiest way to quickly pacify the areas 

would be best achieved by "shooting everyone who even looks 

odd". Although no direct order from Hitler authorising the 

mass killings has surfaced, his public speeches, orders to his 

generals, and the diaries of Nazi officials demonstrate that he 

conceived and authorised the extermination of European 



Rise of Totalitarianism 
 

80 

Jewry. During the war, Hitler repeatedly stated his prophecy of 

1939 was being fulfilled, namely, that a world war would bring 

about the annihilation of the Jewish race. Hitler approved the 

Einsatzgruppen – killing squads that followed the German army 

through Poland, the Baltic, and the Soviet Union – and was 

well informed about their activities. By summer 1942, 

Auschwitz concentration camp was expanded to accommodate 

large numbers of deportees for killing or enslavement. Scores 

of other concentration camps and satellite camps were set up 

throughout Europe, with several camps devoted exclusively to 

extermination.  

Between 1939 and 1945, the Schutzstaffel (SS), assisted by 

collaborationist governments and recruits from occupied 

countries, was responsible for the deaths of at least eleven 

million non-combatants, including about 6 million Jews 

(representing two-thirds of the Jewish population of Europe), 

and between 200,000 and 1,500,000 Romani people.  

Deaths took place in concentration and extermination camps, 

ghettos, and through mass executions. Many victims of the 

Holocaust were gassed to death, while others died of starvation 

or disease or while working as slave labourers. In addition to 

eliminating Jews, the Nazis planned to reduce the population 

of the conquered territories by 30 million people through 

starvation in an action called the Hunger Plan. Food supplies 

would be diverted to the German army and German civilians. 
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Cities would be razed and the land allowed to return to forest 

or resettled by German colonists. Together, the Hunger Plan 

and Generalplan Ost would have led to the starvation of 

80 million people in the Soviet Union. These partially fulfilled 

plans resulted in additional deaths, bringing the total number 

of civilians and prisoners of war who died in the democide to 

an estimated 19.3 million people.  

Hitler's policies resulted in the killing of nearly two million 

non-Jewish Polish civilians, over three million Soviet prisoners 

of war, communists and other political opponents, 

homosexuals, the physically and mentally disabled, Jehovah's 

Witnesses, Adventists, and trade unionists. Hitler did not 

speak publicly about the killings, and seems never to have 

visited the concentration camps.  

The Nazis embraced the concept of racial hygiene. On 15 

September 1935, Hitler presented two laws – known as the 

Nuremberg Laws – to the Reichstag.  

The laws banned sexual relations and marriages between 

Aryans and Jews and were later extended to include "Gypsies, 

Negroes or their bastard offspring". The laws stripped all non-

Aryans of their German citizenship and forbade the 

employment of non-Jewish women under the age of 45 in 

Jewish households. Hitler's early eugenic policies targeted 

children with physical and developmental disabilities in a 

programme dubbed Action Brandt, and he later authorised a 
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euthanasia programme for adults with serious mental and 

physical disabilities, now referred to as Aktion T4.  

Leadership style 

Hitler ruled the Nazi Party autocratically by asserting the 

Führerprinzip (leader principle). The principle relied on 

absolute obedience of all subordinates to their superiors; thus 

he viewed the government structure as a pyramid, with himself 

– the infallible leader – at the apex. Rank in the party was not 

determined by elections – positions were filled through 

appointment by those of higher rank, who demanded 

unquestioning obedience to the will of the leader. Hitler's 

leadership style was to give contradictory orders to his 

subordinates and to place them into positions where their 

duties and responsibilities overlapped with those of others, to 

have "the stronger one [do] the job".  

In this way, Hitler fostered distrust, competition, and 

infighting among his subordinates to consolidate and maximise 

his own power. His cabinet never met after 1938, and he 

discouraged his ministers from meeting independently. Hitler 

typically did not give written orders; instead he communicated 

verbally, or had them conveyed through his close associate, 

Martin Bormann. He entrusted Bormann with his paperwork, 

appointments, and personal finances; Bormann used his 

position to control the flow of information and access to Hitler.  
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Hitler dominated his country's war effort during World War II 

to a greater extent than any other national leader. He 

strengthened his control of the armed forces in 1938, and 

subsequently made all major decisions regarding Germany's 

military strategy. His decision to mount a risky series of 

offensives against Norway, France, and the Low Countries in 

1940 against the advice of the military proved successful, 

though the diplomatic and military strategies he employed in 

attempts to force the United Kingdom out of the war ended in 

failure. Hitler deepened his involvement in the war effort by 

appointing himself commander-in-chief of the Army in 

December 1941; from this point forward he personally directed 

the war against the Soviet Union, while his military 

commanders facing the Western Allies retained a degree of 

autonomy.  

Hitler's leadership became increasingly disconnected from 

reality as the war turned against Germany, with the military's 

defensive strategies often hindered by his slow decision making 

and frequent directives to hold untenable positions. 

Nevertheless, he continued to believe that only his leadership 

could deliver victory. In the final months of the war Hitler 

refused to consider peace negotiations, regarding the 

destruction of Germany as preferable to surrender. The 

military did not challenge Hitler's dominance of the war effort, 

and senior officers generally supported and enacted his 

decisions.  
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Personal life 

Family 

Hitler created a public image as a celibate man without a 

domestic life, dedicated entirely to his political mission and 

the nation. He met his lover, Eva Braun, in 1929, and married 

her on 29 April 1945, one day before they both committed 

suicide.  

In September 1931, his half-niece, Geli Raubal, took her own 

life with Hitler's gun in his Munich apartment. It was 

rumoured among contemporaries that Geli was in a romantic 

relationship with him, and her death was a source of deep, 

lasting pain. Paula Hitler, the younger sister of Hitler and the 

last living member of his immediate family, died in June 1960.  

Views on religion 

Hitler was born to a practising Catholic mother and an 

anticlerical father; after leaving home Hitler never again 

attended Mass or received the sacraments.  

Speer states that Hitler railed against the church to his 

political associates and though he never officially left it, he 

had no attachment to it. He adds that Hitler felt that in the 

absence of organised religion, people would turn to mysticism, 

which he considered regressive. According to Speer, Hitler 
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believed that Japanese religious beliefs or Islam would have 

been a more suitable religion for Germans than Christianity, 

with its "meekness and flabbiness".  

Historian John S. Conway states that Hitler was fundamentally 

opposed to the Christian churches. According to Bullock, Hitler 

did not believe in God, was anticlerical, and held Christian 

ethics in contempt because they contravened his preferred view 

of "survival of the fittest". He favoured aspects of 

Protestantism that suited his own views, and adopted some 

elements of the Catholic Church's hierarchical organisation, 

liturgy, and phraseology.  

Hitler viewed the church as an important politically 

conservative influence on society, and he adopted a strategic 

relationship with it that "suited his immediate political 

purposes". In public, Hitler often praised Christian heritage 

and German Christian culture, though professing a belief in an 

"Aryan Jesus" who fought against the Jews. Any pro-Christian 

public rhetoric contradicted his private statements, which 

described Christianity as "absurdity" and nonsense founded on 

lies.  

According to a US Office of Strategic Services (OSS) report, 

"The Nazi Master Plan", Hitler planned to destroy the influence 

of Christian churches within the Reich. His eventual goal was 

the total elimination of Christianity. This goal informed Hitler's 

movement early on, but he saw it as inexpedient to publicly 
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express this extreme position. According to Bullock, Hitler 

wanted to wait until after the war before executing this plan.  

Speer wrote that Hitler had a negative view of Himmler's and 

Alfred Rosenberg's mystical notions and Himmler's attempt to 

mythologise the SS. Hitler was more pragmatic, and his 

ambitions centred on more practical concerns.  

Health 

Researchers have variously suggested that Hitler suffered from 

irritable bowel syndrome, skin lesions, irregular heartbeat, 

coronary sclerosis, Parkinson's disease, syphilis, giant-cell 

arteritis, and tinnitus. In a report prepared for the OSS in 

1943, Walter C. Langer of Harvard University described Hitler 

as a "neurotic psychopath". In his 1977 book The Psychopathic 

God: Adolf Hitler, historian Robert G. L. Waite proposes that he 

suffered from borderline personality disorder. Historians 

Henrik Eberle and Hans-Joachim Neumann consider that while 

he suffered from a number of illnesses including Parkinson's 

disease, Hitler did not experience pathological delusions and 

was always fully aware of, and therefore responsible for, his 

decisions. Theories about Hitler's medical condition are 

difficult to prove, and placing too much weight on them may 

have the effect of attributing many of the events and 

consequences of Nazi Germany to the possibly impaired 

physical health of one individual. According to Kershaw, it is 

better to take a broader view of German history by examining 
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what social forces led to the Nazi dictatorship and its policies 

rather than to pursue narrow explanations for the Holocaust 

and World War II based on only one person.  

Sometime in the 1930s Hitler adopted a mainly vegetarian diet, 

avoiding all meat and fish from 1942 onwards. At social events 

he sometimes gave graphic accounts of the slaughter of 

animals in an effort to make his guests shun meat. Bormann 

had a greenhouse constructed near the Berghof (near 

Berchtesgaden) to ensure a steady supply of fresh fruit and 

vegetables for Hitler.  

Hitler stopped drinking alcohol around the time he became 

vegetarian and thereafter only very occasionally drank beer or 

wine on social occasions. He was a non-smoker for most of his 

adult life, but smoked heavily in his youth (25 to 40 cigarettes 

a day); he eventually quit, calling the habit "a waste of money". 

He encouraged his close associates to quit by offering a gold 

watch to anyone able to break the habit. Hitler began using 

amphetamine occasionally after 1937 and became addicted to 

it in late 1942. Speer linked this use of amphetamine to 

Hitler's increasingly erratic behaviour and inflexible decision 

making (for example, rarely allowing military retreats).  

Prescribed 90 medications during the war years by his 

personal physician, Theodor Morell, Hitler took many pills each 

day for chronic stomach problems and other ailments. He 

regularly consumed amphetamine, barbiturates, opiates, and 
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cocaine, as well as potassium bromide and atropa belladonna 

(the latter in the form of Doktor Koster's Antigaspills). He 

suffered ruptured eardrums as a result of the 20 July plot 

bomb blast in 1944, and 200 wood splinters had to be removed 

from his legs. Newsreel footage of Hitler shows tremors in his 

left hand and a shuffling walk, which began before the war and 

worsened towards the end of his life. Ernst-Günther Schenck 

and several other doctors who met Hitler in the last weeks of 

his life also formed a diagnosis of Parkinson's disease.  

Legacy 

Hitler's suicide was likened by contemporaries to a "spell" 

being broken. Public support for Hitler had collapsed by the 

time of his death and few Germans mourned his passing; 

Kershaw argues that most civilians and military personnel 

were too busy adjusting to the collapse of the country or 

fleeing from the fighting to take any interest. According to 

historian John Toland, Nazism "burst like a bubble" without its 

leader.  

Kershaw describes Hitler as "the embodiment of modern 

political evil". "Never in history has such ruination – physical 

and moral – been associated with the name of one man", he 

adds. Hitler's political programme brought about a world war, 

leaving behind a devastated and impoverished Eastern and 

Central Europe. Germany suffered wholesale destruction, 
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characterised as Stunde Null (Zero Hour). Hitler's policies 

inflicted human suffering on an unprecedented scale; 

according to R. J. Rummel, the Nazi regime was responsible for 

the democidal killing of an estimated 19.3 million civilians and 

prisoners of war. In addition, 28.7 million soldiers and 

civilians died as a result of military action in the European 

Theatre of World War II. The number of civilians killed during 

the Second World War was unprecedented in the history of 

warfare. Historians, philosophers, and politicians often use the 

word "evil" to describe the Nazi regime. Many European 

countries have criminalised both the promotion of Nazism and 

Holocaust denial.  

Historian Friedrich Meinecke described Hitler as "one of the 

great examples of the singular and incalculable power of 

personality in historical life". English historian Hugh Trevor-

Roper saw him as "among the 'terrible simplifiers' of history, 

the most systematic, the most historical, the most 

philosophical, and yet the coarsest, cruelest, least 

magnanimous conqueror the world has ever known". For the 

historian John M. Roberts, Hitler's defeat marked the end of a 

phase of European history dominated by Germany. In its place 

emerged the Cold War, a global confrontation between the 

Western Bloc, dominated by the United States and other NATO 

nations, and the Eastern Bloc, dominated by the Soviet Union. 

Historian Sebastian Haffner asserts that without Hitler and the 

displacement of the Jews, the modern nation state of Israel 
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would not exist. He contends that without Hitler, the de-

colonisation of former European spheres of influence would 

have been postponed. Further, Haffner claims that other than 

Alexander the Great, Hitler had a more significant impact than 

any other comparable historical figure, in that he too caused a 

wide range of worldwide changes in a relatively short time 

span.  

In propaganda 

Hitler exploited documentary films and newsreels to inspire a 

cult of personality. He was involved and appeared in a series of 

propaganda films throughout his political career, many made 

by Leni Riefenstahl, regarded as a pioneer of modern 

filmmaking. Hitler's propaganda film appearances include:  

• Der Sieg des Glaubens (Victory of Faith, 1933) 

• Triumph des Willens (Triumph of the Will, 1935) 

• Tag der Freiheit: Unsere Wehrmacht (Day of 

Freedom: Our Armed Forces, 1935) 

• Olympia (1938) 

  



Chapter 3 

Spanish Civil War 

The Spanish Civil War (Spanish: Guerra Civil Española) was a 

civil war in Spain fought from 1936 to 1939. Republicans loyal 

to the left-leaning Popular Front government of the Second 

Spanish Republic, in alliance with anarchists, of the 

communist and syndicalist variety, fought against an 

insurrection by the Nationalists, an alliance of Falangists, 

monarchists, fascists, conservatives and traditionalists, led by 

a military group among whom General Francisco Franco soon 

achieved a preponderant role. Due to the international political 

climate at the time, the war had many facets and was variously 

viewed as class struggle, a religious struggle, a struggle 

between dictatorship and republican democracy, between 

revolution and counterrevolution, and between fascism and 

communism. According to Claude Bowers, U.S. ambassador to 

Spain during the war, it was the "dress rehearsal" for World 

War II. The Nationalists won the war, which ended in early 

1939, and ruled Spain until Franco's death in November 1975.  

The war began after a pronunciamiento (a declaration of 

military opposition, of revolt) against the Republican 

government by a group of generals of the Spanish Republican 

Armed Forces, with General Emilio Mola as the primary 

planner and leader and having General José Sanjurjo as a 

figurehead. The government at the time was a coalition of 
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Republicans, supported in the Cortes by communist and 

socialist parties, under the leadership of centre-left President 

Manuel Azaña. The Nationalist group was supported by a 

number of conservative groups, including CEDA, monarchists, 

including both the opposing Alfonsists and the religious 

conservative Carlists, and the Falange Española de las JONS, a 

fascist political party. After the deaths of Sanjurjo, Emilio Mola 

and Manuel Goded Llopis, Franco emerged as the remaining 

leader of the Nationalist side.  

The coup was supported by military units in Morocco, 

Pamplona, Burgos, Zaragoza, Valladolid, Cádiz, Córdoba, and 

Seville. However, rebelling units in almost all important 

cities—such as Madrid, Barcelona, Valencia, Bilbao, and 

Málaga—did not gain control, and those cities remained under 

the control of the government. This left Spain militarily and 

politically divided. The Nationalists and the Republican 

government fought for control of the country. The Nationalist 

forces received munitions, soldiers, and air support from 

Fascist Italy and Nazi Germany, while the Republican side 

received support from the Soviet Union and Mexico. Other 

countries, such as the United Kingdom, the French Third 

Republic, and the United States, continued to recognise the 

Republican government, but followed an official policy of non-

intervention. Despite this policy, tens of thousands of citizens 

from non-interventionist countries directly participated in the 

conflict. They fought mostly in the pro-Republican 
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International Brigades, which also included several thousand 

exiles from pro-Nationalist regimes.  

The Nationalists advanced from their strongholds in the south 

and west, capturing most of Spain's northern coastline in 

1937. They also besieged Madrid and the area to its south and 

west for much of the war. After much of Catalonia was 

captured in 1938 and 1939, and Madrid cut off from 

Barcelona, the Republican military position became hopeless. 

Following the fall without resistance of Barcelona in January 

1939, the Francoist regime was recognised by France and the 

United Kingdom in February 1939. On March 5, 1939, Colonel 

Segismundo Casado led a military coup against the Republican 

government. Following internal conflict between Republican 

factions in Madrid in the same month, Franco entered the 

capital and declared victory on 1 April 1939. Hundreds of 

thousands of Spaniards fled to refugee camps in southern 

France. Those associated with the losing Republicans who 

stayed were persecuted by the victorious Nationalists. Franco 

established a dictatorship in which all right-wing parties were 

fused into the structure of the Franco regime.  

The war became notable for the passion and political division it 

inspired and for the many atrocities that occurred, on both 

sides. Organised purges occurred in territory captured by 

Franco's forces so they could consolidate their future regime. 

Mass executions on a lesser scale also took place in areas 
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controlled by the Republicans, with the participation of local 

authorities varying from location to location.  

Background 

The background of the Spanish Civil War dates back to the 

end of the 19th century, when the owners of large estates, 

called latifundios, held most of the power in a land-based 

oligarchy. The landowners' power was unsuccessfully 

challenged by the industrial and merchant sectors. In 1868 

popular uprisings led to the overthrow of Queen Isabella II of 

the House of Bourbon. In 1873 Isabella's replacement, King 

Amadeo I of the House of Savoy, abdicated due to increasing 

political pressure, and the short-lived First Spanish Republic 

was proclaimed. After the restoration of the Bourbons in 

December 1874, Carlists and anarchists emerged in opposition 

to the monarchy. Alejandro Lerroux helped bring republicanism 

to the fore in Catalonia, where poverty was particularly acute. 

Growing resentment of conscription and of the military 

culminated in the Tragic Week in Barcelona in 1909. After the 

First World War, the working class, the industrial class, and 

the military united in hopes of removing the corrupt central 

government, but were unsuccessful. Fears of communism grew. 

A military coup brought Miguel Primo de Rivera to power in 

1923, and he ran Spain as a military dictatorship. Support for 

his regime gradually faded, and he resigned in January 1930. 

There was little support for the monarchy in the major cities, 
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and King Alfonso XIII abdicated; the Second Spanish Republic 

was formed, whose power would remain until the culmination 

of the Spanish Civil War. Monarchists would continue to 

oppose the Republic.  

The revolutionary committee headed by Niceto Alcalá-Zamora 

became the provisional government, with Zamora as the 

President and Head of State. The Republic had broad support 

from all segments of society; elections in June 1931 returned a 

large majority of Republicans and Socialists.  

With the onset of the Great Depression, the government 

attempted to assist rural Spain by instituting an eight-hour 

day and giving tenure to farm workers. Land reform and 

working conditions remained important issues throughout the 

lifetime of the Republic. Fascism remained a reactive threat, 

helped by controversial reforms to the military.  

In December a new reformist, liberal, and democratic 

constitution was declared. The constitution secularised the 

government, and this, coupled with their slowness to respond 

to a wave of anti-clerical violence prompted committed 

Catholics to become disillusioned with the incumbent coalition 

government. In October 1931 Manuel Azaña became Prime 

Minister of a minority government. The Right won the elections 

of 1933 following an unsuccessful uprising by General José 

Sanjurjo in August 1932, who would later lead the coup that 

started the civil war.  
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Events in the period following November 1933, called the 

"black biennium", seemed to make a civil war more likely. 

Alejandro Lerroux of the Radical Republican Party (RRP) 

formed a government with the support of CEDA and rolled back 

all major changes made under the previous administration, he 

also granted amnesty to General José Sanjurjo, who had 

attempted an unsuccessful coup in 1932. Some monarchists 

moved to the Fascist Falange Española to help achieve their 

aims. In response, the socialist party (PSOE) became more 

extreme, setting up a revolutionary committee and training the 

socialist youth in secret. Open violence occurred in the streets 

of Spanish cities and militancy continued to increase right up 

until the start of the civil war, reflecting a movement towards 

radical upheaval rather than peaceful democratic means as a 

solution to Spain's problems. In the last months of 1934, two 

government collapses brought members of the Spanish 

Confederation of the Autonomous Right (CEDA) into the 

government, making it more right-wing. Farm workers' wages 

were halved, and the military was purged of republican 

members and reformed. A Popular Front alliance was 

organised, which won the 1936 elections. Azaña led a weak 

minority government, but soon replaced Zamora as president in 

April. Prime Minister Casares failed to heed warnings of a 

military conspiracy involving several generals, who decided 

that the government had to be replaced if the dissolution of 

Spain was to be prevented. They organised a military coup in 

July, which started the Spanish Civil War.  
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Constitutional monarchy 

19th century 

The 19th century was a turbulent time for Spain. Those in 

favour of reforming Spain's government vied for political power 

with conservatives, who tried to prevent reforms from taking 

place. Some liberals, in a tradition that had started with the 

Spanish Constitution of 1812, sought to limit the power of the 

monarchy of Spain and to establish a liberal state. The reforms 

of 1812 did not last after King Ferdinand VII dissolved the 

Constitution and ended a short-lived liberal government with 

French royalist military assistance. Twelve successful coups 

were carried out between 1814 and 1874. There were several 

attempts to realign the political system to match social reality. 

Until the 1850s, the economy of Spain was primarily based on 

agriculture. There was little development of a bourgeois 

industrial or commercial class. The land-based oligarchy 

remained powerful; a small number of people held large estates 

(called latifundia) as well as all the important government 

positions. The landowners' power was challenged by the 

industrial and merchant sectors, largely unsuccessfully.  

In 1868 popular uprisings led to the overthrow of Queen 

Isabella II of the House of Bourbon. Two distinct factors led to 

the uprisings: a series of urban riots, and a liberal movement 

within the middle classes and the military (led by General Joan 
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Prim), who were concerned about the ultra-conservatism of the 

monarchy. In 1873 Isabella's replacement, King Amadeo I of 

the House of Savoy, abdicated due to increasing political 

pressure, and the First Spanish Republic was proclaimed. 

However, the intellectuals behind the Republic were powerless 

to prevent a descent into chaos. Uprisings were crushed by the 

military. The old monarchy returned with the restoration of the 

Bourbons in December 1874, as reform was deemed less 

important than peace and stability. Despite the introduction of 

universal male suffrage in 1890, elections were controlled by 

local political bosses (caciques).  

The most traditionalist sectors of the political sphere 

systematically tried to prevent liberal reforms and to sustain 

the patrilineal monarchy. The Carlists – supporters of Infante 

Carlos and his descendants – fought to promote Spanish 

tradition and Catholicism against the liberalism of successive 

Spanish governments. The Carlists attempted to restore the 

historic liberties and broad regional autonomy granted to the 

Basque Country and Catalonia by their fueros (regional 

charters). At times they allied with nationalists (separate from 

the National Faction during the civil war itself), including 

during the Carlist Wars.  

Periodically, anarchism became popular among the working 

class, and was far stronger in Spain than anywhere else in 
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Europe at the time. Anarchists were easily defeated in clashes 

with government forces.  

20th century 

In 1897 an Italian anarchist assassinated Prime Minister 

Antonio Cánovas del Castillo, motivated by a growing number 

of arrests and the use of torture by the government. The loss of 

Cuba, Spain's last valuable colony, in the Spanish–American 

War of 1898 hit exports from Catalonia hardest; there were 

acts of terrorism and actions by agents provocateurs in 

Barcelona. In the first two decades of the 20th century, the 

industrial working class grew in number. There was a growing 

discontent in the Basque country and Catalonia, where much 

of Spain's industry was based. They believed that the 

government favoured agrarianism and therefore failed to 

represent their interests. The average illiteracy rate was 64%, 

with considerable regional variation. Poverty in some areas was 

great and mass emigration to the New World occurred in the 

first decade of the century.  

Spain's socialist party, the Spanish Socialist Workers' Party 

(Spanish: Partido Socialista Obrero Español, PSOE) and its 

associated trade union, the Unión General de Trabajadores 

(UGT), gained support. The UGT grew from 8,000 members in 

1908 to 200,000 in 1920. Branch offices (Casas del pueblo) of 

the unions were established in major cities. The UGT was 

constantly fearful of losing ground to the anarchists. It was 
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respected for its discipline during strikes. However, it was 

centrist and anti-Catalan, with only 10,000 members in 

Barcelona as late as 1936. The PSOE and the UGT were based 

on a simple form of Marxism, one that assumed an inevitable 

revolution, and were isolationist in character. When the UGT 

moved their headquarters from Barcelona to Madrid in 1899, 

many industrial workers in Catalonia were no longer able to 

access it. Some elements of the PSOE recognised the need for 

cooperation with republican parties.  

In 1912 the Reformist Party was founded, which attracted 

intellectuals. Figures like its leader, Alejandro Lerroux, helped 

attract wide support from the working class. His advocacy of 

anti-clericalism made him a successful demagogue in 

Barcelona. He argued that the Catholic Church was 

inseparable from the system of oppression the people were 

under. It was around this time that republicanism came to the 

fore.  

The military was keen to avoid the break-up of the state and 

was increasingly inward-looking following the loss of Cuba. 

Regional nationalism, perceived as separatism, was frowned 

upon. In 1905 the army attacked the headquarters of two 

satirical magazines in Catalonia believed to be undermining 

the government. To appease the military, the government 

outlawed negative comments about the military or Spain itself 

in the Spanish press. Resentment of the military and of 
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conscription grew with the disastrous Rif War of 1909 in 

Spanish Morocco. Lerroux's support of the army's aims lost 

him support. Events culminated in the Tragic Week (Spanish: 

Semana Trágica) in Barcelona in 1909, when working class 

groups rioted against the call-up of reservists. 48 churches 

and similar institutions were burned in anti-clerical attacks. 

The riot was finally ended by the military; 1,725 members of 

such groups were put on trial, with five people sentenced to 

death. These events led to the establishment of the National 

Confederation of Labour (Spanish: Confederación Nacional del 

Trabajo, CNT), an anarchist-controlled trade union committed 

to anarcho-syndicalism. It had over a million members by 

1923.  

Increasing exports during the First World War led to a boom in 

industry and declining living standards in the industrial areas, 

particularly Catalonia and the Basque country. There was high 

inflation. The industrial sector resented its subjugation by the 

agrarian central government. Along with concerns about 

antiquated promotion systems and political corruption, the war 

in Morocco had caused divisions in the military. 

Regenerationism became popular, and the working class, 

industrial class, and the military were united in their hope of 

removing the corrupt central government. However, these 

hopes were defeated in 1917 and 1918 when the various 

political parties representing these groups were either 

appeased or suppressed by the central government, one by one. 



Rise of Totalitarianism 
 

102 

The industrialists eventually backed the government as a way 

to restore order. After the formation of the Communist 

International in 1919, there was a growing fear of communism 

within Spain and growing repression on the part of the 

government through military means. The PSOE split, with the 

more left-wing members founding the Communist Party in 

1921. The Restoration government failed to cope with an 

increasing number of strikes amongst the industrial workers in 

the north and the agricultural workers in the south.  

Miguel Primo de Rivera came to power in a military coup in 

1923 and ran Spain as a military dictatorship. He handed 

monopolistic control of trade union power to the UGT, and 

introduced a sweeping programme of public works. These 

public works were extremely wasteful, including hydroelectric 

dams and highways causing the deficit to double between 1925 

and 1929. Spain's financial situation was made far worse by 

the pegging of the peseta to the gold standard and by 1931 the 

peseta had lost nearly half its value. The UGT was brought into 

the government to set up industrial arbitration boards, though 

this move was opposed by some in the group and was seen as 

opportunism by anarchist leaders. He also attempted to defend 

the agrarian–industrial monarchist coalition formed during the 

war. No significant reform to the political system (and in 

particular the monarchy) was instituted. This made forming a 

new government difficult, as existing problems had not been 

rectified. Gradually, his support faded because his personal 
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approach to political life ensured he was personally held 

accountable for the government's failings, and due to an 

increasing frustration over his interference in economic 

matters he did not understand. José Calvo Sotelo, his finance 

minister, was one person to withdraw support, and de Rivera 

resigned in January 1930. There was little support for a return 

to the pre-1923 system, and the monarchy had lost credibility 

by backing the military government. Dámaso Berenguer was 

ordered by the king to form a replacement government, but his 

dictablanda dictatorship failed to provide a viable alternative. 

The choice of Berenguer annoyed another important general, 

José Sanjurjo, who believed himself to be a better choice. In 

the municipal elections of 12 April 1931, little support was 

shown for pro-monarchy parties in the major cities, and large 

numbers of people gathered in the streets of Madrid. King 

Alfonso XIII abdicated to prevent a "fratricidal civil war". The 

Second Spanish Republic was formed.  

Second Republic 

The Second Republic was a source of hope to the poorest in 

Spanish society and a threat to the richest, but had broad 

support from all segments of society. Niceto Alcalá-Zamora was 

the first prime minister of the Republic. The wealthier 

landowners and the middle class accepted the Republic 

because of the lack of any suitable alternative. Elections to a 

constituent Cortes in June 1931 returned a large majority of 
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Republicans and Socialists, with the PSOE gaining 116 seats 

and Lerroux's Radical Party 94. Lerroux became foreign 

minister. The government was controlled by a Republican–

Socialist coalition, whose members had differing objectives. 

Some more conservative members believed that the removal of 

the monarchy was enough by itself, but the Socialists and 

leftist Republicans demanded much wider reforms.  

The state's financial position was poor. Supporters of the 

dictatorship attempted to block progress on reforming the 

economy. The redistribution of wealth supported by the new 

government seemed a threat to the richest, in light of the 

recent Wall Street Crash and the onset of the Great 

Depression. The government attempted to tackle the dire 

poverty in rural areas by instituting an eight-hour day and 

giving the security of tenure to farm workers. Landlords 

complained. The effectiveness of the reforms was dependent on 

the skill of the local governance, which was often badly 

lacking. Changes to the military were needed and education 

reform was another problem facing the Republic. The 

relationship between central government and the Basque and 

Catalan regions also needed to be decided.  

Effective opposition was led by three groups. The first group 

included Catholic movements such as the Asociación Católica 

de Propagandistas, who had influence over the judiciary and 

the press. Rural landowners were told to think of the Republic 
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as godless and communist. The second group consisted of 

organisations that had supported the monarchy, such as the 

Renovación Española and Carlists, who wished to see the new 

republic overthrown in a violent uprising. The third group were 

Fascist organisations, among them supporters of the dictator's 

son, José Antonio Primo de Rivera. Primo de Rivera was the 

most significant leader of fascism in Spain. The press often 

editorialised about a foreign Jewish–Masonic–Bolshevik plot. 

Members of the CNT willing to cooperate with the Republic 

were forced out, and it continued to oppose the government. 

The deeply unpopular Civil Guard (Spanish: Guardia Civil), 

founded in 1844, was charged with putting down revolts and 

was perceived as ruthless. Violence, including at Castilblanco 

in December 1931, was usual.  

On 11 May 1931 rumours that a taxi driver was supposedly 

killed by monarchists sparked a wave of anti-clerical violence 

throughout south west urban Spain beginning. An angry crowd 

assaulted and burned ABC newspaper. The government's 

reluctance to declare martial law in response and a comment 

attributed to Azaña that he would "rather all the churches in 

Spain be burnt than a single Republican harmed" prompted 

many Catholics to believe that the Republic was trying to 

prosecute Christianity. Next day the Jesuit Church in the Calle 

de La Flor was also burned. Several other churches and 

convents were burned throughout the day. Over the next days 

some hundred churches were burned all over Spain. The 
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government blamed the monarchists for sparking the riots and 

closed the ABC newspaper and El Debate.  

Parties in opposition to Alcalá-Zamora's provisional 

government gained the support of the church and the military. 

The head of the church in Spain, Cardinal Pedro Segura, was 

particularly vocal in his disapproval. Until the 20th century, 

the Catholic Church had proved an essential part of Spain's 

character, although it had internal problems. Segura was 

expelled from Spain in June 1931. This prompted an outcry 

from the Catholic right, who cited oppression. The military 

were opposed to reorganisation, including an increase in 

regional autonomy granted by the central government, and 

reforms to improve efficiency were seen as a direct attack. 

Officers were retired and a thousand had their promotions 

reviewed, including Francisco Franco, who served as director of 

the General Military Academy in Zaragoza, which was closed by 

Manuel Azaña.  

Constitution of 1931 

In October 1931 The conservative Catholic Republican prime-

minister Alcalá-Zamora and the Interior Minister Miguel Maura 

resigned from the provisional government when the 

controversial articles 26 and 27 of the constitution, which 

strictly controlled Church property and prohibited religious 

orders from engaging in education were passed. During the 

debate held on 13 October, a night that Alcalá-Zamora 
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considered the saddest night of his life, Azaña declared that 

Spain had "ceased to be Catholic"; although to an extent his 

statement was accurate, it was a politically unwise thing to 

say. Manuel Azaña became the new provisional Prime Minister. 

Desiring the job for himself, Lerroux became alienated, and his 

Radical Party switched to the opposition, leaving Azaña 

dependent on the Socialists for support. The Socialists, who 

favoured reform, objected to the lack of progress. The reforms 

that were made alienated the land-holding right. Conditions for 

labourers remained dreadful; the reforms had not been 

enforced. Rural landowners declared war on the government by 

refusing to plant crops. Meanwhile, several agricultural strikes 

were harshly put down by the authorities. Reforms, including 

the unsuccessful attempt to break up large holdings, failed to 

significantly improve the situation for rural workers. By the 

end of 1931, King Alfonso, in exile, stopped attempting to 

prevent an armed insurrection of monarchists in Spain, and 

was tried and condemned to life imprisonment in absentia.  

A new constitution was approved on 9 December 1931. The 

first draft, prepared by Ángel Ossorio y Gallardo and others, 

was rejected, and a much more daring text creating a 

"democratic republic of workers of every class" was 

promulgated. It contained much in the way of emotive language 

and included many controversial articles, some of which were 

aimed at curbing the Catholic Church. The constitution was 

reformist, liberal, and democratic in nature, and was welcomed 
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by the Republican–Socialist coalition. It appalled landowners, 

industrialists, the organised church, and army officers. At this 

point once the constituent assembly had fulfilled its mandate 

of approving a new constitution, it should have arranged for 

regular parliamentary elections and adjourned. However 

fearing the increasing popular opposition the Radical and 

Socialist majority postponed the regular elections, therefore 

prolonging their way in power for two more years. This way the 

provisional republican government of Manuel Azaña initiated 

numerous reforms to what in their view would "modernize" the 

country.  

As the provisional government believed it was necessary to 

break the control the church had over Spanish affairs, the new 

constitution removed any special rights held by the Catholic 

Church. The constitution proclaimed religious freedom and a 

complete separation of Church and State. Catholic schools 

continued to operate, but outside the state system; in 1933 

further legislation banned all monks and nuns from teaching. 

The Republic regulated church use of property and 

investments, provided for recovery and controls on the use of 

property the church had obtained during past dictatorships, 

and banned the Vatican-controlled Society of Jesus. The 

controversial articles 26 and 27 of the constitution strictly 

controlled Church property and prohibited religious orders 

from engaging in education. Supporters of the church and even 

Jose Ortega y Gasset, a liberal advocate of the separation of 
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church and state, considered the articles overreaching. Other 

articles legalising divorce and initiating agrarian reforms were 

equally controversial, and on 13 October 1931, Gil Robles, the 

leading spokesman of the parliamentary right, called for a 

Catholic Spain to make its stand against the Republic. 

Commentator Stanley Payne has argued that "the Republic as a 

democratic constitutional regime was doomed from the outset", 

because the far left considered any moderation of the 

anticlerical aspects of the constitution as totally unacceptable.  

Restrictions on Christian iconography in schools and hospitals 

and the ringing of bells came into force in January 1932. State 

control of cemeteries was also imposed. Many ordinary 

Catholics began to see the government as an enemy because of 

the educational and religious reforms. Government actions 

were denounced as barbaric, unjust, and corrupt by the press.  

In August 1932 there was an unsuccessful uprising by General 

José Sanjurjo, who had been particularly appalled by events in 

Castilblanco. The aims of the insurrection were vague, and it 

quickly turned into a fiasco. Among the generals tried and sent 

to Spanish colonies were four men who would go on to 

distinguish themselves fighting against the Republic in the 

civil war: Francisco de Borbón y de la Torre, Duke of Seville, 

Martin Alonso, Ricardo Serrador Santés, and Heli Rolando de 

Tella y Cantos.  
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Azaña's government continued to ostracized the church. The 

Jesuits who were in charge of the best schools throughout the 

country were banned and had all their property confiscated. 

The army was reduced. Landowners were expropriated. Home 

rule was granted to Catalonia, with a local parliament and a 

president of its own. In November 1932, Miguel de Unamuno, 

one of the most respected Spanish intellectuals, rector of the 

University of Salamanca, and himself a Republican, publicly 

raised his voice to protest. In a speech delivered on 27 

November 1932, at the Madrid Ateneo, he protested: "Even the 

Inquisition was limited by certain legal guarantees. But now we 

have something worse: a police force which is grounded only on 

a general sense of panic and on the invention of non-existent 

dangers to cover up this over-stepping of the law." In June 

1933 Pope Pius XI issued the encyclical Dilectissima Nobis, 

"On Oppression of the Church of Spain", raising his voice 

against the persecution of the Catholic Church in Spain.  

The political left became fractured, whilst the right united. The 

Socialist Party continued to support Azaña but headed further 

to the political left. Gil Robles set up a new party, the Spanish 

Confederation of the Autonomous Right (Spanish: 

Confederatión Espanola de Derechas Autónomas, CEDA) to 

contest the 1933 election, and tacitly embraced Fascism. The 

right won an overwhelming victory, with the CEDA and the 

Radicals together winning 219 seats. They had spent far more 

on their election campaign than the Socialists, who 
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campaigned alone. The roughly 3,000 members of the 

Communist Party were at this point not significant.  

The "black biennium" 

Following the elections of November 1933, Spain entered a 

period called the "black biennium" (Spanish: bienio negro) by 

the left. The CEDA had won a plurality of seats, but not 

enough to form a majority. President Niceto Alcalá-Zamora 

declined to invite the leader of the most voted party, Gil 

Robles, to form a government, and instead invited the Radical 

Republican Party's Alejandro Lerroux to do so. Immediately 

after the election, the Socialists alleged electoral fraud; they 

had, according to the PSOE, needed twice as many votes as 

their opponents to win each seat. They identified the lack of 

unity in the left as another reason for their defeat. The 

Socialist opposition began to propagate a revolutionary ideal. 

Stanley Payne asserts that the left demanded the cancellation 

of the elections not because the elections were fraudulent but 

because in its view those that had won the elections did not 

share the republican ideals.  

The government, with the backing of CEDA, set about removing 

price controls, selling state favours and monopolies, and 

removing the land reforms—to the landowners' considerable 

advantage. This created growing malnourishment in the south 

of Spain. The agrarian reforms, still in force, went tacitly 
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unenforced. Radicals became more aggressive and 

conservatives turned to paramilitary and vigilante actions.  

The first working class protest came from the anarchists on 8 

December 1933, and was easily crushed by force in most of 

Spain; Zaragoza held out for four days before the Spanish 

Republican Army, employing tanks, stopped the uprising. The 

Socialists stepped up their revolutionary rhetoric, hoping to 

force Zamora to call new elections. Carlists and Alfonsist 

monarchists continued to prepare, with Carlists undergoing 

military drills in Navarre; they received the backing of Italian 

Prime Minister Benito Mussolini. Gil Robles struggled to 

control the CEDA's youth wing, which copied Germany and 

Italy's youth movements. Monarchists turned to the Fascist 

Falange Española, under the leadership of José Antonio Primo 

de Rivera, as a way to achieve their aims. Open violence 

occurred in the streets of Spanish cities. Official statistics 

state that 330 people were assassinated in addition to 213 

failed attempts, and 1,511 people wounded in political 

violence. Those figures also indicate a total of 113 general 

strikes were called and 160 religious buildings were destroyed, 

typically by arson.  

Lerroux resigned in April 1934, after President Zamora 

hesitated to sign an Amnesty Bill which let off the arrested 

members of the 1932 plot. He was replaced by Ricardo Samper. 

The Socialist Party ruptured over the question of whether or 
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not to move towards Bolshevism. The youth wing, the 

Federation of Young Socialists (Spanish: Federación de 

Juventudes Socialistas), were particularly militant. The 

anarchists called a four-week strike in Zaragoza. Gil Robles' 

CEDA continued to mimic the German Nazi Party, staging a 

rally in March 1934, to shouts of "Jefe" ("Chief", after the 

Italian "Duce" used in support of Mussolini). Gil Robles used 

an anti-strike law to successfully provoke and break up unions 

one at a time, and attempted to undermine the republican 

government of the Esquerra in Catalonia, who were attempting 

to continue the republic's reforms. Efforts to remove local 

councils from socialist control prompted a general strike, 

which was brutally put down by Interior Minister Salazar 

Alonso, with the arrest of four deputies and other significant 

breaches of articles 55 and 56 of the constitution. The 

Socialist Landworkers' Federation (Spanish: Federación 

Nacional da Trabajadores de la Tierra, FNTT), a trade union 

founded in 1930, was effectively prevented from operating until 

1936.  

On 26 September, the CEDA announced it would no longer 

support the RRP's minority government. It was replaced by an 

RRP cabinet, again led by Lerroux, that included three 

members of the CEDA. After a year of intense pressure, CEDA, 

who had more seats in parliament, was finally successful in 

forcing the acceptance of three ministries. As a reaction, the 

Socialists (PSOE) and Communists triggered an insurrection 
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that they had been preparing for nine months. In Catalonia 

Lluís Companys (leader of the Republican Left of Catalonia and 

the President of the Generalitat of Catalonia) saw an 

opportunity in the general strike and declared Catalonia an 

independent state inside the federal republic of Spain; the 

Esquerra, however, refused to arm the populace, and the head 

of the military in Catalonia, Domingo Batet, charged with 

putting down the revolt, showed similar restraint. In response, 

Lluís Companys was arrested and Catalan autonomy was 

suspended.  

The 1934 strike was unsuccessful in most of Spain. However, 

in Asturias in northern Spain, it developed into a bloody 

revolutionary uprising, trying to overthrow the legitimate 

democratic regime. Around 30,000 workers were called to arms 

in ten days. Armed with dynamite, rifles, carbines and light 

and heavy machine guns, the revolutionaries managed to take 

the whole province of Asturias committing numerous murders 

of policemen, clergymen and civilians and destroying religious 

buildings including churches, convents and part of the 

university at Oviedo. In the occupied areas the rebels officially 

declared the proletarian revolution and abolished regular 

money.  

The war minister, Diego Hidalgo wanted General Franco to lead 

the troops. However, President Alcalá-Zamora, aware of 

Franco's monarchist sympathies, opted to send General López 
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Ochoa to Asturias to lead the government forces; hoping that 

his reputation as a loyal Republican would minimize the 

bloodshed. Franco was put in informal command of the 

military effort against the revolt.  

Government troops, some brought in from Spain's Army of 

Africa, killed men, women and children and carried out 

summary executions after the main cities of Asturias were 

retaken. About 1,000 workers were killed, with about 250 

government soldiers left dead. Atrocities were carried out by 

both sides. The failed rising in Asturias marked the effective 

end of the Republic. Months of retaliation and repression 

followed; torture was used on political prisoners. Even 

moderate reformists within the CEDA became sidelined. The 

two generals in charge of the campaign, Franco and Manuel 

Goded Llopis, were seen as heroes. Azaña was unsuccessfully 

made out to be a revolutionary criminal by his right-wing 

opponents. Gil Robles once again prompted a cabinet collapse, 

and five positions in Lerroux's new government were conceded 

to CEDA, including one awarded to Gil Robles himself. Farm 

workers' wages were halved, and the military was purged of 

republican members and reformed. Those loyal to Robles were 

promoted, and Franco was made Chief of Staff. Stanley Payne 

believes that in the perspective of contemporary European 

history the repression of the 1934 revolution was relatively 

mild and that the key leaders of the rebellion were treated with 

leniency. There were no mass killing after the fighting was over 
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as was in the case of the suppression of the Paris Commune or 

the Russian 1905 revolution; all death sentences were 

commuted aside from two, army sergeant and deserter Diego 

Vásquez, who fought alongside the miners, and a worker 

known as "El Pichilatu" who had committed serial killings. 

Little effort was actually made to suppress the organisations 

that had carried out the insurrection, resulting in most being 

functional again by 1935. Support for fascism was minimal and 

did not increase, while civil liberties were restored in full by 

1935, after which the revolutionaries had a generous 

opportunity to pursue power through electoral means.  

With this rebellion against established political legitimate 

authority, the Socialists showed identical repudiation of 

representative institutional system that anarchists had 

practiced. The Spanish historian Salvador de Madariaga, an 

Azaña's supporter, and an exiled vocal opponent of Francisco 

Franco asserted that: "The uprising of 1934 is unforgivable. 

The argument that Mr Gil Robles tried to destroy the 

Constitution to establish fascism was, at once, hypocritical 

and false. With the rebellion of 1934, the Spanish left lost even 

the shadow of moral authority to condemn the rebellion of 

1936"  

In 1935 Azaña and Indalecio Prieto started to unify the left and 

to combat its extreme elements. They staged large, popular 

rallies of what would become the Popular Front. Lerroux's 
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Radical government collapsed after two major scandals, 

including the Straperlo affair. However, Zamora did not allow 

the CEDA to form a government, instead calling elections. The 

elections of 1936 were won by the Popular Front, with vastly 

smaller resources than the political right who followed Nazi 

propaganda techniques. The right began to plan how to best 

overthrow the Republic, rather than taking control of it.  

The government was weak, and the influence of the 

revolutionary Largo Caballero prevented socialists from being 

part of the cabinet. The republicans were left to govern alone; 

Azaña led a minority government. Pacification and 

reconciliation would have been a huge task. Largo Caballero 

accepted support from the Communist Party (with a 

membership of around 10,000). Acts of violence and reprisals 

increased. By early 1936, Azaña found that the left was using 

its influence to circumvent the Republic and the constitution; 

they were adamant about increasingly radical changes. 

Parliament replaced Zamora with Azaña in April. Zamora's 

removal was made on specious grounds, using a constitutional 

technicality. Azaña and Prieto hoped that by holding the 

positions of Prime Minister and President, they could push 

through enough reforms to pacify the left and deal with right-

wing militancy. However, Azaña was increasingly isolated from 

everyday politics; his replacement, Casares Quiroga, was weak. 

Although the right also voted for Zamora's removal, this was a 

watershed event which inspired conservatives to give up on 
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parliamentary politics. Leon Trotsky wrote that Zamora had 

been Spain's "stable pole", and his removal was another step 

towards revolution. Largo Caballero held out for a collapse of 

the republican government, to be replaced with a socialist one 

as in France.  

CEDA turned its campaign chest over to army plotter Emilio 

Mola. Monarchist José Calvo Sotelo replaced CEDA's Gil Robles 

as the right's leading spokesman in parliament. The Falange 

expanded rapidly, and many members of the Juventudes de 

Acción Popular joined. They successfully created a sense of 

militancy on the streets to try to justify an authoritarian 

regime. Prieto did his best to avoid revolution by promoting a 

series of public works and civil order reforms, including of 

parts of the military and civil guard. Largo Caballero took a 

different attitude, continuing to preach of an inevitable 

overthrow of society by the workers. Largo Caballero also 

disagreed with Prieto's idea of a new Republican–Socialist 

coalition. With Largo Caballero's acquiescence, communists 

alarmed the middle classes by quickly taking over the ranks of 

socialist organisations. This alarmed the middle classes. The 

division of the Popular Front prevented the government from 

using its power to prevent right-wing militancy. The CEDA 

came under attack from the Falange, and Prieto's attempts at 

moderate reform were attacked by the Socialist Youth. Sotelo 

continued to do his best to make conciliation impossible. 

Casares failed to heed Prieto's warnings of a military 
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conspiracy involving several generals who disliked professional 

politicians and wanted to replace the government to prevent 

the dissolution of Spain. The military coup of July that started 

the Spanish Civil War was devised with Mola as director and 

Sanjurjo as a figurehead leader.  

Spanish coup of July 1936 

The Spanish coup of July 1936 (Spanish: Golpe de Estado de 

España de julio de 1936) was a nationalist and military 

uprising that was designed to overthrow the Spanish Second 

Republic but precipitated the Spanish Civil War; Nationalists 

fought against Republicans for control of Spain. The coup itself 

was organised for 18 July 1936, although it started the 

previous day in Spanish Morocco, and would result in a split of 

the Spanish military and territorial control, rather than a 

prompt transfer of power. Although drawn out, the resulting 

war would ultimately lead to one of its leaders, Francisco 

Franco, becoming ruler of Spain.  

The rising was intended to be swift, but the government 

retained control of most of the country including Málaga, Jaén 

and Almería. Cadiz was taken for the rebels, and General 

Queipo de Llano managed to secure Seville. In Madrid, the 

rebels were hemmed into the Montaña barracks, which fell with 

much bloodshed. On 19 July, the cabinet headed by the newly 

appointed prime ministerJosé Giral ordered the distribution of 
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weapons to the unions, helping to defeat the rebels in Madrid, 

Barcelona, and Valencia, which led to anarchists taking 

control of large parts of Aragon and Catalonia. The rebel 

General Goded surrendered in Barcelona and was later 

condemned to death. The rebels had secured the support of 

around half of Spain's Peninsular Army, which totalled, 

allowing for large numbers on extended leave, about 66,000 

men, as well as the 30,000-strong Army of Africa. The Army of 

Africa was Spain's most professional and capable military 

force. The government retained less than half the supply of 

rifles, heavy and light machine guns and artillery pieces. Both 

sides had few tanks and only outdated aircraft, while naval 

capacity was reasonably even. The defection of many regular 

officers weakened Republican units of all types.  

Background 

Following the elections in November 1933, Spain entered what 

was called by the left-wing parties the "black biennium" 

(Spanish: bienio negro). Both Carlists and Alfonsist 

monarchists continued to prepare and received the backing of 

Benito Mussolini 

José-María Gil-Robles, the leader of the right-wing Spanish 

Confederation of Autonomous Rights (CEDA), struggled to 

control his party's youth wing, which copied the youth 

movements of Germany and Italy. Monarchists, however, 
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turned their attention to the fascist Falange Española, led by 

José Antonio Primo de Rivera. Open violence occurred in the 

streets of Spanish cities. Gil-Robles's CEDA continued to 

mimic the German Nazi Party and staged a rally in March 

1934. Gil-Robles successfully used an antistrike law to provoke 

and to break up unions, one at a time. Efforts to remove local 

councils from socialist control prompted a general strike, 

which was brutally put down, with the arrest of four deputies 

and other significant breaches of Articles 55 and 56 of the 

constitution.  

On 26 September 1934, the CEDA announced it would no 

longer support the centrist Radical Republican Party's minority 

government, which was replaced by an RRP cabinet that 

included three members of the CEDA. A UGTgeneral strike in 

early October 1934 was quickly put down throughout most of 

Spain. General Francisco Franco was put in informal command 

of the military effort against the Asturian miners' revolt of 

1934 during which striking labourers had occupied several 

towns and the provincial capital. Around 30,000 workers had 

been called to arms in ten days. Franco's men, some brought 

in from Spain's Army of Africa, acted horrifically by killing 

men, women and children and carrying out summary 

executions when the main cities of Asturias had been retaken. 

About 1,000 workers and about 250 government soldiers were 

killed, which marked the effective end of the republic. Months 

of retaliation and repression by both sides followed, and 
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torture was used on political prisoners. Bombings, shootings 

and political and religious killings were frequent in the streets. 

Political parties created their armed militias. Gil-Robles once 

again prompted a cabinet collapse, and five members of 

Alejandro Lerroux's new government were conceded to CEDA. 

The military was purged of Republican members and reformed. 

Those loyal to Gil-Robles were promoted, and Franco was made 

Chief of Staff.  

The 1936 general election were narrowly won by a group of left-

wing parties, the Popular Front, which defeated the Nationalist 

group with less than 1% of the votes. The Nationalists began to 

conspire on overthrowing the Republic, rather than taking 

control of it. The government was weak, and Azaña led a 

minority government. Pacification and reconciliation would 

have been an enormous task. Acts of violence and reprisals 

spiralled. In April, the Cortes replaced Zamora with Azaña as 

president. However, Azaña was increasingly isolated from 

everyday politics, and his replacement, Casares Quiroga, was 

weak. This was a watershed event and inspired the right to give 

up on parliamentary politics. CEDA turned its campaign chest 

over to the army plotter Emilio Mola. The monarchist José 

Calvo Sotelo replaced CEDA's Gil-Robles as the right-wing 

leader in the Cortes. Prieto did his best to avoid revolution by 

promoting a series of public works and civil order reforms, 

including parts of the military and civil guard. However, 

communists quickly took over the ranks of socialist 
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organisations, which frightened the middle classes. Several 

generals decided that the government had to be replaced to 

prevent the dissolution of Spain, and they held professional 

politicians in contempt.  

Preparations 

The Republican government had been attempting to remove 

suspect generals from their posts and so Franco was relieved 

as chief of staff and transferred to command the Canary 

Islands. Goded was replaced as Inspector General and made 

general of the Balearic islands. Emilio Mola was moved from 

leading the Army of Africa to the military commander of 

Pamplona in Navarre, but that allowed Mola to direct the 

mainland uprising although the relationship between him and 

Carlist leaders was problematic. General José Sanjurjo became 

the figurehead of the operation and helped to come to an 

agreement with the Carlists. Mola was the chief planner and 

second in command. José Antonio Primo de Rivera was 

released from prison in mid-March to restrict the Falange. 

However, government actions were not as thorough as they 

might have been since warnings by the Director of Security and 

other figures were not acted upon.  

On 12 June, Prime Minister Casares Quiroga met General Juan 

Yagüe, who was accused of masterminding the growing 

conspiracy in North Africa, but Yagüe falsely managed to 
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convince Casares of his loyalty to the Republic. Mola held a 

meeting between garrison commanders in northern Spain on 15 

June, and local authorities, on hearing of that meeting, 

surrounded it with Civil Guards. However, Casares ordered 

their removal and said that he trusted Mola. Mola began 

serious planning in the spring, but Franco hesitated until early 

July, which inspired other plotters to refer to him as "Miss 

Canary Islands 1936". Franco was a key player because of his 

prestige as a former director of the military academy and as 

the man who suppressed the socialist uprising of 1934. He was 

well respected in the Spanish Moroccan Army, Spain's 

strongest military force. He wrote a cryptic letter to Casares on 

23 June that suggested that the military was disloyal but could 

be restrained if he were put in charge. Casares did nothing and 

failed to arrest or to buy off Franco, even if placing him in 

overall command was impossible. Franco was to be assigned 

control of Morocco in the new regime and largely sidelined. On 

July 5, an aircraft was chartered to take Franco from the 

Canary Islands to Morocco, and it arrived on July 14.  

Murder of Calvo Sotelo 

On 12 July 1936, in Madrid, a member of the Falange, Jorge 

Bardina, murdered Lieutenant José Castillo of the Assault 

Guards police force. Castillo was a member of the Socialist 

Party. The next day, members of the Assault Guards arrested 

José Calvo Sotelo, a leading Spanish monarchist and a 



Rise of Totalitarianism 
 

125 

prominent parliamentary conservative; the original target had 

been Gil Robles, but he could not be found. Calvo Sotelo had 

protested against agricultural reforms, expropriations and 

restrictions on the authority of the Catholic Church, which he 

considered to be Bolshevist and anarchist. He instead 

advocated the creation of a corporatist state. The Guards shot 

Calvo Sotelo without trial.  

The killing of Calvo Sotelo, a prominent member of Parliament, 

and the involvement of the police aroused suspicions and 

strong reactions among the government's opponents on the 

right. Massive reprisals followed. Although the conservative 

Nationalist generals had already been in the advanced stages 

of a planned uprising, the event provided a catalyst and a 

convenient public justification for their coup, particularly that 

Spain had to be saved from anarchy by military, rather than 

democratic, means. The socialists and communists, led by 

Prieto, demanded for arms to be distributed to the people 

before the military took over, but the prime minister was 

hesitant.  

Franco's plane landed in Gran Canaria on July 14, but since 

based in Tenerife, he could not have made the plane without 

the death of General Amado Balmes, the military commander in 

Gran Canaria, who was killed in a shooting accident on July 

16. Whether his death was an accident, suicide or murder is 

unknown. Balmes reportedly shot himself in the stomach by 
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accident and died shortly after. There have been conspiracy 

theories that he was murdered, but he would have had enough 

time to denounce his murderers if they had existed, and the 

officer who certified it was an accident was not a conspirator 

and remained loyal to the Republic during the Civil War.  

Beginning 

The uprising's timing was fixed at 18 July, at 5:00 a.m. in 

Morocco; most garrisons in Spain were supposed to raise one 

day later. The rising was intended to be a swift coup d'état, but 

the government retained control of most of the country.  

Rebel control in Spanish Morocco was all but certain. The 

30,000-strong Army of Africa was the professional elite of the 

Spanish Army. Many of its soldiers acted as mercenaries, and 

the vast majority of officers backed the rebel cause. The 

regulares, troops recruited from the local tribes, were 

predominantly Muslim and so were told that the Republic 

wished to abolish Allah. The plan was discovered in Morocco 

during 17 July, which prompted it to be enacted immediately. 

By the scheduled time, Spanish Morocco had already been 

secured, as legionnaires moved into working-class areas and 

shot trade unionists. The army commander in eastern Morocco, 

General Manuel Romerales, and other senior officers loyal to 

the Republic were executed. Little resistance was encountered; 

in total, 189 people were shot by the rebels. Goded and Franco 
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immediately took control of the islands to which they were 

assigned. Warned that a coup was imminent, leftists 

barricaded the roads on 17 July, but Franco avoided capture 

by taking a tugboat to the airport.  

On 18 July, Casares Quiroga refused an offer of help from the 

CNT and UGT and proclaimed that only Spanish Morocco had 

joined the rebels and that the populace should trust legal 

methods to deal with the uprising. Handing out weapons would 

be illegal. The CNT and the UGT proclaimed a general strike, 

which was in effect a mobilisation. They opened weapons 

caches, some buried since the 1934 risings. The paramilitary 

forces were better trained than the army but often waited to 

see the outcome of militia action before either joining or 

suppressing the rebellion. Quick action by either the rebels or 

anarchist militias was often enough to decide the fate of a 

town.  

Coup in military districts 

In mid-1936, Peninsular Spain was divided into eight military 

districts, each home to one division. Most senior staff forming 

the local command layer were not involved in the conspiracy. 

Out of eight districts commanders and commanders of 

respective divisions at the same time, there was only one 

engaged in the plot and also the only one who adhered to the 

coup. Out of eight district chiefs of staff, there were three 
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officers involved in the conspiracy, though further three joined 

the unfolding rebellion. The conspiracy relied mostly on mid-

range staff and line officers; they were expected to take control 

of the garrisons and either overpower their seniors or persuade 

them to join. In some districts, like Zaragoza or Seville, the 

conspiracy network was well developed, and Mola was 

confident of success there. In other districts, like Valencia or 

La Coruña, the network was sketchy, and the plotters took into 

account a possible failure.  

Madrid (1. Division) 

The district commander general Virgilio Cabanellas Ferrer  [es] 

was aware of the conspiracy but did not intend to join the 

coup. He was dismissed in the early hours of July 18 and 

replaced with Luis Castello Pantoja, at the time in Badajoz. 

Initially Miaja acted as a caretaker, but as on early morning of 

July 19 he was appointed the minister of war in the Martínez 

Barriogovernment, the caretaker role was taken over by Manuel 

Cardenal Dominicis. Castello arrived in Madrid on July 19 but 

discovered he had just been appointed minister of war in the 

new Giral government. The same day Celestino García Antúnez 

was nominated the new district commander; at the time the 

fighting was already in full swing. The divisional chief of staff, 

coronel Luis Pérez-Peñamaría, was supportive of the plot but 

did not act as its co-ordinator. The rebel scheme was managed 

by other Madrid-based generals, especially Rafael Villegas [es], 



Rise of Totalitarianism 
 

129 

in the plan featuring as head of the rebellious Madrid troops, 

and Joaquín Fanjul [es]. Miaja was probably sounded on his 

access, but he either declined or remained ambiguous. On July 

18 Villegas cited some difficulties and remained passive; it was 

Fanjul who moved to the Montaña barracks and assumed the 

leading role. Pérez-Peñamaria pretended to be loyal. Once the 

troops of Fanjul had been defeated, the 1. Division was 

officially dissolved. Cabanellas and Pérez-Peñamaria were 

detained; Pérez-Peñamaria was tried for negligence and later 

tried also by the Nationalists. Villegas was also arrested and 

was soon executed by the Republican militia.  

Seville (2. Division) 

The district commander, José Fernández Villa-Abrille, and his 

chief of staff, Juan Cantero Ortega, were loyal to the 

government. The conspiracy network was headed by the staff 

officer comandante José Cuesta Monereo [es], who built a firm 

and efficient structure, and some describe it as a “parallel 

staff”. A few days before the coup Villa-Abrille was invited to 

join; he declined, but nothing is known of him taking action 

against the plotters. According to the plan of Mola, it was 

Queipo de Llano who was to assume command of the rebel 

Seville troops. On July 18, Cuesta organised Queipo de Llano's 

takeover of the garrison. Villa-Abrile was incapacitated and 

detained, later tried by the Nationalists and sentenced to 

prison. At the time of the coup, Cantero was on leave in 
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Algeciras, where he assumed a wait-and-see attitude. He 

returned to Seville early August; the victorious Nationalists 

released him from all functions.  

Valencia (3. Division) 

Neither the district commander, Fernando Martínez Monje [es], 

nor his chief of staff, Adolfo Machinandiarena Berga, was 

involved in the plot. The local conspiracy junta missed officers 

on critical positions. The most important of these officers was 

Bartolomé Barba Hernández  [es], but he excelled in ensuring 

civilian, rather than military, support. General Manuel 

González Carrasco [es], who was initially marked to lead the 

rebels, was reassigned by Mola to lead the Barcelona rising 

and was reassigned back to Valencia shortly before the coup. 

On July 18, a few conspirators tried to persuade Martínez to 

join the insurgency, but the commander remained ambiguous, 

which was the position also adopted by Machinandiarena. 

Engulfed by doubts, González Carrasco remained rather 

passive. Many conspiring officers were ready to join the coup 

one orders were given by divisional command. For some two 

weeks, the Valencia garrison did not take a firm position. 

Eventually, Barba and González Carrasco fled to the 

Nationalist zone. Martínez was reassigned to non-combat 

positions, and Machinandiarena was detained and tried and 

later also by the Nationalists.  
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Barcelona (4. Division) 

The district commander, Francisco Llano de la Encomienda, 

was entirely loyal to the Republic. His chief of staff, Manuel 

Moxó Marcaida, was at least aware of the plot, but it is likely 

that he supported it. The key man of Mola in Barcelona was 

Francisco Mut Ramón, a top member of the divisional staff who 

supported by some local commanders. The plan that Mola 

envisioned that command of the rebellious Barcelona troops to 

be assumed by Manuel González Carrasco, but shortly before 

the coup, he was reassigned to Valencia and replaced by 

Manuel Goded. The latter arrived in Barcelona when the 

rebellion was already underway; Moxó immediately accepted 

his command. Llano de la Encomienda actively worked to 

suppress the coup within the local military structures until he 

was detained by units loyal to Goded; his captivity lasted only 

a few hours. Once the military was overwhelmed by the crowd, 

Goded and Moxó were arrested and tried, the first executed by 

firing squad and the later murdered by the militia. Mut Ramón 

escaped and made it to the Nationalist zone.  

Zaragoza (5. Division) 

Both the district commander, Miguel Cabanellas Ferrer, and 

his chief of staff, Federico Montaner Canet  [es], were active 

conspirators. The conspiracy network was firm, and Mola was 

confident that the Zaragoza troops would help the coup. 

Though the conspiracy network was not extensive, the fact that 
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both key military men were involved in the plot led to almost 

all troops in the district obeying the orders of the rebellious 

command. A few loyalist officers were quickly overwhelmed by 

the rebels. Despite his age, Cabanellas who led the action, and 

Montaner supported him as the chief of staff. As had been 

planned, Cabanellas remained in command of the Zaragoza 

military district after the successful coup.  

Burgos (6. Division) 

The district commander, Domingo Batet Mestres, did not take 

part in the conspiracy and actively tried to prevent any unrest; 

the interim chief of staff, José Aizpuru Martín-Pinillos ceded 

his post in early July 1936, he ceded the function to Fernando 

Moreno Calderón  [es], who was not involved in the plot, but 

Aizpuru went on as the chief plotter.  

His network was so extensive that Mola, formally Batet's 

subordinate as commander of the Pamplona military region, 

was confident the 6. Division would be firmly with the rebels. 

On July 19, they took over critical posts of command.  

Batet firmly refused to join and was detained, tried and 

executed. Moreno joined in the last minute after he faced 

resolute action of junior officers. As planned by Mola, he 

commanded the Burgos military district after Fidel Dávila 

Arrondo assumed the successful coup.  
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Valladolid (7. Division) 

The district commander generalNicolás Molero Lobo [es] was not 

involved in the plot. The key person among the conspirators 

was the chief of staff, Anselmo López-Maristany, but in June 

he was posted to Madrid, and he kept co-ordinating the plot in 

Valladolid from the capital. His successor as chief of staff, 

Juan Quero Orozco, was not involved in the plot and was not 

aware of it unfolding. On the evening of July 18, a group of 

senior officers from Madrid, including Saliquet, Uzquiano, 

López-Maristany and Martín-Montalvo, led the takeover of the 

military structures, which involved a shootout with men of 

Molero, who was eventually detained. Later, Molero was tried 

by the Nationalists and sentenced to prison. Quero remained 

passive and eventually joined the rebels. In line with initial 

planning, the command of the Valladolid district was assumed 

by Andrés Saliquet.  

La Coruña (8. Division) 

The district commander, Enrique Salcedo Molinuevo [es], was 

not aware of the conspiracy. The chief of staff, Luis Tovar 

Figueras, maintained sporadic and loose contacts with UME, 

but he neither took part in the conspiracy nor took any action 

against it. The key man of the plotters was Fermín Gutiérrez 

Soto, a high-ranking member of the divisional staff. On July 18 

and 19, the conspiracy network remained relatively 

disorganised, and no resolute action had been taken. 
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Suspicious of his staff, in the early hours of July 20, Salcedo 

ordered the detention of both Tovar and Gutiérrez. It was the 

rapid counteraction of Gutiérrez and coronel Martin Alonso 

that produced the detention of Salcedo, who was later tried 

and executed. Tovar adhered to the coup. Given the sketchy 

insurgency scheme in La Coruña, the plan of Mola did not 

envision any specific individual as local commander following 

the coup, a role that was temporarily assumed by Enrique 

Cánovas Lacruz  [ca], who had refused to take the rebel 

command a few times before he eventually accepted it.  

Aftermath 

Despite the ruthlessness and the determination of the 

supporters of the coup, the rebels failed to take any major 

cities, with the critical exception of Seville, which provided a 

landing point for Franco's African troops. The primarily-

conservative and Catholic areas of Old Castile and León fell 

quickly, and in Pamplona, the uprising was celebrated as if it 

were a festival. The government retained control of Málaga, 

Jaén and Almería. Cadiz was taken for the rebels with the help 

of the first troops from the Army of Africa. In Madrid, they 

were hemmed into the Montaña barracks. The barracks fell the 

next day with much bloodshed. Republican leader Santiago 

Casares Quiroga was replaced by José Giral, who ordered the 

distribution of weapons among the civilian population. This 

facilitated the defeat of the army insurrection in the main 
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industrial centres, including Madrid, Barcelona, Valencia and 

the other main cities in the Mediterranean area, but it allowed 

the anarchists to arm themselves and take control of Barcelona 

and large swathes of Aragon and Catalonia. In Barcelona, the 

official government lost control of security, essential services 

and welfare. However, the anarchists held back from 

demanding too much political power, which could have had 

even more severe consequences. General Goded surrendered in 

Barcelona and was later condemned to death although he had 

broadcast a message explaining his captivity over the radio, at 

the request of the authorities.  

Meanwhile, the Army of Africa crossed the Gibraltar Strait, 

using Junkers Ju 52 transport planes provided by Nazi 

Germany, without any loyalist Air Force interference owing to 

the confusion and lack of decision of the Spanish Republican 

side. The massive airlift of troops from Spanish Morocco was 

the world's first long-range combat airlift and allowed Franco's 

troops to join General Queipo de Llano's forces in Seville. Their 

quick movement allowed them to meet General Mola's Northern 

Army and secure most of northern and northwestern Spain, as 

well as central and western Andalusia. The Republican 

Government ended up with controlling almost all of the 

Eastern Spanish coast and central area around Madrid, as well 

as Asturias, Cantabria and part of the Basque Country in the 

north. Mola was keen to create a sense of fear within 

Nationalist-controlled areas. There was a massive purge of 
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Freemasons and a large part of the left, including some 

moderate socialists. The result of the coup was a polarization 

of Spain. Following General Mola's orders of instilling fear in 

potential Republican ranks through systematic executions in 

captured cities, an act of spontaneous revenge in the form of 

random murders of perceived fascists, conservatives and 

Nationalists flared up in Loyalist areas by exalted mobs.  

The Nationalist area of control contained roughly 11 million of 

Spain's population of 25 million. The rebels also had secured 

the support of around half of Spain's territorial army, some 

60,000 men. In Republican units, however, up to 90% of 

officers rebelled, defected or merely disappeared, and their 

loyalty to the Republic was put into doubt. Therefore, some 

would later turn up in Nationalist ranks, which considerably 

reduced the units' effectiveness, as a new command structure 

had to be fashioned. No such problem occurred in Nationalist 

units. The Army of Africa, however, was entirely under 

Nationalist control had 30,000 men and was considered 

Spain's top fighting force. The rebels were also joined by 

30,000 members of Spain's militarized police forces, the 

Assault Guards, the Civil Guards and the Carabineers. 50,000 

members of the latter stayed loyal to the government. Of 

500,000 rifles, around 200,000 were retained by the 

government, and 65,000 were issued to the Madrid populace in 

the days following the uprising. Only 7,000 were usable, and 

70,000 or so were lost following early Nationalist advances in 
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the war. Republicans controlled about a third of both heavy 

and light machine guns; of 1,007 artillery pieces, 387 were in 

Republican hands. The Spanish Army had, before the coup, 

just 18 tanks of sufficiently modern design, and the 

Republicans retained 10. In terms of numbers, the Nationalists 

had seized control of 17 warships, leaving the Republicans 

with 27. However, the two most modern (both cruisers of the 

Canarias class) were in Nationalist hands. Although not ready 

for service when the war broke out, the ships compensated for 

the lack in numbers. The Spanish Republican Navy suffered 

from the same problems as the Spanish Republican Army: 

many officers had defected or had been killed after trying to do 

so. The concerns of a Republican officer that such a coup was 

imminent made two thirds of the air capability to be retained 

by the government. However, the whole of the air service was 

very outdated and vulnerable during flight and to mechanical 

problems.  

Combatants 

The war was cast by Republican sympathisers as a struggle 

between tyranny and freedom, and by Nationalist supporters as 

communist and anarchist red hordes versus Christian 

civilisation. Nationalists also claimed they were bringing 

security and direction to an ungoverned and lawless country. 

Spanish politics, especially on the left, was quite fragmented: 

on the one hand socialists and communists supported the 
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republic but on the other, during the republic, anarchists had 

mixed opinions, though both major groups opposed the 

Nationalists during the Civil War; the latter, in contrast, were 

united by their fervent opposition to the Republican 

government and presented a more unified front.  

The coup divided the armed forces fairly evenly. One historical 

estimate suggests that there were some 87,000 troops loyal to 

the government and some 77,000 joining the insurgency, 

though some historians suggest that the Nationalist figure 

should be revised upwards and that it probably amounted to 

some 95,000.  

During the first few months, both armies were joined in high 

numbers by volunteers, Nationalists by some 100,000 men and 

Republicans by some 120,000. From August, both sides 

launched their own, similarly scaled conscription schemes, 

resulting in further massive growth of their armies. Finally, the 

final months of 1936 saw the arrival of foreign troops, 

International Brigades joining the Republicans and Italian 

CTV, German Legion Condor and Portuguese Viriatos joining 

the Nationalists. The result was that in April 1937 there were 

some 360,000 soldiers in the Republican ranks and some 

290,000 in the Nationalist ones.  

The armies kept growing. The principal source of manpower 

was conscription; both sides continued and expanded their 

schemes, the Nationalists drafting more aggressively, and there 
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was little room left for volunteering. Foreigners contributed 

little to further growth; on the Nationalist side the Italians 

scaled down their engagement, while on the Republican side 

the influx of new interbrigadistas did not cover losses on the 

front. At the turn of 1937/1938, each army numbered about 

700,000.  

Throughout 1938, the principal if not exclusive source of new 

men was a draft; at this stage it was the Republicans who 

conscripted more aggressively, and only 47% of their 

combatants were in age corresponding to the Nationalist 

conscription age limits. Just prior to the Battle of Ebro, 

Republicans achieved their all-time high, slightly above 

800,000; yet Nationalists numbered 880,000. The Battle of 

Ebro, fall of Catalonia and collapsing discipline caused a great 

shrinking of Republican troops. In late February 1939, their 

army was 400,000 compared to more than double that number 

of Nationalists. In the moment of their final victory, 

Nationalists commanded over 900,000 troops. The total 

number of Spaniards serving in the Republican forces was 

officially stated as 917,000; later scholarly work estimated the 

number as "well over 1 million men", though earlier studies 

claimed a Republican total of 1.75 million (including non-

Spaniards). The total number of Spaniards serving in the 

Nationalist units is estimated at "nearly 1 million men", though 

earlier works claimed a total of 1.26 million Nationalists 

(including non-Spaniards).  
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Republicans 

Only two countries openly and fully supported the Republic: 

the Mexican government and the USSR. From them, especially 

the USSR, the Republic received diplomatic support, 

volunteers, weapons and vehicles. Other countries remained 

neutral; this neutrality faced serious opposition from 

sympathizers in the United States and United Kingdom, and to 

a lesser extent in other European countries and from Marxists 

worldwide. This led to formation of the International Brigades, 

thousands of foreigners of all nationalities who voluntarily 

went to Spain to aid the Republic in the fight; they meant a 

great deal to morale but militarily were not very significant.  

The Republic's supporters within Spain ranged from centrists 

who supported a moderately-capitalist liberal democracy to 

revolutionary anarchists who opposed the Republic but sided 

with it against the coup forces. Their base was primarily 

secular and urban but also included landless peasants and 

was particularly strong in industrial regions like Asturias, the 

Basque country, and Catalonia.  

This faction was called variously leales "Loyalists" by 

supporters, "Republicans", the "Popular Front", or "the 

government" by all parties; and/or los rojos "the Reds" by their 

opponents. Republicans were supported by urban workers, 

agricultural labourers, and parts of the middle class.  
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The conservative, strongly Catholic Basque country, along with 

Catholic Galicia and the more left-leaning Catalonia, sought 

autonomy or independence from the central government of 

Madrid. The Republican government allowed for the possibility 

of self-government for the two regions, whose forces were 

gathered under the People's Republican Army (Ejército Popular 

Republicano, or EPR), which was reorganised into mixed 

brigades after October 1936.  

A few well-known people fought on the Republican side, such 

as English novelist George Orwell (who wrote Homage to 

Catalonia (1938), an account of his experiences in the war) and 

Canadian thoracic surgeon Norman Bethune, who developed a 

mobile blood-transfusion service for front-line operations. 

Simone Weil added herself for a while to the anarchist columns 

of Buenaventura Durruti, though fellow fighters feared she 

might inadvertently shoot them because she was short-sighted, 

and tried to avoid taking her on missions. By the account of 

her biographer Simone Petrement, Weil was evacuated from the 

front after a matter of weeks because of an injury sustained in 

a cooking accident.  

Nationalists 

The Nacionales or Nationalists, also called "insurgents", 

"rebels" or, by opponents, Franquistas or "fascists" —feared 

national fragmentation and opposed the separatist movements. 

They were chiefly defined by their anti-communism, which 
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galvanised diverse or opposed movements like Falangists and 

monarchists. Their leaders had a generally wealthier, more 

conservative, monarchist, landowning background.  

The Nationalist side included the Carlists and Alfonsists, 

Spanish nationalists, the fascist Falange, and most 

conservatives and monarchist liberals. Virtually all Nationalist 

groups had strong Catholic convictions and supported the 

native Spanish clergy. The Nationals included the majority of 

the Catholic clergy and practitioners (outside of the Basque 

region), important elements of the army, most large 

landowners, and many businessmen. The Nationalist base 

largely consisted of the middle classes, conservative peasant 

smallholders in the North and Catholics in general. Catholic 

support became particularly pronounced as a consequence of 

the burning of churches and killing of priests in most leftists 

zones during the first six months of the war. By mid-1937, the 

Catholic Church gave its official blessing to the Franco regime; 

religious fervor was a major source of emotional support for 

the Nationalists during the civil war. Michael Seidmann reports 

that devout Catholics, such as seminary students, often 

volunteered to fight and would die in disproportionate numbers 

in the war. Catholic confession cleared the soldiers of moral 

doubt and increased fighting ability; Republican newspapers 

described Nationalist priests as ferocious in battle and 

Indalecio Prieto remarked that the enemy he feared most was 

"the requeté who has just received communion."  
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One of the rightists' principal motives was to confront the anti-

clericalism of the Republican regime and to defend the Catholic 

Church, which had been targeted by opponents, including 

Republicans, who blamed the institution for the country's ills. 

The Church opposed many of the Republicans' reforms, which 

were fortified by the Spanish Constitution of 1931. Articles 24 

and 26 of the 1931 constitution had banned the Society of 

Jesus. This proscription deeply offended many within the 

conservative fold. The revolution in the Republican zone at the 

outset of the war, in which 7,000 clergy and thousands of lay 

people were killed, deepened Catholic support for the 

Nationalists.  

Prior to the war, during the Asturian miners' strike of 1934, 

religious buildings were burnt and at least 100 clergy, 

religious civilians, and pro-Catholic police were killed by 

revolutionaries. Franco had brought in Spain's colonial Army 

of Africa (Spanish: Ejército de África or Cuerpo de Ejército 

Marroquí) and reduced the miners to submission by heavy 

artillery attacks and bombing raids. The Spanish Legion 

committed atrocities and the army carried out summary 

executions of leftists. The repression in the aftermath was 

brutal and prisoners were tortured.  

The Moroccan Fuerzas Regulares Indígenas joined the rebellion 

and played a significant role in the civil war.  
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While the Nationalists are often assumed to have drawn in the 

majority of military officers, this is a somewhat simplistic 

analysis. The Spanish army had its own internal divisions and 

long-standing rifts. Officers supporting the coup tended to be 

africanistas (men who fought in North Africa between 1909 and 

1923) while those who stayed loyal tended to be peninsulares 

(men who stayed back in Spain during this period). This was 

because during Spain's North African campaigns, the 

traditional promotion by seniority was suspended in favor of 

promotion by merit through battlefield heroism. This tended to 

benefit younger officers starting their careers as they could, 

while older officers had familial commitments that made it 

harder for them to be deployed in North Africa. Officers in 

front line combat corps (primarily infantry and cavalry) 

benefited over those in technical corps (those in artillery, 

engineering etc.) because they had more chances to 

demonstrate the requisite battlefield heroism and had also 

traditionally enjoyed promotion by seniority. The peninsulares 

resented seeing the africanistas rapidly leapfrog through the 

ranks, while the africanistas themselves were seen as 

swaggering and arrogant, further fuelling resentment. Thus, 

when the coup occurred, officers who joined the rebellion, 

particularly from Franco's rank downwards, were often 

africanistas, while senior officers and those in non-front line 

positions tended to oppose it (though a small number of senior 

africanistas opposed the coup as well). It has also been argued 

that officers who stayed loyal to the Republic were more likely 
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to have been promoted and to have been favoured by the 

Republican regime (such as those in the Aviation and Assault 

Guard units). Thus, while often thought of as a "rebellion of 

the generals", this is not correct. Of the eighteen division 

generals, only four rebelled (of the four division generals 

without postings, two rebelled and two remained loyal). 

Fourteen of the fifty-six brigade generals rebelled. The rebels 

tended to draw from less senior officers. Of the approximately 

15,301 officers, just over half rebelled.  

Other factions 

Catalan and Basque nationalists were divided. Left-wing 

Catalan nationalists sided with the Republicans, while 

Conservative Catalan nationalists were far less vocal in 

supporting the government, due to anti-clericalism and 

confiscations occurring in areas within its control.  

Basque nationalists, heralded by the conservative Basque 

Nationalist Party, were mildly supportive of the Republican 

government, although some in Navarre sided with the uprising 

for the same reasons influencing conservative Catalans. 

Notwithstanding religious matters, Basque nationalists, who 

were for the most part Catholic, generally sided with the 

Republicans, although the PNV, Basque nationalist party, was 

reported passing the plans of Bilbao defences to the 

Nationalists, in an attempt to reduce the duration and 

casualties of siege.  
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Foreign involvement 

The Spanish Civil War exposed political divisions across 

Europe. The right and the Catholics supported the Nationalists 

to stop the spread of Bolshevism. On the left, including labour 

unions, students and intellectuals, the war represented a 

necessary battle to stop the spread of fascism. Anti-war and 

pacifist sentiment was strong in many countries, leading to 

warnings that the Civil War could escalate into a second world 

war. In this respect, the war was an indicator of the growing 

instability across Europe.  

The Spanish Civil War involved large numbers of non-Spanish 

citizens who participated in combat and advisory positions. 

Britain and France led a political alliance of 27 nations that 

pledged non-intervention, including an embargo on all arms 

exports to Spain. The United States unofficially adopted a 

position of non-intervention as well, despite abstaining from 

joining the alliance (due in part to its policy political isolation). 

Germany, Italy and the Soviet Union signed on officially, but 

ignored the embargo. The attempted suppression of imported 

material was largely ineffective, and France was especially 

accused of allowing large shipments to Republican troops. The 

clandestine actions of the various European powers were, at 

the time, considered to be risking another world war, alarming 

antiwar elements across the world.  
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The League of Nations' reaction to the war was influenced by a 

fear of communism, and was insufficient to contain the 

massive importation of arms and other war resources by the 

fighting factions. Although a Non-Intervention Committee was 

formed, its policies accomplished little and its directives were 

ineffective.  

Support for the Nationalists 

Italy 

As the conquest of Ethiopia in the Second Italo-Ethiopian War 

made the Italian government confident in its military power, 

Benito Mussolini joined the war to secure Fascist control of the 

Mediterranean, supporting the Nationalists to a greater extent 

than the National-Socialists did. The Royal Italian Navy 

(Italian: Regia Marina) played a substantial role in the 

Mediterranean blockade, and ultimately Italy supplied machine 

guns, artillery, aircraft, tankettes, the Aviazione Legionaria, 

and the Corpo Truppe Volontarie (CTV) to the Nationalist 

cause. The Italian CTV would, at its peak, supply the 

Nationalists with 50,000 men. Italian warships took part in 

breaking the Republican navy's blockade of Nationalist-held 

Spanish Morocco and took part in naval bombardment of 

Republican-held Málaga, Valencia, and Barcelona. In total, 

Italy provided the Nationalists with 660 planes, 150 tanks, 800 

artillery pieces, 10,000 machine guns, and 240,000 rifles.  
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Germany 

German involvement began days after fighting broke out in 

July 1936. Adolf Hitler quickly sent in powerful air and 

armoured units to assist the Nationalists. The war provided 

combat experience with the latest technology for the German 

military. However, the intervention also posed the risk of 

escalating into a world war for which Hitler was not ready. 

Therefore, he limited his aid, and instead encouraged Benito 

Mussolini to send in large Italian units.  

Nazi Germany's actions included the formation of the 

multitasking Condor Legion, a unit composed of volunteers 

from the Luftwaffe and the German Army (Heer) from July 1936 

to March 1939. The Condor Legion proved to be especially 

useful in the 1936 Battle of the Toledo. Germany moved the 

Army of Africa to mainland Spain in the war's early stages. 

German operations slowly expanded to include strike targets, 

most notably—and controversially—the bombing of Guernica 

which, on 26 April 1937, killed 200 to 300 civilians. Germany 

also used the war to test new weapons, such as the Luftwaffe 

Junkers Ju 87 Stukas and Junkers Ju-52 transport Trimotors 

(used also as Bombers), which showed themselves to be 

effective.  

German involvement was further manifested through 

undertakings such as Operation Ursula, a U-boat undertaking; 

and contributions from the Kriegsmarine. The Legion 
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spearheaded many Nationalist victories, particularly in aerial 

combat, while Spain further provided a proving ground for 

German tank tactics. The training which German units 

provided to the Nationalist forces would prove valuable. By the 

War's end, perhaps 56,000 Nationalist soldiers, encompassing 

infantry, artillery, aerial and naval forces, had been trained by 

German detachments.  

Hitler's policy for Spain was shrewd and pragmatic. His 

instructions were clear: "...A hundred per cent victory for 

Franco was not desirable from a German point of view; rather 

were we interested in a continuance of the war and in the 

keeping up of the tension in the Mediterranean." Hitler wanted 

to help Franco just enough to gain his gratitude and to prevent 

the side supported by the Soviet Union from winning, but not 

large enough to give the Caudillo a quick victory.  

A total of approximately 16,000 German citizens fought in the 

war, with approximately 300 killed, though no more than 

10,000 participated at any one time. German aid to the 

Nationalists amounted to approximately £43,000,000 

($215,000,000) in 1939 prices, 15.5% of which was used for 

salaries and expenses and 21.9% for direct delivery of supplies 

to Spain, while 62.6% was expended on the Condor Legion. In 

total, Germany provided the Nationalists with 600 planes and 

200 tanks.  
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Portugal 

The Estado Novo regime of Portuguese Prime Minister António 

de Oliveira Salazar played an important role in supplying 

Franco's forces with ammunition and logistical help.  

Salazar supported Francisco Franco and the Nationalists in 

their war against the Second Republic forces, as well as the 

anarchists and the communists. The Nationalists lacked access 

to seaports early on, so Salazar's Portugal helped them receive 

armaments shipments from abroad, including ordnance when 

certain Nationalist forces virtually ran out of ammunition. 

Consequently, the Nationalists called Lisbon "the port of 

Castile". Later, Franco spoke of Salazar in glowing terms in an 

interview in the Le Figaro newspaper: "The most complete 

statesman, the one most worthy of respect, that I have known 

is Salazar. I regard him as an extraordinary personality for his 

intelligence, his political sense and his humility. His only 

defect is probably his modesty."  

On 8 September 1936, a naval revolt took place in Lisbon. The 

crews of two naval Portuguese vessels, the NRP Afonso de 

Albuquerque and the NRP Dão, mutinied. The sailors, who were 

affiliated with the Portuguese Communist Party, confined their 

officers and attempted to sail the ships out of Lisbon to join 

the Spanish Republican forces fighting in Spain. Salazar 

ordered the ships to be destroyed by gunfire.  
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In January 1938, Salazar appointed Pedro Teotónio Pereira as 

special liaison of the Portuguese government to Franco's 

government, where he achieved great prestige and influence. In 

April 1938, Pereira officially become a full-rank Portuguese 

ambassador to Spain, and he remained in this post throughout 

World War II.  

Just a few days before the end of the Spanish Civil War, on 17 

March 1939, Portugal and Spain signed the Iberian Pact, a 

non-aggression treaty that marked the beginning of a new 

phase in Iberian relations. Meetings between Franco and 

Salazar played a fundamental role in this new political 

arrangement. The pact proved to be a decisive instrument in 

keeping the Iberian Peninsula out of Hitler's continental 

system.  

Despite its discreet direct military involvement — restrained to 

a somewhat "semi-official" endorsement, by its authoritarian 

regime – a "Viriatos Legion" volunteer force was organised, but 

disbanded, due to political unrest. Between 8,000 and 12,000 

would-be legionaries did still volunteer, only now as part of 

various Nationalist units instead of a unified force. Due to the 

widespread publicity given to the Viriatos Legion previously, 

these Portuguese volunteers were still called "Viriatos". 

Portugal was instrumental in providing the Nationalists with 

organizational skills and reassurance from the Iberian 
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neighbour to Franco and his allies that no interference would 

hinder the supply traffic directed to the Nationalist cause.  

Others 

The Conservative government of Britain maintained a position 

of strong neutrality and was supported by British elite and the 

media, while the left mobilized aid to the Republicans. The 

government refused to allow arms shipments and sent 

warships to try to stop shipments. It was theoretically a crime 

to volunteer to fight in Spain, but about 4,000 went anyway. 

Intellectuals strongly favoured the Republicans. Many visited 

Spain, hoping to find authentic anti-fascism in practise. They 

had little impact on the government, and could not shake the 

strong public mood for peace. The Labour Party was split, with 

its Catholic element favouring the Nationalists. It officially 

endorsed the boycott and expelled a faction that demanded 

support for the Republican cause; but it finally voiced some 

support to Loyalists.  

Romanian volunteers were led by Ion Moța, deputy-leader of 

the Iron Guard ("Legion of the Archangel Michael"), whose 

group of Seven Legionaries visited Spain in December 1936 to 

ally their movement with the Nationalists.  

Despite the Irish government's prohibition against 

participating in the war, about 600 Irishmen, followers of the 

Irish political activist and co-founder of the recently created 
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political party of Fine Gael (unofficially called "The Blue 

Shirts"), Eoin O'Duffy, known as the "Irish Brigade", went to 

Spain to fight alongside Franco. The majority of the volunteers 

were Catholics, and according to O'Duffy had volunteered to 

help the Nationalists fight against communism.  

According to Spanish statistics, 1052 Yugoslavs were recorded 

as volunteers of which 48% were Croats, 23% Slovenes, 18% 

Serbs, 2.3% Montenegrins and 1.5% Macedonians.  

Support for the Republicans 

International Brigades 

On July 26, just eight days after the revolt had started, an 

international communist conference was held at Prague to 

arrange plans to help the Republican Government. It decided to 

raise an international brigade of 5,000 men and a fund of 

1 billion francs. At the same time communist parties 

throughout the world quickly launched a full scale propaganda 

campaign in support of the Popular Front. The Communist 

International immediately reinforced its activity sending to 

Spain its leader Georgi Dimitrov, and Palmiro Togliatti the 

chief of the Communist Party of Italy. From August onward aid 

started to be sent from Russia, over one ship per day arrived at 

Spain's Mediterranean ports carrying munitions, rifles, 

machine guns, hand grenades, artillery and trucks. With the 

cargo came Soviet agents, technicians, instructors and 
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propagandists. The Communist International immediately 

started to organize the International Brigades with great care 

to conceal or minimize the communist character of the 

enterprise and to make it appear as a campaign on behalf of 

progressive democracy. Attractive names were deliberately 

chosen, such as Garibaldi Battalion in Italy or Abraham 

Lincoln Battalion in the United States.  

Many non-Spaniards, often affiliated with radical communist or 

socialist entities, joined the International Brigades, believing 

that the Spanish Republic was a front line in the war against 

fascism. The units represented the largest foreign contingent of 

those fighting for the Republicans. Roughly 40,000 foreign 

nationals fought with the Brigades, though no more than 

18,000 were in the conflict at any given time. They claimed to 

represent 53 nations.  

Significant numbers of volunteers came from France (10,000), 

Nazi Germany and Austria (5,000), and Italy (3,350). More than 

1000 each came from the Soviet Union, the United States, the 

United Kingdom, Poland, Yugoslavia, Czechoslovakia, Hungary 

and Canada. The Thälmann Battalion, a group of Germans, and 

the Garibaldi Battalion, a group of Italians, distinguished their 

units during the Siege of Madrid. Americans fought in units 

such as the XV International Brigade ("Abraham Lincoln 

Brigade"), while Canadians joined the Mackenzie–Papineau 

Battalion.  
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More than 500 Romanians fought on the Republican side, 

including Romanian Communist Party members Petre Borilă 

and Valter Roman. About 145 men from Ireland formed the 

Connolly Column, which was immortalized by Irish folk 

musician Christy Moore in the song "Viva la Quinta Brigada". 

Some Chinese joined the Brigades;  the majority of them 

eventually returned to China, but some went to prison or to 

French refugee camps, and a handful remained in Spain.  

Soviet Union 

Although General SecretaryJoseph Stalin had signed the Non-

Intervention Agreement, the Soviet Union contravened the 

League of Nations embargo by providing material assistance to 

the Republican forces, becoming their only source of major 

weapons. Unlike Hitler and Mussolini, Stalin tried to do this 

covertly. Estimates of material provided by the USSR to the 

Republicans vary between 634 and 806 aircraft, 331 and 362 

tanks and 1,034 to 1,895 artillery pieces. Stalin also created 

Section X of the Soviet Union military to head the weapons 

shipment operation, called Operation X. Despite Stalin's 

interest in aiding the Republicans, the quality of arms was 

inconsistent. Many rifles and field guns provided were old, 

obsolete or otherwise of limited use (some dated back to the 

1860s) but the T-26 and BT-5 tanks were modern and effective 

in combat. The Soviet Union supplied aircraft that were in 

current service with their own forces but the aircraft provided 
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by Germany to the Nationalists proved superior by the end of 

the war. The movement of arms from Russia to Spain was 

extremely slow. Many shipments were lost or arrived only 

partially matching what had been authorised. Stalin ordered 

shipbuilders to include false decks in the design of ships and 

while at sea, Soviet captains used deceptive flags and paint 

schemes to evade detection by the Nationalists.  

The USSR sent 2,000–3,000 military advisers to Spain; while 

the Soviet commitment of troops was fewer than 500 men at a 

time, Soviet volunteers often operated Soviet-made tanks and 

aircraft, particularly at the beginning of the war. The Spanish 

commander of every military unit on the Republican side was 

attended by a "Comissar Politico" of equal rank, who 

represented Moscow.  

The Republic paid for Soviet arms with official Bank of Spain 

gold reserves, 176 tonnes of which was transferred through 

France and 510 directly to Russia, which was called Moscow 

gold.  

Also, the Soviet Union directed Communist parties around the 

world to organise and recruit the International Brigades.  

Another significant Soviet involvement was the activity of the 

People's Commissariat for Internal Affairs (NKVD) inside the 

Republican rearguard. Communist figures including Vittorio 

Vidali ("Comandante Contreras"), Iosif Grigulevich, Mikhail 
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Koltsov and, most prominently, Aleksandr Mikhailovich Orlov 

led operations that included the murders of Catalan anti-

Stalinist Communist politician Andrés Nin, the socialist 

journalist Mark Rein, and the independent left-wing activist 

José Robles. Another NKVD-led operation was the shooting 

down (in December 1936) of the French aircraft in which the 

delegate of the International Committee of the Red Cross 

(ICRC), Georges Henny, carried extensive documentation on the 

Paracuellos massacres to France.  

In his book, Partners in Crime: Faustian Bargain, historian Ian 

Ona Johnson explains that in the 1920's and 30's (during the 

Spanish Civil War) Germany and Soviet Russia had entered 

into a partnership centering on economic and military 

cooperation. This led to the establishment of German military 

bases and facilities in Russia. Neither country worried about 

adhering to the terms of the Versailles Treaty. The Nazi planes 

that bombed Republican cities and towns like Guernica, killing 

thousand of innocent civilians, were all made possible by 

Soviet Russia and the Communist Party leadership. This 

military exchange of war material continued until June 1941, 

when Germany invaded Stalin's Russia.  

Mexico 

Unlike the United States and major Latin American 

governments, such as the ABC nations and Peru, the Mexican 

government supported the Republicans. Mexico abstained from 
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following the French-British non-intervention proposals, and 

provided $2,000,000 in aid and material assistance, which 

included 20,000 rifles and 20 million cartridges.  

Mexico's most important contributions to the Spanish Republic 

was its diplomatic help, as well as the sanctuary the nation 

arranged for Republican refugees, including Spanish 

intellectuals and orphaned children from Republican families. 

Some 50,000 took refuge, primarily in Mexico City and Morelia, 

accompanied by $300 million in various treasures still owned 

by the Left.  

It is important to note that even though the Cárdenas 

government and certain intellectuals supported the 

Republicans, the vast majority of the Mexican population and 

especially peasants, known as the Cristeros, favored Francisco 

Franco and the Nationalists to win. This is because Mexico had 

suffered the brutal 1926-1929 Cristero War in which President 

Plutarco Elías Calles tried to enforce militant state atheism 

and massacred many men, women, and children for their faith. 

To the peasant Cristero rebels, the Republicans were very 

similar and as cruel as the atheist Calles who they greatly 

despised.  

France 

Fearing it might spark a civil war inside France, the leftist 

"Popular Front" government in France did not send direct 
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support to the Republicans. French Prime Minister Léon Blum 

was sympathetic to the republic, fearing that the success of 

Nationalist forces in Spain would result in the creation of an 

ally state of Nazi Germany and Fascist Italy, an alliance that 

would nearly encircle France. Right-wing politicians opposed 

any aid and attacked the Blum government. In July 1936, 

British officials convinced Blum not to send arms to the 

Republicans and, on 27 July, the French government declared 

that it would not send military aid, technology or forces to 

assist the Republican forces. However, Blum made clear that 

France reserved the right to provide aid should it wish to the 

Republic: "We could have delivered arms to the Spanish 

Government [Republicans], a legitimate government... We have 

not done so, in order not to give an excuse to those who would 

be tempted to send arms to the rebels [Nationalists]."  

On 1 August 1936, a pro-Republican rally of 20,000 people 

confronted Blum, demanding that he send aircraft to the 

Republicans, at the same time as right-wing politicians 

attacked Blum for supporting the Republic and being 

responsible for provoking Italian intervention on the side of 

Franco. Germany informed the French ambassador in Berlin 

that Germany would hold France responsible if it supported 

"the manoeuvres of Moscow" by supporting the Republicans. 

On 21 August 1936, France signed the Non-Intervention 

Agreement. However, the Blum government provided aircraft to 

the Republicans covertly with Potez 540 bomber aircraft 
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(nicknamed the "Flying Coffin" by Spanish Republican pilots), 

Dewoitine aircraft, and Loire 46 fighter aircraft being sent from 

7 August 1936 to December of that year to Republican forces. 

France, through the favor of pro-communist air minister Pierre 

Cot also sent a group of trained fighter pilots and engineers to 

help the Republicans. Also, until 8 September 1936, aircraft 

could freely pass from France into Spain if they were bought in 

other countries.  

French novelist André Malraux was a strong supporter of the 

Republican cause; he tried to organise a volunteer air force 

(Escadrile Espana) on the Republican side, but as a practical 

organiser and squadron leader he was somewhat idealistic and 

inefficient. The Regular Spanish Air force commander Andrés 

García La Calle was openly critical of Malraux's military 

efficiency but recognised his usefulness as a propagandist. His 

novel L'Espoir and the film version he produced and directed 

(Espoir: Sierra de Teruel) were a great help for the Republican 

cause in France.  

Even after covert support by France to the Republicans ended 

in December 1936, the possibility of French intervention 

against the Nationalists remained a serious possibility 

throughout the war. German intelligence reported to Franco 

and the Nationalists that the French military was engaging in 

open discussions about intervention in the war through French 

military intervention in Catalonia and the Balearic Islands. In 
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1938, Franco feared an immediate French intervention against 

a potential Nationalist victory in Spain through French 

occupation of Catalonia, the Balearic Islands, and Spanish 

Morocco.  

Course of the war 

1936 

A large air and sealift of Nationalist troops in Spanish Morocco 

was organised to the southwest of Spain. Coup leader Sanjurjo 

was killed in a plane crash on 20 July, leaving an effective 

command split between Mola in the North and Franco in the 

South. This period also saw the worst actions of the so-called 

"Red" and "White Terrors" in Spain. On 21 July, the fifth day of 

the rebellion, the Nationalists captured the central Spanish 

naval base, located in Ferrol, Galicia.  

A rebel force under Colonel Alfonso Beorlegui Canet, sent by 

General Mola and Colonel Esteban García, undertook the 

Campaign of Gipuzkoa from July to September.  

The capture of Gipuzkoa isolated the Republican provinces in 

the north. On 5 September, the Nationalists closed the French 

border to the Republicans in the battle of Irún. On 15 

September San Sebastián, home to a divided Republican force 

of anarchists and Basque nationalists, was taken by 

Nationalist soldiers.  
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The Republic proved ineffective militarily, relying on 

disorganised revolutionary militias. The Republican 

government under Giral resigned on 4 September, unable to 

cope with the situation, and was replaced by a mostly Socialist 

organisation under Francisco Largo Caballero. The new 

leadership began to unify central command in the republican 

zone. The civilian militas were often simply just civilians 

armed with whatever was available. Thus they fared poorly in 

combat, particularly against the professional Army of Africa 

armed with modern weapons, ultimately contributing to 

Franco's rapid advance.  

On the Nationalist side, Franco was chosen as chief military 

commander at a meeting of ranking generals at Salamanca on 

21 September, now called by the title Generalísimo. Franco won 

another victory on 27 September when his troops relieved the 

siege of the Alcázar in Toledo, which had been held by a 

Nationalist garrison under Colonel José Moscardó Ituarte since 

the beginning of the rebellion, resisting thousands of 

Republican troops, who completely surrounded the isolated 

building.  

Moroccans and elements of the Spanish Legion came to the 

rescue. Two days after relieving the siege, Franco proclaimed 

himself Caudillo ("chieftain", the Spanish equivalent of the 

Italian Duce and the German Führer—meaning: 'director') 

while forcibly unifying the various and diverse Falangist, 
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Royalist and other elements within the Nationalist cause. The 

diversion to Toledo gave Madrid time to prepare a defense, but 

was hailed as a major propaganda victory and personal success 

for Franco. On 1 October 1936, General Franco was confirmed 

head of state and armies in Burgos. A similar dramatic success 

for the Nationalists occurred on 17 October, when troops 

coming from Galicia relieved the besieged town of Oviedo, in 

Northern Spain.  

In October, the Francoist troops launched a major offensive 

toward Madrid, reaching it in early November and launching a 

major assault on the city on 8 November. The Republican 

government was forced to shift from Madrid to Valencia, 

outside the combat zone, on 6 November. However, the 

Nationalists' attack on the capital was repulsed in fierce 

fighting between 8 and 23 November. A contributory factor in 

the successful Republican defense was the effectiveness of the 

Fifth Regiment and later the arrival of the International 

Brigades, though only an approximate 3,000 foreign volunteers 

participated in the battle. Having failed to take the capital, 

Franco bombarded it from the air and, in the following two 

years, mounted several offensives to try to encircle Madrid, 

beginning the three-year Siege of Madrid. The Second Battle of 

the Corunna Road, a Nationalist offensive to the northwest, 

pushed Republican forces back, but failed to isolate Madrid. 

The battle lasted into January.  
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1937 

With his ranks swelled by Italian troops and Spanish colonial 

soldiers from Morocco, Franco made another attempt to 

capture Madrid in January and February 1937, but was again 

unsuccessful. The Battle of Málaga started in mid-January, 

and this Nationalist offensive in Spain's southeast would turn 

into a disaster for the Republicans, who were poorly organised 

and armed.  

The city was taken by Franco on 8 February. The consolidation 

of various militias into the Republican Army had started in 

December 1936. The main Nationalist advance to cross the 

Jarama and cut the supply to Madrid by the Valencia road, 

termed the Battle of Jarama, led to heavy casualties (6,000–

20,000) on both sides. The operation's main objective was not 

met, though Nationalists gained a modest amount of territory.  

A similar Nationalist offensive, the Battle of Guadalajara, was 

a more significant defeat for Franco and his armies. This was 

the only publicised Republican victory of the war. Franco used 

Italian troops and blitzkrieg tactics; while many strategists 

blamed Franco for the rightists' defeat, the Germans believed it 

was the former at fault for the Nationalists' 5,000 casualties 

and loss of valuable equipment. The German strategists 

successfully argued that the Nationalists needed to 

concentrate on vulnerable areas first.  
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The "War in the North" began in mid-March, with the Biscay 

Campaign. The Basques suffered most from the lack of a 

suitable air force. On 26 April, the Condor Legion bombed the 

town of Guernica, killing 200–300 and causing significant 

damage. The destruction had a significant effect on 

international opinion. The Basques retreated.  

April and May saw the May Days, infighting among Republican 

groups in Catalonia. The dispute was between an ultimately 

victorious government—Communist forces and the anarchist 

CNT. The disturbance pleased Nationalist command, but little 

was done to exploit Republican divisions. After the fall of 

Guernica, the Republican government began to fight back with 

increasing effectiveness. In July, it made a move to 

recaptureSegovia, forcing Franco to delay his advance on the 

Bilbao front, but for only two weeks. The Huesca Offensive 

failed similarly.  

Mola, Franco's second-in-command, was killed on 3 June, in 

an airplane accident. In early July, despite the earlier loss at 

the Battle of Bilbao, the government launched a strong 

counter-offensive to the west of Madrid, focusing on Brunete.  

The Battle of Brunete, however, was a significant defeat for the 

Republic, which lost many of its most accomplished troops. 

The offensive led to an advance of 50 square kilometres 

(19 sq mi), and left 25,000 Republican casualties.  
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A Republican offensive against Zaragoza was also a failure. 

Despite having land and aerial advantages, the Battle of 

Belchite, a place lacking any military interest, resulted in an 

advance of only 10 kilometres (6.2 mi) and the loss of much 

equipment. Franco invaded Aragón and took the city of 

Santander in Cantabria in August. With the surrender of the 

Republican army in the Basque territory came the Santoña 

Agreement. Gijón finally fell in late October in the Asturias 

Offensive. Franco had effectively won in the north. At 

November's end, with Franco's troops closing in on Valencia, 

the government had to move again, this time to Barcelona.  

1938 

The Battle of Teruel was an important confrontation. The city, 

which had formerly belonged to the Nationalists, was 

conquered by Republicans in January. The Francoist troops 

launched an offensive and recovered the city by 22 February, 

but Franco was forced to rely heavily on German and Italian 

air support.  

On 7 March, Nationalists launched the Aragon Offensive, and 

by 14 April they had pushed through to the Mediterranean, 

cutting the Republican-held portion of Spain in two. The 

Republican government attempted to sue for peace in May, but 

Franco demanded unconditional surrender, and the war raged 

on. In July, the Nationalist army pressed southward from 

Teruel and south along the coast toward the capital of the 
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Republic at Valencia, but was halted in heavy fighting along 

the XYZ Line, a system of fortifications defending Valencia.  

The Republican government then launched an all-out campaign 

to reconnect their territory in the Battle of the Ebro, from 24 

July until 26 November, where Franco personally took 

command. The campaign was unsuccessful, and was 

undermined by the agreement signed in Munich between Hitler 

and Chamberlain. The Munich Agreement effectively caused a 

collapse in Republican morale by ending hope of an anti-fascist 

alliance with Western powers. The retreat from the Ebro all but 

determined the final outcome of the war. Eight days before the 

new year, Franco threw massive forces into an invasion of 

Catalonia.  

1939 

Franco's troops conquered Catalonia in a whirlwind campaign 

during the first two months of 1939. Tarragona fell on 15 

January, followed by Barcelona on 26 January and Girona on 2 

February. On 27 February, the United Kingdom and France 

recognized the Franco regime.  

Only Madrid and a few other strongholds remained for the 

Republican forces. On 5 March 1939 the Republican army, led 

by the Colonel Segismundo Casado and the politician Julián 

Besteiro, rose against the prime minister Juan Negrín and 

formed the National Defence Council (Consejo Nacional de 
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Defensa or CND) to negotiate a peace deal. Negrín fled to 

France on 6 March, but the Communist troops around Madrid 

rose against the junta, starting a brief civil war within the civil 

war. Casado defeated them, and began peace negotiations with 

the Nationalists, but Franco refused to accept anything less 

than unconditional surrender.  

On 26 March, the Nationalists started a general offensive, on 

28 March the Nationalists occupied Madrid and, by 31 March, 

they controlled all Spanish territory. Franco proclaimed victory 

in a radio speech aired on 1 April, when the last of the 

Republican forces surrendered.  

After the end of the war, there were harsh reprisals against 

Franco's former enemies. Thousands of Republicans were 

imprisoned and at least 30,000 executed. Other estimates of 

these deaths range from 50,000 to 200,000, depending on 

which deaths are included. Many others were put to forced 

labour, building railways, draining swamps, and digging 

canals. 

Hundreds of thousands of Republicans fled abroad, with some 

500,000 fleeing to France. Refugees were confined in 

internment camps of the French Third Republic, such as Camp 

Gurs or Camp Vernet, where 12,000 Republicans were housed 

in squalid conditions. In his capacity as consul in Paris, 

Chilean poet and politician Pablo Neruda organised the 
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immigration to Chile of 2,200 Republican exiles in France 

using the ship SS Winnipeg.  

Of the 17,000 refugees housed in Gurs, farmers and others 

who could not find relations in France were encouraged by the 

Third Republic, in agreement with the Francoist government, to 

return to Spain. The great majority did so and were turned 

over to the Francoist authorities in Irún. From there, they were 

transferred to the Miranda de Ebro camp for "purification" 

according to the Law of Political Responsibilities. After the 

proclamation by Marshal Philippe Pétain of the Vichy regime, 

the refugees became political prisoners, and the French police 

attempted to round up those who had been liberated from the 

camp. Along with other "undesirable" people, the Spaniards 

were sent to the Drancy internment camp before being 

deported to Nazi Germany. About 5,000 Spaniards died in the 

Mauthausen concentration camp.  

After the official end of the war, guerrilla warfare was waged on 

an irregular basis by the Spanish Maquis well into the 1950s, 

gradually reduced by military defeats and scant support from 

the exhausted population. In 1944, a group of republican 

veterans, who also fought in the French resistance against the 

Nazis, invaded the Val d'Aran in northwest Catalonia, but were 

defeated after 10 days. According to some scholars, the 

Spanish Civil War lasted until 1952; until 1939 it was 
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"conventional civil war", but afterwards it turned into an 

"irregular civil war".  

Evacuation of children 

The Republicans oversaw the evacuation of 30,000–35,000 

children from their zone, starting with Basque areas, from 

which 20,000 were evacuated. Their destinations included the 

United Kingdom and the USSR, and many other countries in 

Europe, along with Mexico.  

The policy of evacuating children to foreign countries was 

initially opposed to by elements in the government as well as 

private charities, who saw the policy as unnecessary and 

harmful to the well-being of the evacuated children. On 21 May 

1937, around 4,000 Basque children were evacuated to the UK 

on the aging steamship SS Habana from the Spanish port of 

Santurtzi. Upon their arrival two days later in Southampton, 

the children were sent to families all over England, with over 

200 children accommodated in Wales. The upper age limit was 

initially set at 12, but raised to 15. By mid-September, all of 

los niños, as they became known, had found homes with 

families. Most were repatriated to Spain after the war, but 

some 250 were still in Britain by the end of the Second World 

War in 1945. Some chose to settle down in Britain, while the 

remaining children were eventually evacuated back to Spain.  
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Financing 

During the Civil War the Nationalist and Republican military 

expenditures combined totalled some $3.89bn, on average 

$1.44bn annually. The overall Nationalist expenditures are 

calculated at $2.04bn, while the Republican ones reached ca. 

$1,85bn. In comparison, in 1936–1938 the French military 

expenditure totalled $0.87bn, the Italian ones reached 

$2.64bn, and the British ones stood at $4.13bn. As in the mid-

1930s the Spanish GDP was much smaller than the Italian, 

French or British ones, and as in the Second Republic the 

annual defence and security budget was usually around 

$0,13bn (total annual governmental spendings were close to 

$0.65bn), wartime military expenditures put huge strain on the 

Spanish economy. Financing the war posed enormous 

challenge for both the Nationalists and the Republicans.  

The two combatant parties followed similar financial strategies; 

in both cases money creation, rather than new taxes or issue 

of debt, was key to financing the war.  

Both sides relied mostly on domestic resources; in case of the 

Nationalists they amounted to 63% of the overall spendings 

($1.28bn) and in case of the Republicans they stood at 59% 

($1.09bn). In the Nationalist zone money creation was 

responsible for some 69% of domestic resources, while in the 

Republican one the corresponding figure stood at 60%; it was 
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accomplished mostly by means of advances, credits, loans and 

debit balances from respective central banks. However, while 

in the Nationalist zone the rising stock of money was only 

marginally above the production growth rate, in the Republican 

zone it by far exceeded dwindling production figures. The 

result was that while by the end of the war the Nationalist 

inflation was 41% compared to 1936, the Republican one was 

in triple digits. The second component of domestic resource 

was fiscal revenue. In the Nationalist zone it grew steadily and 

in the 2nd half of 1938 it was 214% of the figure from the 2nd 

half of 1936. In the Republican zone fiscal revenues in 1937 

dropped to some 25% of revenues recorded in the proportional 

area in 1935, but recovered slightly in 1938. Neither side re-

engineered the pre-war tax system; differences resulted from 

dramatic problems with tax collection in the Republican zone 

and from the course of the war, as more and more population 

was governed by the Nationalists. A smaller percentage of 

domestic resources came from expropriations, donations or 

internal borrowing.  

Foreign resources amounted to 37% in case of the Nationalists 

($0,76bn) and 41% in case of the Republicans ($0,77bn). For 

the Nationalists it was mostly the Italian and German credit; in 

case of the Republicans it was sales of gold reserves, mostly to 

the USSR and in much smaller amount to France. None of the 

sides resolved to public borrowing and none floated debt on 

foreign exchange markets.  
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Authors of recent studies suggest that given Nationalist and 

Republican spendings were comparable, earlier theory pointing 

to Republican mismanagement of resources is no longer 

tenable. Instead, they claim that the Republicans failed to 

translate their resources into military victory largely because 

of constraints of the international non-intervention agreement; 

they were forced to spend in excess of market prices and 

accept goods of lower quality. Initial turmoil in the Republican 

zone contributed to problems, while at later stages the course 

of the war meant that population, territory and resources kept 

shrinking.  

Death toll 

The death toll of the Spanish Civil War is far from clear and 

remains—especially in part related to war and postwar 

repression—a very controversial issue. Many general 

historiographic works—notably in Spain—refrain from 

advancing any figures; massive historical series, encyclopedias 

or dictionaries provide no numbers or at best propose vague 

general descriptions; more detailed general history accounts 

produced by expert Spanish scholars often remain silent on the 

issue. Foreign scholars, especially English-speaking historians, 

are more willing to offer some general estimates, though some 

have revised their projections, usually downward, and the 

figures vary from 1 million to 250,000. Apart from bias/ill will, 
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incompetence or changing access to sources, the differences 

result chiefly from categorisation and methodology issues.  

The totals advanced usually include or exclude various 

categories. Scholars who focus on killings or "violent deaths" 

most typically list (1) combat and combat-related deaths; 

figures in this rubric range from 100,000 to 700,000; (2) 

rearguard terror, both judicial and extrajudicial, recorded until 

the end of the Civil War: 103,000 to 235,000; (3) civilian 

deaths from military action, typically air raids: 10,000 to 

15,000. These categories combined point to totals from 

235,000 to 715,000. Many authors opt for a broader view and 

calculate "death toll" by adding also (4) above-the-norm deaths 

caused by malnutrition, hygiene shortcomings, cold, illness, 

etc. recorded until the end of the Civil War: 30,000 to 630,000. 

It is not unusual to encounter war statistics which include (5) 

postwar terror related to Civil War, at times up to the year of 

1961: 23,000 to 200,000. Some authors also add (6) foreign 

combat and combat-related deaths: 3,000 to 25,000, (7) 

Spaniards killed in World War II: 6,000, (8) deaths related to 

postwar guerilla, typically the Invasion of Val d'Aran: 4,000, 

(9) above-the-norm deaths caused by malnutrition, etc., 

recorded after the Civil War but related to it: 160,000 to 

300,000.  

Demographers take an entirely different approach; instead of 

adding up deaths from different categories, they try to gauge 



Rise of Totalitarianism 
 

175 

the difference between the total number of deaths recorded 

during the war and the total that would result from applying 

annual death averages from the 1926–1935 period; this 

difference is considered excess death resulting from the war. 

The figure they arrive at for the 1936–1939 period is 346,000; 

the figure for 1936–1942, including the years of postwar 

deaths resulting from terror and war sufferings, is 540,000. 

Some scholars go even further and calculate the war's 

"population loss" or "demographic impact"; in this case they 

might include also (10) migration abroad: 160,000 to 730,000 

and (11) decrease in birth rate: 500,000 to 570,000.  

Atrocities 

Death totals remain debated. British historian Antony Beevor 

wrote in his history of the Civil War that Franco's ensuing 

"white terror" resulted in the deaths of 200,000 people and 

that the "red terror" killed 38,000. Julius Ruiz contends that, 

"Although the figures remain disputed, a minimum of 37,843 

executions were carried out in the Republican zone, with a 

maximum of 150,000 executions (including 50,000 after the 

war) in Nationalist Spain". Historian Michael Seidman stated 

that the Nationalists killed approximately 130,000 people and 

the Republicans approximately 50,000 people.  

In 2008 a Spanish judge, Baltasar Garzón, opened an 

investigation into the executions and disappearances of 
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114,266 people between 17 July 1936 and December 1951. 

Among the executions investigated was that of the poet and 

dramatist Federico García Lorca, whose body has never been 

found. Mention of García Lorca's death was forbidden during 

Franco's regime.  

Recent research has started to locate mass graves, using a 

combination of witness testimony, remote sensing and forensic 

geophysics techniques.  

Historians such as Helen Graham, Paul Preston, Antony 

Beevor, Gabriel Jackson and Hugh Thomas argue that the 

mass executions behind the Nationalist lines were organised 

and approved by the Nationalist rebel authorities, while the 

executions behind the Republican lines were the result of the 

breakdown of the Republican state and chaos:  

Though there was much wanton killing in rebel Spain, the idea 

of the l impieza, the "cleaning up", of the country from the evils 

which had overtaken it, was a disciplined policy of the new 

authorities and a part of their programme of regeneration. In 

republican Spain, most of the killing was the consequence of 

anarchy, the outcome of a national breakdown, and not the 

work of the state, although some political parties in some cities 

abetted the enormities, and some of those responsible 

ultimately rose to positions of authority. 

—  Hugh Thomas 
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Conversely, historians such as Stanley Payne, Julius Ruiz and 

José Sánchez argue that the political violence in the 

Republican zone was in fact organized by the left:  

In general, this was not an irrepressible outpouring of hatred, 

by the man in the street for his "oppressors", as it has 

sometimes been painted, but a semi-organized activity carried 

out by sections of nearly all the leftist groups. In the entire 

leftist zone the only organized political party that eschewed 

involvement in such activity were the Basque Nationalists. 

Nationalists 

Nationalist atrocities, which authorities frequently ordered so 

as to eradicate any trace of "leftism" in Spain, were common. 

The notion of a limpieza (cleansing) formed an essential part of 

the rebel strategy, and the process began immediately after an 

area had been captured. According to historian Paul Preston, 

the minimum number of those executed by the rebels is 

130,000, and is likely to have been far higher, with other 

historians placing the figure at 200,000 dead. The violence was 

carried out in the rebel zone by the military, the Civil Guard 

and the Falange in the name of the regime. Julius Ruiz reports 

that the Nationalists killed 100,000 people during the war and 

executed at least 28,000 immediately after. The first three 

months of the war were the bloodiest, with 50 to 70 percent of 

all executions carried out by Franco's regime, from 1936 to 

1975, occurring during this period. The first few months of 
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killings lacked much in the way of centralisation, being largely 

in the hands of local commanders. Such was the extent of the 

killings of civilians that General Mola was taken aback by 

them, despite his own planning emphasising the need for 

violence; early in the conflict he had ordered a group of leftist 

militiamen to be immediately executed, only to change his 

mind and rescind the order.  

Many such acts were committed by reactionary groups during 

the first weeks of the war. This included the execution of 

schoolteachers, because the efforts of the Second Spanish 

Republic to promote laicism and displace the Church from 

schools by closing religious educational institutions were 

considered by the Nationalists as an attack on the Roman 

Catholic Church. Extensive killings of civilians were carried 

out in the cities captured by the Nationalists, along with the 

execution of unwanted individuals.  

These included non-combatants such as trade-unionists, 

Popular Front politicians, suspected Freemasons, Basque, 

Catalan, Andalusian, and Galician Nationalists, Republican 

intellectuals, relatives of known Republicans, and those 

suspected of voting for the Popular Front. The Nationalists also 

frequently killed military officers who refused to support them 

in the early days of the coup. Many killings in the first few 

months were often done by vigilantes and civilian death 

squads, with the Nationalist leadership often condoning their 
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actions or even assisting them. Post-war executions were 

conducted by military tribunal, though the accused had limited 

ways to defend themselves. A large number of the executed 

were done so for their political activities or positions they held 

under the Republic during the war, though those who 

committed their own killings under the Republic were also 

amongst executed as well. A 2010 analysis of Catalonia argued 

that Nationalist executions were more likely to occur when 

they occupied an area that experienced greater prior violence, 

likely due to pro-Nationalist civilians seeking revenge for 

earlier actions by denouncing others to the Nationalist forces. 

However, during the war, executions declined as the Francoist 

state began to establish itself.  

Nationalist forces massacred civilians in Seville, where some 

8,000 people were shot; 10,000 were killed in Cordoba; 6,000–

12,000 were killed in Badajoz after more than one thousand of 

landowners and conservatives were killed by the 

revolutionaries.  

In Granada, where working-class neighborhoods were hit with 

artillery and right-wing squads were given free rein to kill 

government sympathizers, at least 2,000 people were 

murdered. In February 1937, over 7,000 were killed after the 

capture of Málaga. When Bilbao was conquered, thousands of 

people were sent to prison. There were fewer executions than 

usual, however, because of the effect Guernica left on 
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Nationalists' reputations internationally. The numbers killed 

as the columns of the Army of Africa devastated and pillaged 

their way between Seville and Madrid are particularly difficult 

to calculate. Landowners who owned the large estates of 

Southern Spain rode alongside the Army of Africa to reclaim 

via force of arms the land given to the landless peasants by the 

Republican government. Rural workers were executed and it 

was joked that they had received their "land reform" in the 

form of a burial plot.  

Nationalists also murdered Catholic clerics. In one particular 

incident, following the capture of Bilbao, they took hundreds of 

people, including 16 priests who had served as chaplains for 

the Republican forces, to the countryside or graveyards and 

murdered them.  

Franco's forces also persecuted Protestants, including 

murdering 20 Protestant ministers. Franco's forces were 

determined to remove the "Protestant heresy" from Spain. The 

Nationalists also persecuted Basques, as they strove to 

eradicate Basque culture. According to Basque sources, some 

22,000 Basques were murdered by Nationalists immediately 

after the Civil War.  

The Nationalist side conducted aerial bombing of cities in 

Republican territory, carried out mainly by the Luftwaffe 

volunteers of the Condor Legion and the Italian air force 

volunteers of the Corpo Truppe Volontarie: Madrid, Barcelona, 
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Valencia, Guernica, Durango, and other cities were attacked. 

The Bombing of Guernica was the most controversial. The 

Italian air force conducted a particularly heavy bombing raid 

on Barcelona in early 1938. While some Nationalist leaders did 

oppose the bombing of the city – for example, Generals Yagüe 

and Moscardó, who were noted for being nonconformists, 

protested against the indiscriminate destruction – other 

Nationalist leaders, often those of a fascist persuasion, 

approved of the bombings which they saw as necessary to 

"cleanse" Barcelona.  

Michael Seidman observes that the Nationalist terror was a key 

part of the Nationalist victory as it allowed them to secure 

their rear; the Russian Whites, in their respective civil war, 

had struggled to suppress peasant rebellions, bandits and 

warlordism behind their lines; British observers argued that if 

the Russian Whites had been able to secure law and order 

behind their lines, they would have won over the Russian 

peasantry, while the inability of the Chinese Nationalists to 

stop banditry during the Chinese Civil War did severe damage 

to the regime's legitimacy.  

The Spanish Nationalists, in contrast, imposed a puritanically 

terrorist order on the populace in their territory. They never 

suffered from serious partisan activity behind their lines and 

the fact that banditry did not develop into a serious problem in 

Spain, despite how easy it would have been in such 
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mountainous terrain, demands explanation. Seidman argues 

that severe terror, combined with control of the food supply, 

explains the general lack of guerilla warfare in the Nationalist 

rear. A 2009 analysis of Nationalist violence argues that 

evidence supports the view that killings were used strategically 

by the Nationalists to pre-emptively counter potential 

opposition by targeting individuals and groups deemed most 

likely to cultivate future rebellions, thus helping the 

Nationalists win the war.  

Republicans 

Scholars have estimated that between 38,000 and 70,000 

civilians were killed in Republican-held territories, with the 

most common estimate being around 50,000.  

Whatever the exact number, the death toll was far exaggerated 

by both sides, for propaganda reasons, giving birth to the 

legend of the millón de muertos. Franco's government would 

later give names of 61,000 victims of the red terrors, but which 

are not considered objectively verifiable. The deaths would 

form the prevailing outside opinion of the republic up until the 

bombing of Guernica.  

The leftist Revolution of 1936 that preceded the war was 

accompanied since the first months by an escalation of leftist 

anticlerical terror that, between July 18 and 31 alone, killed 

839 religious, continuing during the month of August with 
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2055 other victims, including 10 bishops killed, that was 42% 

of the total number of registered victims in that year. 

Particularly noteworthy repression was conducted in Madrid 

during the war.  

The Republican government was anticlerical, and, when the 

war began, supporters attacked and murdered Roman Catholic 

clergy in reaction to the news of military revolt. In his 1961 

book, Spanish archbishop Antonio Montero Moreno, who at the 

time was director of the journal Ecclesia, wrote that 6,832 were 

killed during the war, including 4,184 priests, 2,365 monks 

and friars, and 283 nuns (many were first raped before they 

died), in addition to 13 bishops, a figure accepted by 

historians, including Beevor. Some of the killings were carried 

out with extreme cruelty, some were burned to death, there are 

reports of castration and disembowelment. Some sources claim 

that by the conflict's end, 20 percent of the nation's clergy had 

been killed. The "Execution" of the Sacred Heart of Jesus by 

Communist militiamen at Cerro de los Ángeles near Madrid, on 

7 August 1936, was the most infamous of widespread 

desecration of religious property. In dioceses where the 

Republicans had general control, a large proportion—often a 

majority—of secular priests were killed. Michael Seidman 

argues that the hatred of the Republicans for the clergy was in 

excess of anything else; while local revolutionaries might spare 

the lives of the rich and right-wingers, they seldom offered the 

same to priests.  
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Like clergy, civilians were executed in Republican territories. 

Some civilians were executed as suspected Falangists. Others 

died in acts of revenge after Republicans heard of massacres 

carried out in the Nationalist zone. Even families who simply 

attended Catholic Mass were hunted down; including children. 

Air raids committed against Republican cities were another 

driving factor. Shopkeepers and industrialists were shot if they 

did not sympathise with the Republicans, and were usually 

spared if they did. Fake justice was sought through 

commissions, named checas after the Soviet secret police 

organization.  

Many killings were done by paseos, impromptu death squads 

that emerged as a spontaneous practice amongst revolutionary 

activists in Republican areas. According to Seidman, the 

Republican government only made efforts to stop the actions of 

the paseos late in the war; during the first few months, the 

government either tolerated it or made no efforts to stop it. The 

killings often contained a symbolic element, as those killed 

were seen as embodying an oppressive source of power and 

authority. This was also why the Republicans would kill priests 

or employers who were not considered to personally have done 

anything wrong but were nonetheless seen as representing the 

old oppressive order that needed to be destroyed.  

It is important to note that there was infighting between the 

Republican factions, and that the Communists following 
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Stalinism declared the POUM, the Workers' Party of Marxist 

Unification, (an anti-Stalinistcommunist party) to be an illegal 

organization, along with the Anarchists. The Stalinists 

betrayed and committed mass atrocities on the other 

Republican factions, such as torture and mass executions. 

George Orwell would record this in his Homage to Catalonia as 

well as write Nineteen Eighty-Four and Animal Farm to criticize 

Stalinism. As pressure mounted with the increasing success of 

the Nationalists, many civilians were executed by councils and 

tribunals controlled by competing Communist and anarchist 

groups. Some members of the latter were executed by Soviet-

advised communist functionaries in Catalonia, as recounted by 

George Orwell's description of the purges in Barcelona in 1937 

in which followed a period of increasing tension between 

competing elements of the Catalan political scene. Some 

individuals fled to friendly embassies, which would house up 

to 8,500 people during the war.  

In the Andalusian town of Ronda, 512 suspected Nationalists 

were executed in the first month of the war. Communist 

Santiago Carrillo Solares was accused of the killing of 

Nationalists in the Paracuellos massacre near Paracuellos de 

Jarama. Pro-Soviet Communists committed numerous 

atrocities against fellow Republicans, including other Marxists: 

André Marty, known as the Butcher of Albacete, was 

responsible for the deaths of some 500 members of the 

International Brigades. Andrés Nin, leader of the POUM 
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(Workers' Party of Marxist Unification), and many other 

prominent POUM members, were murdered by the Communists, 

with the help of the USSR's NKVD.  

The Republicans also conducted their own bombing attacks on 

cities, such as the bombing of Cabra, and in fact conducted 

more indiscriminate air raids on cities and civilian targets than 

the Nationalists.  

Thirty-eight thousand people were killed in the Republican 

zone during the war, 17,000 of whom were killed in Madrid or 

Catalonia within a month of the coup. Whilst the Communists 

were forthright in their support of extrajudicial killings, much 

of the Republican side was appalled by the murders. Azaña 

came close to resigning. He, alongside other members of 

Parliament and a great number of other local officials, 

attempted to prevent Nationalist supporters being lynched. 

Some of those in positions of power intervened personally to 

stop the killings.  

Social revolution 

In the anarchist-controlled areas, Aragon and Catalonia, in 

addition to the temporary military success, there was a vast 

social revolution in which the workers and peasants 

collectivisedland and industry and set up councils parallel to 

the paralyzed Republican government. This revolution was 
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opposed by the Soviet-supported communists who, perhaps 

surprisingly, campaigned against the loss of civil property 

rights.  

As the war progressed, the government and the communists 

were able to exploit their access to Soviet arms to restore 

government control over the war effort, through diplomacy and 

force. Anarchists and the Workers' Party of Marxist Unification 

(Partido Obrero de Unificación Marxista, POUM) were integrated 

into the regular army, albeit with resistance. The POUM 

Trotskyists were outlawed and denounced by the Soviet-aligned 

Communists as an instrument of the fascists. In the May Days 

of 1937, many thousands of anarchist and communist 

Republican soldiers fought for control of strategic points in 

Barcelona.  

The pre-war Falange was a small party of some 30,000–40,000 

members. It also called for a social revolution that would have 

seen Spanish society transformed by National Syndicalism. 

Following the execution of its leader, José Antonio Primo de 

Rivera, by the Republicans, the party swelled in size to several 

hundred thousand members. The leadership of the Falange 

suffered 60 percent casualties in the early days of the civil 

war, and the party was transformed by new members and 

rising new leaders, called camisas nuevas ("new shirts"), who 

were less interested in the revolutionary aspects of National 

Syndicalism. Subsequently, Franco united all fighting groups 
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into the Traditionalist Spanish Falange and the National 

Syndicalist Offensive Juntas (Spanish: Falange Española 

Tradicionalista de las Juntas de Ofensiva Nacional-Sindicalista, 

FET y de las JONS).  

The 1930s also saw Spain become a focus for pacifist 

organisations, including the Fellowship of Reconciliation, the 

War Resisters League, and the War Resisters' International. 

Many people including, as they are now called, the insumisos 

("defiant ones", conscientious objectors) argued and worked for 

non-violent strategies. Prominent Spanish pacifists, such as 

Amparo Poch y Gascón and José Brocca, supported the 

Republicans. Brocca argued that Spanish pacifists had no 

alternative but to make a stand against fascism. He put this 

stand into practice by various means, including organizing 

agricultural workers to maintain food supplies, and through 

humanitarian work with war refugees.  

Art and propaganda 

Throughout the course of the Spanish Civil War, people all over 

the world were exposed to the goings-on and effects of it on its 

people not only through standard art, but also through 

propaganda. Motion pictures, posters, books, radio programs, 

and leaflets are a few examples of this media art that was so 

influential during the war. Produced by both nationalists and 

republicans, propaganda allowed Spaniards a way to spread 
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awareness about their war all over the world. A film co-

produced by famous early-twentieth century authors such as 

Ernest Hemingway and Lillian Hellman was used as a way to 

advertise Spain's need for military and monetary aid. This film, 

The Spanish Earth, premiered in America in July 1937. In 

1938, George Orwell's Homage to Catalonia, a personal account 

of his experiences and observations in the war, was published 

in the United Kingdom. In 1939, Jean-Paul Sartre published in 

France a short story, "The Wall" in which he describes the last 

night of prisoners of war sentenced to death by shooting.  

Leading works of sculpture include Alberto Sánchez Pérez's El 

pueblo español tiene un camino que conduce a una estrella ("The 

Spanish People Have a Path that Leads to a Star"), a 12.5 m 

monolith constructed out of plaster representing the struggle 

for a socialist utopia; Julio González'sLa Montserrat, an anti-

war work which shares its title with a mountain near 

Barcelona, is created from a sheet of iron which has been 

hammered and welded to create a peasant mother carrying a 

small child in one arm and a sickle in the other. andAlexander 

Calder's Fuente de mercurio (Mercury Fountain) a protest work 

by the American against the Nationalist forced control of 

Almadén and the mercury mines there.  

Salvador Dali responded to the conflict in his homeland with 

two powerful oil paintings in 1936: Soft Construction with 

Boiled Beans: A Premonition of Civil War (Philadelphia Museum 
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of Art) and Autumnal Cannibalism (Tate Modern, London). Of 

the former, the art historian Robert Hughes stated, "Salvador 

Dali appropriated the horizontal thigh of Goya's crouching 

Saturn for the hybrid monster in the painting Soft Construction 

with Boiled Beans, Premonition of Civil War, which rather than 

Picasso's Guernica – is the finest single work of visual art 

inspired by the Spanish Civil War." On the later, Dali 

commented "These Iberian beings mutually devouring each 

other correspond to the pathos of civil war considered as a 

pure phenomenon of natural history as opposed to Picasso who 

considered it a political phenomenon."  

Pablo Picasso painted Guernica in 1937, taking inspiration 

from the bombing of Guernica, and in Leonardo da Vinci's 

Battle of Anghiari. Guernica, like many important Republican 

masterpieces, was featured at the 1937 International 

Exhibition in Paris. The work's size (11 ft by 25.6 ft) grabbed 

much attention and cast the horrors of the mounting Spanish 

civil unrest into a global spotlight. The painting has since been 

heralded as an anti-war work and a symbol of peace in the 

20th century.  

Joan Miró created El Segador (The Reaper) in 1937, formally 

titled El campesino catalán en rebeldía (Catalan peasant in 

revolt), which spans some 18 feet by 12 feet and depicted a 

peasant brandishing a sickle in the air, to which Miró 

commented that "The sickle is not a communist symbol. It is 
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the reaper's symbol, the tool of his work, and, when his 

freedom is threatened, his weapon." This work, also featured at 

the 1937 International Exhibition in Paris, was shipped back 

to the Spanish Republic's capital in Valencia following the 

Exhibition, but has since gone missing or has been destroyed.  

The Army of Africa would feature a place in propaganda on 

both sides, due to the complex history of the Army and 

Spanish colonialism in North Africa. Both sides would invent 

different characters of the Moorish troops, drawing on a wide 

range of historical symbols, cultural prejudices and racial 

stereotypes. The Army of Africa would be used as part of a 

propaganda campaign by both sides to portray the other side 

as foreign invaders attacking from outside the national 

community, while portraying their own as representing "true 

Spain."  

Consequences 

Economic effects 

Payment for the war on both sides was very high. Monetary 

resources on the Republican side were completely drained from 

weapon acquisition. On the Nationalist side, the biggest losses 

came after the conflict, when they had to let Germany exploit 

the country's mining resources, so until the beginning of World 

War II they barely had the chance to make any profit. Spain 
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was devastated in many areas, with completely destroyed 

towns. The Spanish economy took decades to recover.  

Victims 

The number of civilian victims is still being discussed, with 

some estimating approximately 500,000 victims, while others 

go as high as 1,000,000. These deaths were not only due to 

combat, but also executions, which were especially well-

organised and systematic on the Nationalist side, being more 

disorganised on the Republican side (mainly caused by loss of 

control of the armed masses by the government). However, the 

500,000 death toll does not include deaths by malnutrition, 

hunger or diseases brought about by the war.  

Francoist repression after the war and Republican exile 

After the War, the Francoist regime initiated a repressive 

process against the losing side, a "cleansing" of sorts against 

anything or anyone associated with the Republic. This process 

led many to exile or death. Exile happened in three waves. The 

first one was during the Northern Campaign (March–November 

1937), followed by a second wave after the fall of Catalonia 

(January–February 1939), in which about 400,000 people fled 

to France. The French authorities had to improvise 

concentration camps, with such hard conditions that almost 

half of the exiled Spaniards returned. The third wave occurred 

after the War, at the end of March 1939, when thousands of 
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Republicans tried to board ships to exile, although few 

succeeded.  

International relations 

The political and emotional repercussions of the War 

transcended the national scale, becoming a precursor to the 

Second World War. The war has frequently been described by 

historians as the "prelude to" or the "opening round of" the 

Second World War, as part of an international battle against 

fascism. Historian Stanley Payne suggests that this view is an 

incorrect summary of the geopolitic position of the interwar 

period, arguing that the international alliance that was created 

in December 1941, once the United States entered the Second 

World War, was politically much broader than the Spanish 

Popular Front. The Spanish Civil War, Payne argues, was thus 

a far more clear-cut revolutionary and counter-revolutionary 

struggle between the left and right wings, while the Second 

World War initially had fascists and communist powers on the 

same side with the combined Nazi-Soviet invasion of Poland. 

Payne suggests that instead the civil war was the last of the 

revolutionary crises that emerged from the First World War, 

observing it had parallels such as the complete revolutionary 

breakdown of domestic institutions, the development of full-

scale revolutionary and counter-revolutionary struggles, the 

development of a typical post-WW1 communist force in the 

form of the People's Army, an extreme exacerbation of 
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nationalism, the frequent use of WW1-style military weapons 

and tactics and the fact that it was not the product of the plan 

of any of the major powers, making it more similar to the post-

WW1 crises which arose after Versailles.  

After the War, Spanish policy leaned heavily towards Germany, 

Portugal and Italy, since they had been the greatest Nationalist 

supporters and aligned with Spain ideologically. However, the 

end of the Civil War and later the Second World War saw the 

isolation of the country from most other nations until the 

1950s, in which the American anti-Communist international 

policy favoured having a far-right and extremely anti-

communist ally in Europe.  

  



Chapter 4 

Second Spanish Republic 

The Spanish Republic (Spanish: República Española), 

commonly known as the Second Spanish Republic (Spanish: 

Segunda República Española), was the form of government in 

Spain from 1931 to 1939. The Republic was proclaimed on 14 

April 1931, after the deposition of King Alfonso XIII, and was 

dissolved on 1 April 1939 after surrendering in the Spanish 

Civil War to the Nationalists led by General Francisco Franco.  

After the proclamation of the Republic, a provisional 

government was established until December 1931, when the 

1931 Constitution was approved. Once the constituent 

assembly had fulfilled its mandate of approving a new 

constitution, it should have arranged for regular parliamentary 

elections and adjourned. However, fearing the increasingly 

popular opposition, the Radical and Socialist majority 

postponed the regular elections, prolonging their power for two 

more years. During this time, the government of Manuel Azaña 

initiated numerous reforms to what in their view would 

modernize the country. In 1932 the Jesuits, who were in 

charge of the best schools throughout the country, were 

banned and had all their property confiscated and the army 

was reduced. Landowners were expropriated. Home rule was 

granted to Catalonia, with a local parliament and a president 

of its own.  
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Soon Azaña lost parliamentary support and President Alcalá-

Zamora forced his resignation in September 1933. The 

subsequent 1933 election was won by the Spanish 

Confederation of the Autonomous Right (CEDA). However the 

President declined to invite its leader, Gil Robles, to form a 

government, fearing CEDA's monarchist sympathies. Instead he 

invited the Radical Republican Party's Alejandro Lerroux to do 

so. CEDA was denied cabinet positions for nearly a year. In 

October 1934 CEDA was finally successful in forcing the 

acceptance of three ministries. The Socialists triggered an 

insurrection that they had been preparing for nine months. A 

general strike was called by the UGT and the PSOE in the 

name of the Alianza Obrera. The rebellion developed into a 

bloody revolutionary uprising, aiming to overthrow the 

legitimate democratic regime. Armed revolutionaries managed 

to take the whole province of Asturias, committing numerous 

murders of policemen, clerics and civilians and destroying 

religious buildings and part of the university at Oviedo. In the 

occupied areas, the rebels officially declared a proletarian 

revolution and abolished regular money. The rebellion was 

crushed by the Spanish Navy and the Spanish Republican 

Army, the latter using mainly Moorish colonial troops from 

Spanish Morocco.  

In 1935, after a series of crisis, President Alcalá-Zamora, who 

had always been hostile to the government, called for new 

elections, instead of inviting CEDA, the party with most seats 
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in the parliament, to form a new government. The Popular 

Frontwon the 1936 general election with a narrow victory. The 

revolutionary left wing masses took to the streets, released 

prisoners and in a few hours, sixteen people were killed and 

thirty-nine were seriously injured, while fifty churches and 

seventy conservative political centres were attacked. Manuel 

Azaña Díaz was called upon to form a government before the 

electoral process had come to an end; he would shortly replace 

Zamora as president, taking advantage of a constitutional 

loophole. The right abandoned the parliamentary option and 

began to conspire to overthrow the republic, rather than taking 

control of it.  

The disenchantment with Azaña's ruling was voiced by Miguel 

de Unamuno, a republican and one of Spain's most respected 

intellectuals, who said that President Manuel Azaña should 

commit suicide as a patriotic act. On 12 July 1936 a group of 

Guardia de Asalto and other leftist militiamen, with the 

approval of the minister of interior to illegally arrest a list of 

members or the parliament, went to opposition leader José 

Calvo Sotelo's house and shot him dead. This assassination 

had an electrifying effect which provided a catalyst to 

transform what was a "limping conspiracy", led by General 

Emilio Mola, into a powerful revolt. Three days later (17 July), 

the revolt began with an army uprising in Spanish Morocco, 

which then spread to several regions of the country. The 

military rebels intended to seize power immediately, but were 
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met with serious resistance as most of the main cities 

remained loyal to the Republic. An estimated total of half a 

million people would lose their lives in the war that followed.  

During the Spanish Civil War, there were three governments. 

The first was led by left-wing republican José Giral (from July 

to September 1936); however, a revolution inspired mostly on 

libertarian socialist, anarchist and communist principles broke 

within the Republic, which weakened the rule of the Republic. 

The second government was led by socialistFrancisco Largo 

Caballero of the trade union General Union of Workers (UGT). 

The UGT, along with the Confederación Nacional del Trabajo 

(CNT), were the main forces behind the aforementioned social 

revolution. The third government was led by socialist Juan 

Negrín, who led the Republic until the military coup of 

Segismundo Casado, which ended republican resistance and 

ultimately led to the victory of the nationalists.  

The Republican government survived in exile, and retained an 

embassy in Mexico City until 1976. After the restoration of 

democracy in Spain, the government-in-exile formally dissolved 

the following year.  

1931–1933 The Reformist Biennium 

On 28 January 1930, the military dictatorship of General 

Miguel Primo de Rivera (who had been in power since 
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September 1923) was overthrown. This led various republican 

factions from a wide variety of backgrounds (including old 

conservatives, socialists and Catalan nationalists) to join 

forces. The Pact of San Sebastián was the key to the transition 

from monarchy to republic. Republicans of all tendencies were 

committed to the Pact of San Sebastian in overthrowing the 

monarchy and establishing a republic. The restoration of the 

royal Bourbons was rejected by large sectors of the populace 

who vehemently opposed the King. The pact, signed by 

representatives of the main Republican forces, allowed a joint 

anti-monarchy political campaign. The 12 April 1931 municipal 

elections led to a landslide victory for republicans. Two days 

later, the Second Republic was proclaimed, and King Alfonso 

XIII went into exile. The king's departure led to a provisional 

government of the young republic under Niceto Alcalá-Zamora. 

Catholic churches and establishments in cities like Madrid and 

Sevilla were set ablaze on 11 May.  

1931 Constitution 

In June 1931 a Constituent Cortes was elected to draft a new 

constitution, which came into force in December.  

The new constitution established freedom of speech and 

freedom of association, extended suffrage to women in 1933, 

allowed divorce, and stripped the Spanish nobility of any 

special legal status. It also effectively disestablished the 

Roman Catholic Church, but the disestablishment was 
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somewhat reversed by the Cortes that same year. Its 

controversial articles 26 and 27 imposed stringent controls on 

Church property and barred religious orders from the ranks of 

educators. Scholars have described the constitution as hostile 

to religion, with one scholar characterising it as one of the 

most hostile of the 20th century. José Ortega y Gasset stated, 

"the article in which the Constitution legislates the actions of 

the Church seems highly improper to me." Pope Pius XI 

condemned the Spanish government's deprivation of the civil 

liberties of Catholics in the encyclicalDilectissima Nobis.  

The legislative branch was changed to a single chamber called 

the Congress of Deputies. The constitution established legal 

procedures for the nationalisation of public services and land, 

banks, and railways. The constitution provided generally 

accorded civil liberties and representation.  

The Republican Constitution also changed the country's 

national symbols. The Himno de Riego was established as the 

national anthem, and the Tricolor, with three horizontal red-

yellow-purple fields, became the new flag of Spain. Under the 

new Constitution, all of Spain's regions had the right to 

autonomy. Catalonia (1932), the Basque Country (1936) and 

Galicia (although the Galician Statute of Autonomy couldn't 

come into effect due to the war) exercised this right, with 

Aragon, Andalusia and Valencia, engaged in negotiations with 

the government before the outbreak of the Civil War. The 
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Constitution guaranteed a wide range of civil liberties, but it 

opposed key beliefs of the conservative right, which was very 

rooted in rural areas, and desires of the hierarchy of the 

Roman Catholic Church, which was stripped of schools and 

public subsidies.  

The 1931 Constitution was formally effective from 1931 until 

1939. In the summer of 1936, after the outbreak of the 

Spanish Civil War, it became largely irrelevant after the 

authority of the Republic was superseded in many places by 

revolutionary socialists and anarchists on one side, and 

Nationalists on the other.  

The Azaña government 

With the new constitution approved in December 1931, once 

the constituent assembly had fulfilled its mandate of approving 

a new constitution, it should have arranged for regular 

parliamentary elections and adjourned. However fearing the 

increasing popular opposition the Radicals and Socialist 

majority postponed the regular elections, therefore prolonging 

their way in power for two more years. This way the republican 

government of Manuel Azaña initiated numerous reforms to 

what in their view would "modernize" the country.  

In 1932 the Jesuits who were in charge of the best schools 

throughout the country were banned and had all their property 

confiscated. The army was reduced. Landowners were 
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expropriated. Home rule was granted to Catalonia, with a local 

parliament and a president of its own.  Catholic churches in 

major cities were again subject to arson in 1932, and a 

revolutionary strike action was seen in Málaga the same year. 

A Catholic church in Zaragoza was burnt down in 1933.  

In November 1932, Miguel de Unamuno, one of the most 

respected Spanish intellectuals, rector of the University of 

Salamanca, and himself a Republican, publicly raised his voice 

to protest. In a speech delivered on 27 November 1932, at the 

Madrid Ateneo, he protested: "Even the Inquisition was limited 

by certain legal guarantees. But now we have something worse: 

a police force which is grounded only on a general sense of 

panic and on the invention of non-existent dangers to cover up 

this over-stepping of the law."  

In 1933, all remaining religious congregations were obliged to 

pay taxes and banned from industry, trade and educational 

activities. This ban was forced with strict police severity and 

widespread mob violence.  

1933–1935 period and miners' 

uprising 

The majority vote in the 1933 elections was won by the 

Spanish Confederation of the Autonomous Right (CEDA). In 

face of CEDA's electoral victory, president Alcalá-Zamora 
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declined to invite its leader, Gil Robles, to form a government. 

Instead he invited the Radical Republican Party's Alejandro 

Lerroux to do so. Despite receiving the most votes, CEDA was 

denied cabinet positions for nearly a year. After a year of 

intense pressure, CEDA, the largest party in the congress, was 

finally successful in forcing the acceptance of three ministries. 

However the entrance of CEDA in the government, although 

being normal in a parliamentary democracy, was not well 

accepted by the left. The Socialists triggered an insurrection 

that they had been preparing for nine months. A general strike 

was called by the UGT and the PSOE in the name of the 

Alianza Obrera. The issue was that the Left Republicans 

identified the Republic not with democracy or constitutional 

law but with a specific set of left-wing policies and politicians. 

Any deviation, even if democratic, was seen as treasonous.  

The inclusion of three CEDA ministers in the government that 

took office on 1 October 1934 led to a country wide revolt. A 

"Catalan State" was proclaimed by Catalan nationalist leader 

Lluis Companys, but it lasted just ten hours. Despite an 

attempt at a general stoppage in Madrid, other strikes did not 

endure. This left Asturian strikers to fight alone. Miners in 

Asturias occupied the capital, Oviedo, killing officials and 

clergymen. Fifty eight religious buildings including churches, 

convents and part of the university at Oviedo were burned and 

destroyed. The miners proceeded to occupy several other 

towns, most notably the large industrial centre of La Felguera, 
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and set up town assemblies, or "revolutionary committees", to 

govern the towns that they controlled. Thirty thousand workers 

were mobilized for battle within ten days. In the occupied areas 

the rebels officially declared the proletarian revolution and 

abolished regular money. The revolutionary soviets set up by 

the miners attempted to impose order on the areas under their 

control, and the moderate socialist leadership of Ramón 

González Peña and Belarmino Tomás took measures to restrain 

violence. However, a number of captured priests, businessmen 

and civil guards were summarily executed by the 

revolutionaries in Mieres and Sama. This rebellion lasted for 

two weeks until it was crushed by the army, led by General 

Eduardo López Ochoa. This operation earned López Ochoa the 

nickname "Butcher of Asturias". Another rebellion by the 

autonomous government of Catalonia, led by its president Lluís 

Companys, was also suppressed and was followed by mass 

arrests and trials.  

With this rebellion against an established political legitimate 

authority, the Socialists showed identical repudiation of 

representative institutional system that anarchists had 

practiced. The Spanish historian Salvador de Madariaga, an 

Azaña's supporter, and an exiled vocal opponent of Francisco 

Franco is the author of a sharp critical reflection against the 

participation of the left in the revolt: "The uprising of 1934 is 

unforgivable. The argument that Mr Gil Robles tried to destroy 

the Constitution to establish fascism was, at once, hypocritical 
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and false. With the rebellion of 1934, the Spanish left lost even 

the shadow of moral authority to condemn the rebellion of 

1936"   

The suspension of the land reforms that had been attempted by 

the previous government, and the failure of the Asturias 

miners' uprising, led to a more radical turn by the parties of 

the left, especially in the PSOE (Socialist Party), where the 

moderate Indalecio Prieto lost ground to Francisco Largo 

Caballero, who advocated a socialist revolution. At the same 

time, the involvement of the Centrist government party in the 

Straperlo scandal deeply weakened it, further polarising 

political differences between right and left. These differences 

became evident in the 1936 elections.  

1936 elections 

On 7 January 1936, new elections were called. Despite 

significant rivalries and disagreements, the socialists, 

Communists, and the Catalan-and-Madrid-based left-wing 

Republicans decided to work together under the name Popular 

Front. The Popular Front won the election on 16 February with 

263 MPs against 156 right-wing MPs, grouped within a 

coalition of the National Front with CEDA, Carlists, and 

Monarchists. The moderate centre parties virtually 

disappeared; between the elections, Lerroux's group fell from 

the 104 representatives it had in 1934 to just 9.  
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American historian Stanley G. Payne thinks that there was 

major electoral fraud in the process, with widespread violation 

of the laws and the constitution. In line with Payne's point of 

view, in 2017 two Spanish Scholars, Manuel Álvarez Tardío and 

Roberto Villa García published the result of a research where 

they concluded that the 1936 elections were rigged. This view 

has been criticised by Eduardo Calleja and Francisco Pérez, 

who question the charges of electoral irregularity and argue 

that the Popular Front would still have won a slight electoral 

majority even if all of the charges were true.  

In the thirty-six hours following the election, sixteen people 

were killed (mostly by police officers attempting to maintain 

order or intervene in violent clashes) and thirty-nine were 

seriously injured, while fifty churches and seventy conservative 

political centres were attacked or set ablaze. The right had 

firmly believed, at all levels, that they would win. Almost 

immediately after the results were known, a group of 

monarchists asked Robles to lead a coup but he refused. He 

did, however, ask prime ministerManuel Portela Valladares to 

declare a state of war before the revolutionary masses rushed 

into the streets. Franco also approached Valladares to propose 

the declaration of martial law and calling out of the army. This 

was not a coup attempt but more of a "police action" akin to 

Asturias, as Franco believed the post-election environment 

could become violent and was trying to quell the perceived 

leftist threat. Valladares resigned, even before a new 
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government could be formed. However, the Popular Front, 

which had proved an effective election tool, did not translate 

into a Popular Front government. Largo Caballero and other 

elements of the political left were not prepared to work with 

the republicans, although they did agree to support much of 

the proposed reforms. Manuel Azaña Díaz was called upon to 

form a government before the electoral process had come to an 

end, and he would shortly replace Zamora as president, taking 

advantage of a constitutional loophole: the Constitution 

allowed the Cortes to remove the President from office after two 

early dissolutions, and while the first (1933) dissolution had 

been partially justified because of the fulfillment of the 

Constitutional mission of the first legislature, the second one 

had been a simple bid to trigger early elections.  

The right reacted as if radical communists had taken control, 

despite the new cabinet's moderate composition; they were 

shocked by the revolutionary masses taking to the streets and 

the release of prisoners. Convinced that the left was no longer 

willing to follow the rule of law and that its vision of Spain was 

under threat, the right abandoned the parliamentary option 

and began to conspire as to how to best overthrow the 

republic, rather than taking control of it.  

This helped the development of the fascist-inspired Falange 

Española, a National party led by José Antonio Primo de 

Rivera, the son of the former dictator, Miguel Primo de Rivera. 
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Although it only received 0.7 percent of the votes in the 

election, by July 1936 the Falange had 40,000 members.  

The country rapidly descended into anarchy. Even the socialist 

Indalecio Prieto at a party rally in Cuenca, in May 1936, 

complained: "we have never seen so tragic a panorama or so 

great a collapse as in Spain at this moment. Abroad Spain is 

classified as insolvent. This is not the road to socialism or 

communism but to desperate anarchism without even the 

advantage of liberty."  

In June 1936 Miguel de Unamuno, disenchanted with the 

unfolding of the events told a reporter who published his 

statement in El Adelanto that President Manuel Azaña should 

commit suicide as a patriotic act.  

Assassinations of political leaders 

and beginning of the war 

On 12 July 1936, Lieutenant José Castillo, an important 

member of the anti-fascist military organisation Unión Militar 

Republicana Antifascista (UMRA), was shot by Falangist 

gunmen.  

In response a group of Guardia de Asalto and other leftist 

militiamen led by Civil Guard Fernando Condés, after getting 

the approval of the minister of interior to illegally arrest a list 



Rise of Totalitarianism 
 

209 

of members of parliament, went to right-wing opposition leader 

José Calvo Sotelo's house in the early hours of 13 July on a 

revenge mission. Sotelo was arrested and later shot dead in a 

police truck. His body was dropped at the entrance of one of 

the city's cemeteries. According to all later investigations, the 

perpetrator of the murder was a socialist gunman,  

Luis Cuenca, who was known as the bodyguard of PSOE leader 

Indalecio Prieto. Calvo Sotelo was one of the most prominent 

Spanish monarchists who, describing the government's actions 

as Bolshevist and anarchist, had been exhorting the army to 

intervene, declaring that Spanish soldiers would save the 

country from communism if "there are no politicians capable of 

doing so".  

Prominent rightists blamed the government for Calvo Sotelo's 

assassination. They claimed that the authorities did not 

properly investigate it and promoted those involved in the 

murder whilst censoring those who cried out about it and 

shutting down the headquarters of right-wing parties and 

arresting right-wing party members, often on "flimsy charges".  

The event is often considered the catalyst for the further 

political polarisation that ensued, the Falange and other right-

wing individuals, including Juan de la Cierva, had already 

been conspiring to launch a military coup d'état against the 

government, to be led by senior army officers.  
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When the antifascist Castillo and the anti-socialist Calvo 

Sotelo were buried on the same day in the same Madrid 

cemetery, fighting between the Police Assault Guard and 

fascist militias broke out in the surrounding streets, resulting 

in four more deaths.  

The killing of Calvo Sotelo with police involvement aroused 

suspicions and strong reactions among the government's 

opponents on the right. Although the nationalist generals were 

already planning an uprising, the event was a catalyst and a 

public justification for a coup. Stanley Payne claims that 

before these events, the idea of rebellion by army officers 

against the government had weakened; Mola had estimated 

that only 12% of officers reliably supported the coup and at 

one point considered fleeing the country for fear he was 

already compromised, and had to be convinced to remain by 

his co-conspirators. However, the kidnapping and murder of 

Sotelo transformed the "limping conspiracy" into a revolt that 

could trigger a civil war. The involvement of forces of public 

order and a lack of action against the attackers hurt public 

opinion of the government. No effective action was taken; 

Payne points to a possible veto by socialists within the 

government who shielded the killers who had been drawn from 

their ranks. The murder of a parliamentary leader by state 

police was unprecedented, and the belief that the state had 

ceased to be neutral and effective in its duties encouraged 

important sectors of the right to join the rebellion. Within 
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hours of learning of the murder and the reaction, Franco, that 

until then had not been involved in the conspiracies, changed 

his mind on rebellion and dispatched a message to Mola to 

display his firm commitment.  

Three days later (17 July), the coup d'état began more or less 

as it had been planned, with an army uprising in Spanish 

Morocco, which then spread to several regions of the country.  

The revolt was remarkably devoid of any particular ideology. 

The major goal was to put an end to anarchical disorder. 

Mola's plan for the new regime was envisioned as a "republican 

dictatorship", modelled after Salazar's Portugal and as a semi-

pluralist authoritarian regime rather than a totalitarian fascist 

dictatorship. The initial government would be an all-military 

"Directory", which would create a "strong and disciplined 

state." General Sanjurjo would be the head of this new regime, 

due to being widely liked and respected within the military, 

though his position would be a largely symbolic due to his lack 

of political talent. The 1931 Constitution would be suspended, 

replaced by a new "constituent parliament" which would be 

chosen by a new politically purged electorate, who would vote 

on the issue of republic versus monarchy. Certain liberal 

elements would remain, such as separation of church and state 

as well as freedom of religion. Agrarian issues would be solved 

by regional commissioners on the basis of smallholdings but 

collective cultivation would be permitted in some 
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circumstances. Legislation prior to February 1936 would be 

respected. Violence would be required to destroy opposition to 

the coup, though it seems Mola did not envision the mass 

atrocities and repression that would ultimately manifest during 

the civil war.  

Of particular importance to Mola was ensuring the revolt was 

at its core an Army affair, one that would not be subject to 

special interests and that the coup would make the armed 

forces the basis for the new state. However, the separation of 

church and state was forgotten once the conflict assumed the 

dimension of a war of religion, and military authorities 

increasingly deferred to the Church and to the expression of 

Catholic sentiment. However, Mola's program was vague and 

only a rough sketch, and there were disagreements among 

coupists about their vision for Spain.  

Franco's move was intended to seize power immediately, but 

his army uprising met with serious resistance, and great 

swathes of Spain, including most of the main cities, remained 

loyal to the Republic of Spain. The leaders of the coup (Franco 

was not commander-in-chief yet) did not lose heart with the 

stalemate and apparent failure of the coup. Instead, they 

initiated a slow and determined war of attrition against the 

Republican government in Madrid. As a result, an estimated 

total of half a million people would lose their lives in the war 

that followed; the number of casualties is actually disputed as 
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some have suggested as many as a million people died. Over 

the years, historians kept lowering the death figures and 

modern research concluded that 500,000 deaths were the 

correct figure.  

Civil war 

On 17 July 1936, General Franco led the Spanish Army of 

Africa from Morocco to attack the mainland, while another 

force from the north under General Emilio Mola moved south 

from Navarre. Military units were also mobilised elsewhere to 

take over government institutions. Before long the professional 

Army of Africa had much of the south and west under the 

control of the rebels. Bloody purges followed in each piece of 

captured "Nationalist" territory in order to consolidate Franco's 

future regime. Although both sides received foreign military 

aid, the help that Fascist Italy, Nazi Germany (as part of 

German involvement in the Spanish Civil War), and 

neighbouring Portugal gave the rebels was much greater and 

more effective than the assistance that the Republicans 

received from the USSR, Mexico, and volunteers of the 

International Brigades.  

While the Axis powers wholeheartedly assisted General 

Franco's military campaign, the governments of France, 

Britain, and other European powers looked the other way and 

let the Republican forces die, as the actions of the Non-
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Intervention Committee would show. Imposed in the name of 

neutrality, the international isolation of the Spanish Republic 

ended up favouring the interests of the future Axis Powers.  

The Siege of the Alcázar at Toledo early in the war was a 

turning point, with the rebels winning after a long siege. The 

Republicans managed to hold out in Madrid, despite a 

Nationalist assault in November 1936, and frustrated 

subsequent offensives against the capital at Jarama and 

Guadalajara in 1937. Soon, though, the rebels began to erode 

their territory, starving Madrid and making inroads into the 

east. The north, including the Basque country, fell in late 

1937, and the Aragon front collapsed shortly afterward. The 

bombing of Guernica was probably the most infamous event of 

the war and inspired Picasso's painting. It was used as a 

testing ground for the German Luftwaffe's Condor Legion. The 

Battle of the Ebro in July–November 1938 was the final 

desperate attempt by the Republicans to turn the tide. When 

this failed and Barcelona fell to the rebels in early 1939, it was 

clear the war was over. The remaining Republican fronts 

collapsed, and Madrid fell in March 1939.  

Economy 

The Second Spanish Republic's economy was mostly agrarian, 

and many historians call Spain during this time a "backward 

nation". Major industries of the Second Spanish Republic were 
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located in the Basque region (due to it having Europe's best 

high-grade non-phosphoric ore) and Catalonia. This greatly 

contributed to their "backwardness", as their industry was 

located away from their coal reserves which caused immense 

transportation costs due to the mountainous Spanish terrain. 

This was only made worse due to Spain's low export rate and 

heavily domestic manufacturing industry. Due to Spain's 

perceived backwardness and poverty, many in the country 

turned to extremist political parties in search of a solution.   

  



Chapter 5 

Falangism 

Falangism (Spanish: falangismo) was the political ideology of 

two political parties in Spain that were known as the Falange, 

namely first the Falange Española de las Juntas de Ofensiva 

Nacional Sindicalista (FE de las JONS) and afterwards the 

Falange Española Tradicionalista y de las Juntas de Ofensiva 

Nacional Sindicalista (FET y de las JONS). Falangism has a 

disputed relationship with fascism as some historians consider 

the Falange to be a fascist movement based on its fascist 

leanings during the early years, while others focus on its 

transformation into an authoritarian conservative movement in 

Francoist Spain.  

The original Falangist party, FE de las JONS, merged with the 

Carlists in 1937 following the Unification Decree of Francisco 

Franco, to form FET y de las JONS. This new Falange was 

meant to incorporate all Nationalist political factions, and 

became the sole political party of Francoist Spain. The merger 

was opposed by some of the original Falangists, such as 

Manuel Hedilla.  

Falangism places a strong emphasis on Catholic religious 

identity, although it has held some secular views on the 

Church's direct influence in society as it believed that the 

state should have the supreme authority over the nation. 
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Falangism emphasized the need for total authority, hierarchy 

and order in society. Like fascism, Falangism is anti-

communist, anti-democratic and anti-liberal. The Falange's 

original manifesto, the "Twenty-Six Point Manifesto", declared 

Falangism to support the unity of Spain and the elimination of 

regional separatism, the establishment of a dictatorship led by 

the Falange, using violence to regenerate Spain, and promoting 

the revival and development of the Spanish Empire, all 

attributes that it had in common with fascism. The manifesto 

also called for a national syndicalist economy, and advocated 

agrarian reform, industrial expansion, and respect for private 

property with the exception of nationalizing credit facilities to 

prevent usury. The Spanish Falange and its affiliates in 

Hispanic states across the world promoted a form of 

panhispanism known as hispanidad that advocated both 

cultural and economic union of Hispanic societies around the 

world. Falangism has attacked both the political left and the 

right as its "enemies", declaring itself to be neither left nor 

right, but a syncreticthird position. Scholarly sources 

reviewing Falangism place it on the far right.  

Components 

Nationalism and racialism 

During the Spanish Civil War, the Falange and the Carlists 

both promoted the incorporation of Portugal into Spain, and 
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the new Falange resulting from their unification in 1937 

continued to do so. The Falange also advocated the 

incorporation of Gibraltar into Spain, both prior to and after 

its merger with the Carlists. During its early years of 

existence, the Falange produced maps of Spain that included 

Portugal as a province of Spain. The Carlists stated that a 

Carlist Spain would retake Gibraltar and Portugal. After the 

civil war, some radical members of the Falange called for a 

reunification with Portugal and annexation of former Spanish 

territories in the French Pyrenees. During World War II, Franco 

in a communiqué with Germany on 26 May 1942 declared that 

Portugal should be made a part of Spain.  

Some of the Falangists in Spain had supported racialism and 

racialist policies, viewing races as both real and existing with 

differing strengths, weaknesses and accompanying cultures 

inextricably obtained with them. However, unlike other 

racialists such as the Nazis, Falangism is unconcerned about 

racial purity and does not denounce other races for being 

inferior, claiming "that every race has a particular cultural 

significance" and claiming that the intermixing of the Spanish 

race and other races has produced a "Hispanic supercaste" 

that is "ethically improved, morally robust, spiritually 

vigorous". It was less concerned about biological Spanish racial 

regeneration than it was in advocating the necessity of Spanish 

Catholic spiritual regeneration. Some have nonetheless 

promoted eugenics designed to eliminate physical and 
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psychological damage caused by pathogenic agents. Falangism 

did and still does support natality policies to stimulate 

increased fertility rate among ideal physically and morally fit 

citizens. The section in Spanish Guinea allowed Emancipados 

into its ranks. In 1938 in Santa Isabel, Fernando Póo, now 

Malabo, Equatorial Guinea, there were two units of native 

Falangists and four of Europeans. In 1959, the Female Section 

extended its teaching to Guinean women to prepare them for 

independence.  

Franco praised Spain's Visigothic heritage, saying that the 

Germanic tribe of the Visigoths gave Spaniards their "national 

love for law and order". During early years of the Falangist 

regime of Franco, the regime admired Nazi Germany and had 

Spanish archaeologists seek to demonstrate that Spaniards 

were part of the Aryan race particularly through their 

Visigothic heritage.  

The founder of the Falange Española, José Antonio Primo de 

Rivera, had little interest in addressing the "Jewish problem" 

outside areas of political issues. The Falange's position was 

influenced by the fact of the small size of the Jewish 

community in Spain at the time that did not favor the 

development of strong antisemitism. Primo de Rivera saw the 

solution to the "Jewish problem" in Spain as simple: the 

conversion of Jews to Catholicism. However, on the issue of 

perceived political tendencies amongst Jews he warned about 
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Jewish-Marxist influences over the working classes. The 

Falangist daily newspaper Arriba claimed that "the Judeo-

Masonic International is the creator of two great evils that 

have afflicted humanity: capitalism and Marxism". Primo de 

Rivera approved of attacks by Falangists on the Jewish-owned 

SEPU department stores in 1935.  

The Spanish Falange and its Hispanic affiliates have promoted 

the cultural, economic and racial unity of Hispanic peoples 

across the world in "hispanidad". It has sought to unite 

Hispanic peoples through proposals to create a commonwealth 

or federation of Spanish-speaking states headed by Spain.  

Economics 

Falangism supports a national, trans-class society while 

opposing individual-class-based societies such as bourgeois or 

proletarian societies. Falangism opposes class conflict. José 

Antonio Primo de Rivera declared that "[t]he State is founded 

on two principles—service to the united nation and the 

cooperation of classes".  

Originally, Falangism in Spain as promoted by Primo de Rivera 

advocated a "national syndicalist" economy that rejected both 

capitalism and communism. Primo de Rivera denounced 

capitalism for being an individualist economy at the hands of 

the bourgeoisie that turned workers "into a dehumanized cog 

in the machinery of bourgeois production," and denounced 
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state socialist economies for "enslaving the individual by 

handing control of production to the state."  

The Falange's original manifesto, the "Twenty-Seven Points", 

called for a social revolution to create a national syndicalist 

economy that creates national syndicates of both employees 

and employers to mutually organize and control the economic 

activity. It further advocated agrarian reform, industrial 

expansion, and respect for private property with the exception 

of nationalizing credit facilities to prevent capitalist usury. The 

manifesto also supported criminalization of strikes by 

employees and lockouts by employers as illegal acts, while 

mirroring social democratic policies in supporting state 

jurisdiction over the setting of wages.  

After the merger of the original Falange with the Carlists in 

1937 to form the new Falange (FET y de las JONS) that would 

serve as the sole political party of Francoist Spain, the result 

was a Falange intended as a "melting pot" for all of the various 

political factions on the Nationalist side of the civil war. It 

proclaimed support for "an economic middle way equidistant 

from liberal capitalism and Marxist materialism." Private 

initiative and ownership was recognized as the most effective 

means of production, but owners and managers were given the 

responsibility of advancing that production for the common 

good. At the same time, it was made clear that the economy 

would continue to rest on private property, whose protection 
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was guaranteed, while the state was envisioned as undertaking 

economic initiatives only when private enterprise failed or "the 

interests of the nation require it." In October 1937, the new 

leader of the Falange, Raimundo Fernández-Cuesta, declared 

national syndicalism to be fully compatible with capitalism, 

drawing praise from the non-falangist right.  

The Franco-era Falange supported the development of 

cooperatives such as the Mondragon Corporation because it 

bolstered the Francoist claim of the nonexistence of social 

classes in Spain during his rule. Falangism is staunchly anti-

communist. The Spanish Falange supported Spanish 

intervention during World War II against the Soviet Union in 

the name of anti-communism, resulting in Spain supporting 

the Anti-Comintern Pact and sending volunteers to join Nazi 

Germany's foreign legions on the Eastern Front to support the 

German war effort against the Soviet Union.  

Gender roles 

The Spanish Falange supported conservative ideas about 

women and supported rigid gender roles that stipulated that 

women's main duties in life were to be a loving mother and a 

submissive wife. This policy was set against that of the Second 

Spanish Republic that provided universal suffrage to women. 

Its Sección Femenina, 'Female Section' instructed women to be 

good wives and mothers, teaching domestic economy and 

cultivating the folk dances of Spain in its Coros y Danzas, 
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'Choirs and Dances' troupes. Paradoxically, the Female Section 

enabled its leaders, women such as José Antonio's sister Pilar, 

who never married, to achieve prominent public roles while 

promoting family life.  

Falangist theorists 

• José Antonio Primo de Rivera 

• Francisco Franco 

• Gabriele D'Annunzio 

• Nimio de Anquin 

• Álvaro Cunqueiro 

• Ernesto Giménez Caballero 

• Carlos Ibarguren 

• Pedro Laín Entralgo 

• Ramiro Ledesma Ramos 

• Leopoldo Lugones 

• Eugenio d'Ors 

• Leopoldo Panero 

• José María Pemán 

• Onésimo Redondo 

• Dionisio Ridruejo 

• Luis Rosales 

• Pedro Sainz Rodríguez 

• Rafael Sánchez Mazas 

• Gonzalo Torrente Ballester 

• Antonio Tovar 

• Samy Gemayel 

• Bachir Gemayel 

• Pierre Gemayel 
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